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The Development Bank of Rwanda is the country’s national 
development finance institution mandated to contribute 
to the socio-economic development of Rwanda and 
wellbeing of its citizens. Since its establishment in 1957, 
the Bank has set itself ambitious goals, has continuously 
evolved, and developed its capacity to deliver its 
mandate. To achieve this, the Bank supports the private 
sector through finance for enterprises in key economic 
sectors that are expected to deliver development impact, 
economic activity and employment, particularly in the 
fields of infrastructure, manufacturing and agriculture.

To achieve transformation through inclusive economic 
participation, the Bank finances women and youth entrepreneurs. 
To develop a conducive environment for enterprise and social 
wellbeing, the Bank provides finance for social infrastructure 
notably affordable housing, energy and health services and 
education. It also participates in development of secondary 
cities and rural communities with investments in industrial parks, 
transport services and as well as off grid renewable energy with 
a particular focus on communities that are not connected to the 
grid. The Bank offers short, medium and long term financing to 
small, medium and large enterprises at attractive rates through 
debt, equity and mezzanine instruments.
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MESSAGE 
FROM THE 
CHAIRMAN

Dearest esteemed stakeholders, 

I welcome you to this edition of the 
BRD integrated annual report 2019, 
which provides an overview of the 
bank’s business operations and 
performance during the past year. I 
am pleased to note that the bank’s 
general performance is on a recovery 
trajectory in regard to major key 
performance indicators particularly 
in compliance with prudential and 
financial requirements.

ATHANASE 
RUTABINGWA
INTERIM CHAIRMAN 
OF THE BOARD
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW

This year 2019, BRD registered notable top leadership 
changes at both Board and Management levels. The 
Chairman of the Board of Directors – Mr. Francis Mugisha – 
bade farewell to the Bank in October 2019 upon expiry of 
his term of office.

Prior to this, Francis served on various committees having 
been appointed to the Board as an independent Non-
Executive Director in March 2010. He leaves a strong legacy 
of professionalism, dedication, diligent long-service, and 
steady leadership especially during the turbulent periods.

During the same period, two Non-Executive Directors: Mr. 
Johan Debar and Ms. Antonina Kayitesi resigned from the 
Board.

On behalf of the BRD community, I extend 
our heartfelt gratitude to Francis, Johan 
and Antonina, for their honorable service 
and remarkable contribution to the 
growth of the Bank.

The Board is currently composed of six members. The 
Shareholders are committed to ensuring that the Board 
composition is adhered to the corporate governance 
requirements.

Despite these changes, I am pleased to report that the 
Board and its committees conducted their business in a 
timely manner – including holding the Annual General 
Meeting of Shareholders, Board and Committee meetings 

– all in accordance with the guiding principles stipulated 
in the Board Charter and aligned with the best corporate 
governance practices.

On 20 December 2019, we appointed Ms. Kampeta 
SAYINZOGA as the Bank’s new Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) to whom the Directors pledged unreserved support 
in her new assignment majorly focused accelerating the 
implementation of the Bank's refocused strategic direction.

On behalf of the BRD Shareholders and other stakeholders, 
I thank the outgoing CEO, Mr. Eric RUTABANA for his 
leadership and service since December 2017. During his 
tenure, he led the exercise to revise the Bank’s Strategic 

Plan 2018 – 2024, aligning it with the National Strategy for 
Transformation (NST1) and the Sustainable Development 
Goals (SDGs), as well as successfully ensuring the Bank’s 
recapitalization and turnaround.

BANK RESTRUCTURING EXERCISE

With the adoption and implementation of the 2018–2024 
strategic plan, the BRD Shareholders required an extensive 
revision of the organizational structure and development of 
a comprehensive competency framework that aligns with 
our ambitious strategic direction. With active involvement 
of the Board, this exercise was completed in November 
2019 resulting in a number of staff separating from the 
bank and other staff being redeployed to enable business 
efficiency.

I commend Management for proactively conducting this 
process to fruitful conclusion while ensuring staff remain 
focused and ensuring that the bank’s performance is not 
compromised. We also extend gratitude to the former 
staff for their contribution to the Bank while serving in their 
different roles.

To the retained staff, this is an opportune moment to utilize 
your talents, expertise and positive attitude to contribute 
to nation building by steering the bank to greater heights. 
We trust in you and commit the Board’s support in your 
endeavors.

BANK PERFORMANCE REVIEW

The year 2019 marked the completion of the second year 
after BRD embarked on implementing comprehensive 
turnaround strategies majorly anchored on a deliberate 
portfolio clean up, recapitalization and adaptation to 
the new strategic direction. We are proud to report that 
these measures have certainly placed the bank’s financial 
position on a strong recovery trajectory.

The year on year general performance of the bank indicates 
stability in consideration of the key prudential and financial 
indicators – such as our capital adequacy ratio, profitability, 
liquidity coverage ratio, and NPL rate – that have all 
significantly improved and closed above the regulatory 
thresholds during the past twelve months.
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I commend the critical role played by the staff, 
evident results of their hard work, commitment 
and resilience to ensure that the bank is steered 
onto the paths of best industry banking practices. 
This would have not been possible without the 
unwavering support and collaboration from 
our stakeholders (our shareholders, the clients, 
different partners, and the central bank).

We are optimistic that the lessons learnt and 
resilience built during the past three years when 
BRD navigated the unprecedented decline in 
performance, will serve as a springboard for 
the Bank’s efforts to chart a strong sustainable 
growth period despite the prevailing global and 
local emerging risks that directly impact the 
financial services sector.

Under the new management, our aim is to 
ensure that BRD recommits to adherence to the 
core banking principles. Particular emphasis 
on imparting accountable and transparent 
culture; enhancing doing business through 
improved customer service delivery; developing 
products and programs that meet our customers’ 
needs; and strengthening mutually beneficial 
partnerships to attract additional funds required 
to enable the Bank to meet its financing 
interventions across the key sectors to achieve 
national transformation enshrined in NST1 and 
SDGs.

Next year 2020, we will seek to consolidate the 
improved general performance of the bank and 
the Board is committed to our oversight role and 
continuous close monitoring of Management to 
ensure that the Bank abides and complies with all 
approved policies and procedures in place.

I once again extend my appreciation for the collaborative 
efforts of the bank’s stakeholders during the past year that 
culminated in successful implementation of most of our 
strategic initiatives. I welcome readers to take a deep dive 
into the analysis of the progress and current performance 
of the bank as detailed in this publication.

On behalf of the Board, Management and entire staff of 
BRD, I wish you a prosperous new year 2020.

Athanase Rutabingwa
Interim Chairman of the Board
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CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER’S 
REPORT

APPRECIATION

On behalf of management and entire staff, I 
wish to extend our sincere gratitude to all the 
stakeholders of the Development Bank of Rwanda 
(BRD) Plc for their strong collaborative efforts 
during the fiscal year 2019; and I am proud to note 
that we navigated many challenges, achieved 
significant milestones, and we are optimistic for 
the year ahead.

I am very honored by the trust and 
responsibility bestowed upon by 
the BRD Shareholders and Board of 
Directors during my appointment 
as the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 
of the bank effective December 20, 
2019. I extend my appreciation to 
my predecessor, Mr. Eric Rutabana, 
for the seamless handover process 
and his contribution to the growth 
and sustainability of the bank while 
at the helm over the past two years.

I was warmly welcomed by an incredible team 
(Management and staff); and together, we are 
excited and confident about the bank’s prospects 
for the next year and beyond.

KAMPETA SAYINZOGA 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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To all our stakeholders, I am honored to present the 
2019 integrated report that covers the financial year 
2019 – providing an in-depth review of the bank’s 
key activities implemented, challenges encountered, 
lessons learnt – and further identifies areas of focus 
for the next year 2020.

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE 
OVERVIEW

The fiscal year 2019 marked the completion of 
second year in the implementation of the seven-year 
strategic plan (2018- 2024) that details BRD’s critical 
role on funding the priority sectors of the economy 
aligned with the National Strategy for Transformation 
(NST1) and the Sustainable Development Goals 
(SDGs). Faced with bleak outlook due to the 2018 
performance, the bank demonstrated resilience 
as the general performance of the bank stabilized 
evidenced by growth in prudential and financial key 
performance indicators.

We began the year wholly focused on reengineering 
the existing portfolio while ensuring quality of 
the growing loan book; and thus, continued our 
deliberate efforts to clean up the bank’s loan book, 
strengthened risk management, enhanced fund 
mobilization efforts to finance the balance sheet, and 
rolled out digitization to improve service delivery.

These strategies led to improvement in key financial 
metrics largely due to the recovery efforts and 
close monitoring of the loan book culminating in 
considerable reduction of the NPL ratio closing at 
7.52%; and the total assets increased steadily closing 
at Frw261.4 billion.

In an effort to support private sector investments, the bank 
registered approvals amounting to Frw54.5 billion and 
disbursed an amount of Frw30.3 billion that was injected 
across the key sectors – including agriculture, energy, 
exports and manufacturing, housing and infrastructure 

– reaffirming the bank’s commitment to delivering on its 
socioeconomic development mandate.

We are grateful for the continued support from our major 
shareholder through additional capital injection as well as 
funds mobilized from our development partners (mainly 
DFIs) – to a tune of Frw 53.3 billion – which contributed to 
realization of its financing obligations during the past year.

INTERNAL RE-ORGANIZATION TO FAST-
TRACK DELIVERY OF BANK’S MANDATE

The Shareholders and Board embarked on an extensive 
internal organizational restructuring exercise aimed at 
aligning the bank’s human resources to ably implement 
its strategic plan. This culminated in the bank’s separation 
with a total of 31 staff; to whom, we extend our sincere 
appreciation for their contribution to the bank’s growth 
and sustainability during their period of service.

This process also concluded with approval of a new 
organizational structure that aligns with the streamlined 
internal business processes focused on increased human 
capital productivity and enforcing a performance-based 
culture supported by a robust institutional performance 
system based on the Balanced Scorecard approach.

To empower our workforce, we initiated a comprehensive 
interior re-design and refurbishment of the bank’s premises 
to leverage on optimal space utilization and provide an 
enabling work environment to promote staff collaboration, 
communication, flexibility and improved employee health.

This is further backed by investment in information, 
communication and technology (ICT) infrastructure 
to enhance digitization that is expected to streamline 
internal business processes and enhance knowledge 
management across the bank.
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BUILDING STRONG PARTNERSHIPS

Through our commitment to highest standards of 
corporate governance, embracing best banking practices, 
and putting in place robust institutional policies and 
procedures – BRD continues to be trusted partner to 
manage sector-specific programs on behalf of both 
government and development partners. We are proud 
of this record of accomplishment and we will continue to 
identify and attract additional support to be channeled 
to financing the priority sectors at the forefront of driving 
economic transformation of the country.

In March 2019, the Bank signed a subsidiary agreement 
with the Government of Rwanda to manage the Rwanda 
Housing Finance Project (RHFP) – a US$ 150 million World 
Bank fund – which is expected to support delivery of long-
term housing financing at affordable interest rates. This is 
particularly focused on ensuring provision of at least 6,000 
new housing loans to the middle-income category of the 
Rwandan population.

Similarly, in August 2019, BRD signed an agreement with 
MINEMA for the management of the fund – known as 
the Socio- Economic Inclusion of Refugees and Host 
Communities Project in Rwanda (Jya Mbere Project). The 
US$ 9 million World Bank fund aims to improve access to 
basic services and economic opportunities for refugees 
and host communities and support environmental 
management in the targeted areas in Rwanda.

In addition, we continued to register progress in the 
management of existing programs. In education, we 
registered notable improvements in the management of 
the student loan and bursary program through adoption 
of a robust Management Information System (MIS) that 
ensures streamlining of internal processes and efficient 
collaboration with our stakeholders. We are happy to 
report that we disbursed bursaries amounting to Frw46.4 
billion towards 28,743 beneficiaries (both local and broad 
students). To ensure sustainability of this scheme, we 
managed to make recoveries amounting to Frw2.8 billion 
(a cumulative amount of Frw9.4 billion recovered to date).

To enhance export promotion, manufacturing and agro-
processing in the country, we increased efforts in creating 
awareness of the Export Growth Fund (EGF) to increase 
uptake of the funds. This year, we supported up to 56 
projects in different sectors to a tune of Frw8.06 billion 

through the EGF various windows (the Investment catalyst 
facility, matching grant, on-lending to participating 
financial institutions). All these projects are projected to 
create 14,938 jobs.

To increase energy accessibility, the bank continued to 
undertake countrywide awareness directed towards 
increased uptake of the Renewable Energy Fund (REF) 
project funds by SACCOs and solar companies to drive 
off-grid electrification amongst the communities. The fund 
registered double growth in disbursements amounting to 

Frw1.3 billion to SACCOs in addition to offering capacity 
building support. Over 572 households (with 2,941 
beneficiaries) across the 30 districts have been provided 
with access to electricity.

HARNESSING CORPORATE SOCIAL 
INVESTMENT AND STAKEHOLDER 
ENGAGEMENT

Through a comprehensive corporate social investment 
(CSI) strategy, the Bank has overtime given due attention 
to issues of social responsibility and philanthropy, with 
a focused interest in diversity and inclusion, health and 
safety, environmental conservation, education, housing, 
welfare, jobs creation, rural-community development and 
empowerment, small businesses development, as well as 
arts and culture among others.

These strategies provide an opportunity for the Bank to 
foster stakeholder engagement and communication 
whereby through these initiatives we are able to clearly 
disseminate the bank’s business model, sensitize our 
customers about the bank’s many products and services as 
well as understanding their needs to revamp our offerings.

During the past year, we contributed over Frw 107.4 million 
through CSI activities aligned with the key thematic 
areas of our focus including supporting women, youth 
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OUTLOOK

Notwithstanding that the financial services sector operates 
in a volatile challenging environment that is prone to diverse 
risks including disruptions to global economic activities, we 
are very optimistic that BRD’s performance will continue on a 
steady upward trajectory during next year 2020.

Backing on the anticipated strong performance of the 
Rwandan economy projected to average 8.1 percent, the bank 
will continue to support private sector investments by creating 
viable project-specific pipelines and grow the loan book. 
Thanks to the improved and stable general performance of 
the bank, our focus is on diversifying our capital base through 
attracting cheaper funds in a bid to further bring down the 
lending interest rates to our clients.

In addition, the bank’s areas of focus in 2020 include:

 Ҍ Increased investment in human capital development: 
Considering that the bank carried out internal 
reorganization, we will initiate external recruitment to 
identify and attract new talents to fill gaps especially 
executive management positions to support the bank 
to meet its objectives. We are also committed to 
strengthening existing staff capabilities through enhanced 
training and development.

and advocacy groups, government social development 
programs, collaborating with conferences and events as well 
as sponsoring emerging sports among others.

We are also grateful to all our Customers that attended the 
annual End Year customer appreciation event. This was an 
opportunity for the Shareholders, Board of Directors and 
Management of BRD to reach out, interact and celebrate 
progress registered, discuss issues and future opportunities, 
enhance good relations, trust and confidence that would 
have been compromised given Bank’s sensitive period of low 
performance during the previous two years.

 Ҍ Harness digitization: having upgraded and invested 
in advanced ICT tools, our focus will be on continued 
digitization of the bank to ensure optimal utilization 
by staff and enhanced customer experience.

 Ҍ Proactively increase uptake of special funds: We 
will further engage stakeholders to create awareness 
of the various special programs available in the key 
sectors to encourage eligible beneficiaries to utilize 
these funds particularly the on-lending facilities 
through partnerships with commercial financial 
institutions. We will also continue to engage our 
development partners to expand existing programs 
as well as solicit additional funds and technical 
assistance support towards other key sectors 
including agriculture.

 Ҍ Strengthen product and program design: Through 
the advisory services and strategy functions of 
the bank, we will focus on deep-dive into sectoral 
research and product development of market-fit 
solutions (products and services) customized to the 
needs of our clients.

 Ҍ Committed to giving back to community: Our 
CSI strategy will place substantial emphasis on 
promoting Made in Rwanda, rolling out a robust 
communication plan that focuses on disseminating 
precise information to our stakeholders reflecting the 
development, socio-economic and environmental 
impact of the Bank.

 Ҍ Reinforcing a culture of transparency and 
accountability: We express our strong commitment 
to our stakeholders that we will embark on a 
deliberate process to build a trusted institution by 
cultivating a culture of transparency, accountability 
and adopting stringent measures to enforce the 
bank’s zero-tolerance to corruption.

Once again, I take this opportunity to honor all our 
stakeholders (mainly the esteemed Shareholders, 
Board of Directors, Customers, lenders, and staff) for 
the continued support as the bank strives to attain its 
strategic mandate.

I wish you all a prosperous year 2020.

Kampeta Sayinzoga 

Chief Executive Officer
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STATEMENT ON 
CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
OVERVIEW

The Development Bank of Rwanda (B.R.D) Plc 
remains committed to implementing the best 
practice standards of corporate governance as 
this is essential for the protection of the interests 
of the Bank’s shareholders and other stakeholders. 
We fully recognize that strong corporate 
governance is key to delivering shareholder value, 
hence our continued commitment to conducting 
our business in line with the highest standards of 
business integrity and professionalism.

Through the Board, the Bank has put in place 
effective systems and controls to ensure that 
the high standards of corporate governance 
are maintained at all levels and compliance with 
the National Bank of Rwanda’s Regulations on 
Corporate Governance and other guidelines, 
the Law governing Banks in Rwanda, and the 
Law Relating to Companies as modified to 
date. The Bank remains committed to effective 
risk management whilst fulfilling its mandate 
of providing financing to foster economic 
development.

The Shareholders of the Bank are constituted into 
the supreme governing body called the General 
Assembly comprising of representatives from all the 
shareholders. The Shareholders appoint the Board of 
Directors (BOD) and they meet at least once a year in 
the Annual General Meeting.

During the year 2018–2019, Agaciro Development 
Fund (Government of Rwanda (GoR) Sovereign 
Wealth Fund) took over 23,690,298 ordinary shares 
formerly owned by Government of Rwanda (GoR) 
and the National Agricultural Exports Board (NAEB).

With new authorized share capital and Agaciro 
Development Fund acquiring GoR and NAEB shares, 
the bank’s shareholding is currently as follows: 
Agaciro Development Fund [55.2%), Rwanda Social 
Security Board [41.7%], Belgium Government [1.5%], 
Agence Francaise de Développement [0.7%], Bank of 
Kigali [0.2%].

BRD PLC GOVERNANCE

BRD SHAREHOLDERS
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The Board of Directors is established in accordance 
with the Bank’s Memorandum and Articles of 
Association. Board Directors are appointed by the 
Shareholders and approved by the National Bank of 
Rwanda as per the Corporate Governance Regulation 
requirement. The Board manages the Bank on behalf 
of the Shareholders.

The Board is responsible for the overall administration 
of the affairs and business of the Bank including; 
budget/financial planning process review; risk 
management and audit processes. It sets the Bank’s 
vision, mission and values, and plays a pivotal role 
in setting up policies and procedures that reflect 
the highest standards of corporate governance. The 
Board also appoints the Chief Executive Officer and 
other top Management staff of the Bank (Executive 
team) – which ensures the overall management of 
the Bank.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS BOARD COMPOSITION

In accordance with the Bank’s Articles of Association 
and BNR Regulations, the Board of Directors should 
be composed of a minimum of 7 Non-Executive 
Directors. However, the bank currently has 6 directors 
including the interim Chairman, and with a deadline 
to have a full Board by end June 2020.

An independent Chairman chairs the Board, and 
together with other director have a wide range 
of skills, experience and the required academic 
qualifications.

Each Board Director is a member of at least three 
Board Committees – namely, Nomination and 
Remuneration, Credit, Risk, Audit, and IT Committee. 
The Board and its Committees conduct their business 
based on the Board Charter, the Bank’s Memorandum 
and Articles of Association as well as Governing laws 
and Regulations.

The following are the current serving Board Directors:

BOARD COMMITTEES

To effectively discharge its roles and responsibilities, 
the Board of Directors has delegated specific 
responsibilities to specific Committees. The Board 
of Directors has five Board Committees that play a 
pivotal role in assisting the Board in the execution 
of its mandate. Each Committee has specific terms 
of reference which have been adopted by the Board 
and form part of the Board Charter. Committees 
report to the Board on their deliberations and 

NAMES NATURE OF MEMBERSHIP

Mr. Athanase RUTABINGWA Interim Chairman & Independent Director

Ms. Agnes KANYANGEYO Non-Executive Director

Mr. Eric RWIGAMBA Non-Executive Director

Mr. Cyrille HATEGEKIMANA Non-Executive Director

Mr. Eric Kwizera GASANA Non-Executive Director

Mr. Patrick MWESIGE Non-Executive & Independent Director

recommendations through reports from the 
Committee’s Chairperson at Board meetings. All 
Committees are adequately facilitated, and each 
Board Director has access to professional services in 
order to discharge his/her duties either as a Director 
or as a Committee member. The respective Board 
committees and their objectives are indicated herein 
as follows:
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board Audit Committee reviews the 
financial conditions of the Bank, assesses 
the effectiveness of the internal audit 
and control function, monitors to ensure 
adequate ratios in accordance with the laws 
and regulations, and accordingly supports 
internal audit function in discharging their 
duties effectively. The committee is currently 
composed of four Non-Executive members 
in accordance with Corporate Governance 
requirements. The Committee meets on 
quarterly basis or as business demands.

CREDIT COMMITTEE

The Credit Committee is mainly responsible 
for reviewing and overseeing the overall 
investment management policies of the 
bank. The committee deliberates and 
considers loan applications beyond the 
discretionary limits of the Credit Risk 
Management Committee; reviews lending by 
the Credit Risk Management Committee and 
ensures that there are effective procedures 
and resources to identify and manage 
problems of irregular credits, minimize credit 
loss and maximize recoveries, among others. 
Four Non-Executive Directors comprise the 
Committee. The Credit Committee meets on 
a quarterly basis or as circumstances require.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Risk Management Committee assists 
the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities in 
managing the Bank’s Risk. The Committee 
reviews and approves principles, policies, 
strategies, processes and control 
frameworks pertaining to Risk management. 
It oversees the policies and strategies to 
ensure compliance with both internal and 
statutory requirements to protect the Bank, 
staff and assets. The Committee is currently 
comprised of three Non-Executive Directors 
and is chaired by an  Independent Director. 
The Committee meets on a quarterly basis or 
as business demands.

IT & STRATEGY COMMITTEE

The IT Committee’s role is oversight over the IT policies and strategies 
of the bank. The Committee also oversees the implementation of the 
requirements provided in the laws and regulations on cyber security, 
reviews, approves the Bank’s technology planning, strategy, and works in 
partnership with other board committees and senior management. The 
Committee is currently composed of three (3) Non-Executive Directors. 
The committee meets on a quarterly basis or as often as business demands.

NOMINATION & REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Committee’s role is to assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities 
related to governance, review and approval of guidelines for nomination 
and remuneration systems design and operation vis-à-vis the bank’s 
long-term business, legal and regulatory requirements. The Committee 
assesses and issues independent judgement on Bank’s organizational 
structure, nominations and remuneration policies, systems and incentives. 
It is currently comprised of three Non-Executive Directors. The Committee 
meets quarterly or as often as need arises.

BOARD COMMITTEES’ MEMBERSHIP

In accordance with the Corporate Governance Regulation and the Bank’s 
Board Charter, the Bank has five Board Committees, with the following 
membership:

Audit 
Committee

Risk 
Committee

IT & Strategy 
Comiitee

Credit 
Committee

Nomination & 
Remuneration 
Committee

Patrick 
Mwesige (Ag. 
Chair)

Patrick 
Mwesige 
(Chair)

Agnes 
Kanyangeyo 
(Chair)

Eric 
Rwigamba 
(Chair)

Athanase 
Rutabingwa 
(Chair)

Athanase 
Rutabingwa

Eric 
Rwigamba

Eric K. 
Gasana

Agnes 
Kanyangeyo

Cyrille 
Hategekimana

Eric Rwigamba Agnes 
Kanyangeyo

Patrick 
Mwesigye

Athanase 
Rutabingwa

Eric K.
Gasana

Cyrille 
Hategekimana

- - Eric K. 
Gasana

-

- - - CFO, CIO & 
CRO

CEO, CS & GC 
& CHCAS

Chief Officer
Finance

Chief Officer
Risk

Chief Finance 
Officer

Chief 
Investment 
Officer

Chief Human 
Capital 
& Admin 
Services

As indicated above, each Board Committee is composed of at least three 
[3] members. The Committees’ composition took into consideration the 
proper mix of skills and regulatory requirements for independent directors.
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The day-to-day Management of the Bank is the 
responsibility of the Chief Executive Officer, 
supported by the Executive Management team, 
reporting directly to him/her. The CEO is appointed 
by the Board of Directors and subject to approval by 
the National Bank of Rwanda.

There were several changes at both Board and 
Management leadership levels – with the former 
Chairman, Mr. Francis Mugisha as well as the former 
CEO Mr. Eric Rutabana – both bidding farewell to the 
bank. In addition, two executive directors resigned 
from the Board, that is, Ms. Antonina Kayitesi and Mr. 
Johan Debar.

During the same year 2019, the Bank carried out an 
organisational restructuring that saw up to 30 staff 
members leave the Bank. The Board was instrumental 
in providing oversight in conducting the bank 
restructuring process.

Lastly, the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 
was held on 24th May 2019 and conducted in 
accordance with the Bank’s Articles of association. 
More so, the annual Board and Board Committees 
meetings were held in a timely manner and their 
decisions implemented accordingly.

In terms of corporate governance, we look forward 
to next year with much fervor and commitment 
to continue demonstrating exemplary Corporate 
Governance standards. The Bank will fast-track 
the compliance with a new regulation requiring an 
increase in the independent non-executive directors 
(to abide by a ratio of 4:7 independent no-executive 
directors).

With the recent introduction of the new committee 
(Board IT Committee), Shareholders shall appoint 
a new independent non- executive director to this 
committee with substantial expertise in Information 
Technology.

Finally, in order to continue to comply with regulatory 
provisions and facilitate the Board to continue 
exercising its fiduciary duties, the Shareholders will 
embark on constituting the board as well as appoint 
new Board chairperson to replace the interim Board 
Chair.

OUTLOOKMANAGEMENT STRUCTURE

KEY HIGHLIGHTS 2019
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STRATEGY AND 
PERFORMANCE
OUR STRATEGY

Our current strategy (2018–2024) is refined from 
the previous 2016–2020 strategy following a deep-
dive analysis of the implementation, redefinition 
of objectives and targets per priority sector and 
assessment of the Bank’s risk, people and knowledge 
management. The Bank’s strategic direction reaffirms 
its mandate to support private sector development by 
ensuring relevance, responsiveness and effectiveness 
of its products and services. BRD continues to operate 
in five key priority sectors of Agriculture, Energy, 
Affordable Housing & Infrastructure, Manufacturing 
& Exports and Education where we believe the bank 
will be able to deliver maximum development impact 
and create value for all our stakeholders. The Bank’s 
business model encompasses the entire value chain 
rather than a narrow focus on financing.

In 2019, accountability for the delivery of the strategy 
is ensured with the implementation of a performance 
management tool; the Balance scorecard. This has 
proven to be a crucial tool in strategy implementation, 
as it enables the tracking of progress as well as 
challenges towards achieving our strategic goals. 
The tool is also essential in the monitoring of the 
implementation of strategic business transformation 
initiatives that are critical in unlocking potential for 
provision of financial solutions.

The Strategy is delivered through annual business plans 
with key performance indicators cascaded from the 
Corporate Balanced Scorecard. The annual business 
plans are reviewed on a quarterly basis, taking into 
account any changes in the operating environment, 
systems and processes.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

IMPROVE FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE AND 
BUILD ECONOMIC 
COMPETITIVENESS 

AND SUSTAINABILITY

 BUILD A CUSTOMER 
SATISFACTION 

CULTURE THROUGH 
RELEVANT AND 
COMPETITIVE 

PRODUCTS AND 
SERVICE DELIVERY

CONTRIBUTE TO 
ECONOMIC 

DEVELOPMENT 
(SOCIO- ECONOMIC 

IMPACT) WITH A 
FOCUS ON KEY 

GROWTH AREAS

 STRENGTHEN 
INTERNAL SYSTEMS 
AND PROCESSES TO 

ENSURE 
EFFECTIVENESS OF 

THE OPERATIONS OF 
THE BANK

IDENTIFY AND 
DEVELOP THE RIGHT 
HUMAN CAPITAL TO 
DELIVER THE BANK’S 

OBJECTIVES
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BRD’s leadership is committed to meeting the challenges of a transforming Rwanda by aligning its investment activities 
to  the National Strategy for Transformation (NST) and the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) adopted by the United 
Nations to shape the 2030 development agenda. The SDGs represent a common set of measurement criteria for ‘doing 
good’ or improving the state of society and the world, and were chosen to measure the delivery of ‘doing good’

The illustration below shows the role BRD aims to play to contribute to both the NST and SDGs objectives.

BRD’S ROLE IN 
SUPPORTING THE NST1 
AND SDGS

TARGETED
INVESTMENTS

Million

$230.9

AGRICULTURE

Increasing finance 
and infrastructure for 

agriculture

BRD'S ROLE 
PER NST

Launch a comprehensive 
agricultural financing 

program

Agro-processing 
development program

RELATED ACTION

RELATED SDG

TARGETED
INVESTMENTS

Million

$267.8

MANUFACTURING AND EXPORTS

Increasing exports of 
high value services and  

value added goods

BRD'S ROLE 
PER NST

Export the Export 
Growth Fund

Partner with the private 
sector through PPPs and  

Joint Ventures

RELATED ACTION

RELATED SDG
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TARGETED
INVESTMENTS

Million

$191.7

HOUSING

Increasing the provision 
of affordable housing

BRD'S ROLE 
PER NST

Providing housing loan 
products for SACCOs 
cooperative members

Design a developer scheme 
for low cost housing

RELATED ACTION

RELATED SDG

TARGETED
INVESTMENTS

Million

$230.9

ENERGY

Enhance Energy 
accessibility for 

rwandan households

BRD'S ROLE 
PER NST

Financing 
Off-grid 
solutions

RELATED ACTION

RELATED SDG

TARGETED
INVESTMENTS

Million

$376.9

EDUCATION

Increase financing for 
skills development

BRD'S ROLE 
PER NST

Conduct a feasibility study 
for savings scheme for 

private education finance

RELATED ACTION

RELATED SDG
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TARGETED
INVESTMENTS

Million

$142.1

INFRASTRUCTURE

Operationalize National 
Innovation Ecosystms

BRD'S ROLE 
PER NST

Leading on 
syndication for 
infrastructure 

projects

RELATED ACTION

RELATED SDG

22 ANNUAL REPORT   |   2019



ECONOMIC REVIEW

STRATEGIC 
INSIGHTS 2019

The African Development Bank (AfDB) reported that the 
Africa’s economies performed higher than the global average 
registering steady rise in growth of 3.4 percent. East Africa 
region maintained its position as the continent’s top performing 
region with an average growth estimated at 5 percent driven 
by increased investments and exports. It is notable that three 
countries in the region – Rwanda, Ethiopia, and Tanzania – are 
among the six African countries listed among the World’s top 
10 fastest-growing economies.

According to the National Institute of Statistics Rwanda (NISR), 
the country registered an average Growth Domestic Product 
(GDP) growth of about 8 percent per annum over the past two 
decades. Last year, the country recorded the highest GDP 
growth of 9.4 percent with major contribution from key sectors 
including services (49%), agriculture (24%) and industry (18%).

The continued good economic performance in 2019 is attributed 
to robust macroeconomic policies, support from development 
partners, and the domestic financial sector according to the 
National Bank of Rwanda (BNR). In addition, there is enhanced 
investor confidence in the country due to the ‘stable outlook 
(B+)’ global credit rating scores attained from the reputable 
Standard and Poors (S&P) and Fitch Ratings Inc.

During the past year 2019, several 
analysts and reputable institutions 
reported decline in the global 
economic performance largely due 
to reduction in economic activities, 
trade barriers as well as prevailing 
geopolitical tensions. Tariffs affect 
global production today more than 
before due to high interconnection 
between countries & value chain, 
and tension between USA and 
China has affected significantly 
Manufacturing Industry, with global 
trade volume reducing by 1% in the 
same year. Policy stimulus (Mon-
etary and Fiscal), low inflationary 
pressures and strong labour market 
have played a big role in offsetting 
these downsides in developed 
economies otherwise we would 
have faced a much slower growth. 
The International Monetary Fund 
(IMF) noted that the world econo-
my averaged growth of 2.9 percent 
against the 3.5 percent growth 
registered in 2018.
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STABLE PERFORMANCE OF THE BANK

ENHANCED PARTNERSHIPS AND FUND 
MOBILIZATION

In 2019, Development Bank of Rwanda (BRD) 
completed the second year in the implementation 
of its expanded and refocused strategic plan 
(2018–2024) which appropriately aligned with the 
Government of Rwanda’s National Strategy for 
Transformation (NST1), which is expected to position 
the country on the path of economic transformation 
and attain middle-income status envisioned by 2035. 
BRD continues to play critical role of funding the NST1 
with focus on increasing private sector investments 
as well as supporting public investments by ensuring 
relevance, responsiveness and effectiveness of its 
products and services.

During the period 2017/2018, the bank 
registered tremendous decline in 
performance. However, during the past 
twelve months, the bank’s performance 
generally stabilized largely underpinned on 
effective turnaround strategies (clean-up of 
its loan book, rigorous recovery strategies, 
strengthening risk management, and revision 
of bank’s policies and procedures) thus 
resulting in loan portfolio growth as well as 
improved quality of the loan book and other 
key financial ratios.

In the same context, the Bank focused on actively 
building a strong pipeline of projects while 
developing relevant products to meet the market 
needs; and upgrading internal systems and processes 
to boost delivery of services to both internal and 
external clients. In an effort to embrace digitization, 
the bank made large scale procuring and roll out of 
information, communication and technology (ICT) 
infrastructure that is expected to streamline internal 
credit processes, boost employee productivity, and 
reduce operational cost.

The bank adopted a robust institutional performance 
management system (using the Balanced Scorecard 
approach) in an effort to align the Bank’s strategic 
objectives, key performance indicators (KPIs), 
targets and key initiatives to be implemented during 
the year 2019. This performance management and 
measurement system enabled the Management and 
Board of Directors to effectively measure and track 
performance at individual and department levels 
thereby enhancing accountability and evidence-
based decision-making.

For over 52 years of its existence, BRD has consolidated 
its role as a key player in the financial services sector 
in Rwanda. The bank plays an important function as 
a catalytic financial institution that leverages on its 
balance sheet to attract private capital into the various 
strategic sectors as well as playing a de-risking role in 
nascent sectors and subsectors of the economy.

One of its core mandates is to be at the forefront 
of identifying viable investment opportunities and 
extending financial support (through debt and equity 
instruments) to increase private sector development 
but also making a trade off with risk so that the bank 
remains sustainable, spur economic growth and also 
deliver socio-economic impact.

Therefore, the Bank engages various partners and 
donors to attract the right funds to be channeled 
through the priority sectors. We are fortunate and 
grateful for the existing strong relationships with 
external lenders (mainly DFIs) anchored on enhanced 
communication and engagement to achieve our 
mutually inclusive mandates.
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FINANCING FOR EVIDENCE BASED 
DEVELOPMENT IMPACT

Through these excellent relationships, the bank 
realized Rwf53.3 billion from its resource mobilization 
efforts during the year 2019; with the average cost 
and tenor of the funds raised at 6.4 percent and 8 
years respectively. Overall, the bank’s borrowings 
(utilized to fund the loan book) increased by 13% year 
on year to close at Frw 175,568 Billion.

However, there is still a challenge on the cost of funds 
and lending rates, still considered high at average 
of 15 percent, due to a mismatch of maturities 
and the cost of raising long-term funds aligned to 
financed projects. Though the Bank managed to 
hedge against foreign currency risks, overall cost 
remains substantial and a review of funding model 
was conducted to ensure efficiency. The bank 
continues to engage development partners and 
other stakeholders to identify blended funds (low-
cost and long-term funding) and upgrading our 
business model to access innovative funding sources 
(de-risking mechanisms as well as green/climate 
financing initiatives). Precisely, we have embarked 
on Green-Climate fund accreditation process to 
prepare the institution to access concessional 
funds aligned with SDGs thematic sectors (such 
as environment, climate- resilient agriculture, and 
inclusive education).

As a development bank operating in diverse sectors 
of the Rwandan economy; it is imperative that we 
understand our key role in the financial services 
industry in the country. Therefore, understanding the 
operating environment enables us to appropriately 
measure our integrated impact on the activities 
of entrepreneurs and businesses in the private 
sector through increased socioeconomic impact as 
evidence of the bank’s contribution and commitment 
to support realization of NST1 and SDGs objectives.

Last year, BRD established a standalone 
function of the Bank Economist whose 
fundamental function is to enhance research, 
monitoring and evaluation (M&E), knowledge 
management to position the bank as 
knowledge hub by leveraging the bank’s 
extensive track-record as the leading financier 
of key sectors of the economy.

In line with its development mandate, BRD finances 
projects that generate high development impact. 
Last year, the bank approved investments amounting 
to Rwf54 billion (with Rwf30.3 billion disbursed) in 
strategic sectors. These investments are expected 
to generate outcomes and impact results in terms 
of – jobs created, exports value generated, energy 
generated and households benefiting from it, 
affordable housing units built, students financed at 
local and abroad level, infrastructure developed, 
food security. These are a few of amongst many 
other key sector-specific development impact 
indicators as identified in the institutional results-
based monitoring and evaluation framework rolled 
out this year.
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FACTSHEET: PROJECTED DEVELOPMENT IMPACT FROM 
INVESTMENTS IN KEY SECTORS BY BRD (2019)

OUTLOOK 2020

NUMBER OF JOBS 
TO BE 

SUSTAINED/CREATED

2,335
SME'S IMPACTED
545

US$9.5
MILLION

EXPORT VALUE 
GENERATED

5.5MW

NUMBER OF 
MW GENERATED

NUMBER OF HOUSEHOLDS 
BENEFITING FROM 

GENERATED ENERGY

554 
(2,853 BENEFICIARIES)

48

 CONSTRUCTED (SUPPLY)

AFFORDABLE 
HOUSING 
UNITS

20%
FINANCED 
PROJECTS 
OWNED BY
WOMEN & 
YOUTH

66% PERCENTAGE PORTFOLIO 
REGIONAL DISTRIBUTION 
(OTHER PROVINCES VS KIGALI)

Looking ahead to the year 2020, the Rwandan 
economy is forecasted to continue its upward growth 
trajectory at an average GDP growth of 8.1 percent 
with the industry and service sectors maintaining 
the largest contribution. In this context, BRD will 
continue to spur economic development and plans 
to inject Rwf73.6 billion into the key sectors.

The Bank will prioritize the following initiatives as the 
bank aims at consolidating its improved performance:

 ф Enhance product innovation and project 
design: Through the Bank economist function, 
we will undertake extensive market research and 
upgrade our current products and services to 
address the needs of our customers (on both the 
demand and supply side).

On the demand side, we aim to develop market-
centric products that will have shorter tenures 
especially trade finance facilities to help the bank 
to have a balanced portfolio. While on the supply 
side, we will strive to create innovative products 
that are appealing to lenders and attract funds to 
support to sector-specific pipeline of projects.
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 ф Diversify funding sources to bring down 
cost of funds and lending interest rates: Our 
fund mobilization efforts will majorly focus on 
leveraging on the stabilized performance of 
the bank to identify and attract funders offering 
competitive rates (affordable and long-term 
funds), technical assistance support as well as 
increase local currency financing.

In addition, we will explore alternative swaps 
pricing (hedging instruments to mitigate the 
bank’s forex risk exposure) as well as fast-track 
accreditation for eligibility to access Green/
Climate financing as well as acquire credit rating 
from an international reputable rating agency.

 ф Operationalize digital infrastructure: We 
will focus on awareness and utilization of the 
bank’s upgraded ICT tools in an effort to boost 
productivity and efficient customer service 
through rolling out the customized credit 
management system and automation of other 
internal business processes.

 ф Emphasize syndication and project co-financing: 
This will help the bank reduce its exposure, but 
at the same time mobilize and leverage on funds 
that will not be limited by the size of the bank’s 
balance sheet. Essentially, BRD will play the role 
of lead arranger in syndicated loan for major 
project financing to reduce exposure on big 
projects.

 ф Enhance advisory services: Given our expertise 
and experience around financing complex 
projects (such as in the energy sector), we will 
enhance the bank’s approach to knowledge 
management through documenting lessons 
learnt and extending advisory services to various 
partners.

 ф Improve efficient management of special funds: 
BRD continues to the preferred banking option 
to manage and roll out special funds aligned with 
the key sectors of the bank’s strategic focus. Next 
year, the bank will expedite uptake of funds under 
the special programs – including the World Bank 
funded US$150 million affordable housing fund 

(AHF) as well as the Socio-Economic Inclusion 
of Refugees and Host Communities Project in 
Rwanda (Jya Mbere Project). This is in addition 
to continued efforts to increase awareness and 
performance of the existing programs – the 
Renewable Energy Fund (REF) and the Export 
Growth Fund (EGF).

The bank will continue to engage various 
partners to identify and attract funds to support 
other key sectors mainly business opportunities 
in Agriculture such as de-risking mechanisms 
and refinancing microfinance (MFI) fund to 
deepen financial inclusion, improve livelihoods 
of smallholder farmers and ultimately spur rural 
development in the country.

In conclusion, we forecast continued improvement 
in the bank’s performance along key financial 
performance indicators during the year 2020. As 
developed countries continue to look for ways 
of boosting their economy through monetary 
policies and quantitative easing, we expect to see 
a decrease of the Libor rate, which may improve the 
funding cost in the course of the year 2020. Looking 
at implemented policies in the region, the removal 
of interest cap in Kenya, and monetary easing in 
Tanzania that are expected to boost the economic 
activities and have a ripple effect on the Rwandan 
economy from trade activities. However, the bank 
will still need to navigate a challenging business 
operating environment due to spillovers from the 
anticipated global economic decline attributed 
to post-Brexit, USA-China trade conflict, and the 
expected worldwide spread of the corona virus 
disease (Covid-19) that ravaged China end.
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OPERATIONAL 
PERFORMANCE
During the year under review, the Bank pursued business activities in line with its 
revised strategic plan 2018–2024 with a focus on the set priority sectors namely 
Agriculture; Export and Manufacturing; Energy; Housing and infrastructure and 
Education.

The Bank performed well in the terms of financing, approvals for 2019 picked 
up, amounting to FRW 54.5 Billion across all sectors of intervention, more than 
six times up from 2018 (FRW 8.2 Billion). Infrastructure and housing sector has 
the biggest share of approvals amounting to FRW 22.8Billion (41.9% of the total 
approvals) followed by Export and Manufacturing sector with an amount of FRW 
19.7Billion; Agriculture with FRW 3.7Billion; Housing 1.9 Billion and Education with 
approvals of FRW 3Billion:

BRD Plc operations 
remains at the helm 
of the development 

financing in line with 
the national economic 
development agenda 

of the country.

APPROVALS

BILLION
FRW 22.8

PROJECTED 
TAX REVENUE

(BOTH PERMANENT & 
TEMPORARY JOBS)

1,470

20

INFRASTRUCTURE 
& HOUSING

JOB CREATION

NUMBER OF 
PROJECTS

FRW 3.7
BILLION (5 YEARS)
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APPROVALS

BILLION
FRW 19.9

APPROVALS

BILLION
FRW 3.4

PROJECTED 
TAX REVENUE

PROJECTED 
TAX REVENUE

PROJECTED 
EXPORT REVENUE

PERMANENT

PERMANENT

TEMPORARY JOBS

480

169

5,669

EXPORT &
MANUFACTURING

AGRICULTURE

JOB CREATION

JOB CREATION

31NUMBER OF 
PROJECTS

7NUMBER OF 
PROJECTS

FRW 1.4
BILLION (1ST YEAR)

FRW 2.6
BILLION (1ST YEAR)

FRW 9.5
BILLION (1ST YEAR)

MFI REFINANCING
BENEFICIARIES

89 SMALL
ENTREPRENEURS
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APPROVALS

BILLION
FRW 5

SOLAR 
COMPANIES 
FINANCED

HOUSEHOLDS
2,853 BENEFICIARIES

2

47,200544

ENERGY
HOUSEHOLDS 
CONNECTED

15NUMBER OF 
PROJECTS

NUMBER 
OF SACCOs  
REFINANCED42

SOLAR HOME 
SYSTEMS TO BE SUPPLIED

APPROVALS

BILLION
FRW 3

PROJECTED NUMBER 
OF STUDENTS

PERMANENT
66

EDUCATION

JOB CREATION

1NUMBER OF 
PROJECTS

1,575
(5 YEARS)

TEMPORARY JOBS

150

The total approvals include an equity investment of FRW 
4.1Billion spread across different sectors (housing, hotel 
and microfinance). The 2019 financial year has focused on 
turning around the equity portfolio, which, historically, 
has faced challenges mainly related to poor performance 
and monitoring.

In March 2019, the Bank signed a subsidiary agreement with 
the Government of Rwanda to manage and implement 
the Rwanda Housing Finance Project funded by the 
World Bank to the tune of USD 150Million. The project 
will enable first time homeowners to access financing 
to acquire affordable homes. Through partnership with 
other Financial Institutions (PFIs), the Bank will avail the 
financing at affordable conditions. To-date, four financial 

institutions have signed Participation Agreements and 
are ready to facilitate clients to access the mortgages, 
others have also expressed interest to join the program. 
On the supply side, the Bank launched two real estate 
projects in partnership with private developers that are 
expected to deliver 2,100 units by 2021. Another project 
of 1,750 affordable houses is expected to kick-start during 
2020.

In 2016, BRD took the responsibility to manage high 
education finance program on behalf of the Government 
of Rwanda, through financing Government sponsored 
students and doing recovery from all the Rwandan who 
benefited from the Government bursary scheme since 
1980. In 2019, the Bank recovered a total amount of FRW 
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2.8billion from 6,467 foÅrmer students and disbursed 
FRW 46.4Billion to 29,047 Rwandan students locally and 
abroad.

In 2019, total disbursements reached FRW  30.2 Billion 
across all sectors of intervention, 54% of the annual 

target. Delays in loans effectiveness and fulfillment of 
the conditions’ precedent arising from the complexity 
of the approved projects are the main reasons of the 
low achievement in terms of disbursement. However, a 
big portion of the approved loans are expected to be 
disbursed in 2020.

SECTOR DISBURSEMENT 2018 (IN MILLION FRW) DISBURSEMENT 2019 (IN MILLION FRW)

Agriculture 456 934

Export & Manufacturing 3,268 9,132

Energy 851 15,827

Housing 170 820

Education - 3,011

Infrastructure & Special 
Projects

3,470 531

TOTAL 8,215 30,255

BRD LOAN PORTFOLIO

The quality of the Bank portfolio improved in 2019, 
as the non-performing loans rate decreased from 
19.3% end 2018 to 7.52% as at 31 December 2019. 
This significant improvement is mainly attributed 
to the portfolio clean up and the enhanced 
underwriting processes to mitigate unsustainable 
risks expected from an adverse credit environment, 
both of which have been the institutional focus 
for the year in review. The Bank has maintained 
a sustainable portfolio growth momentum, well 
aligned to its financial performance and impactful 
interventions within its sectors of intervention.

The Bank has institutionalized the credit risk 
governance, improved portfolio risk reporting 
and monitoring. This management approach is 
complemented by regular portfolio reviews and 
proactive actions on emerging early warning 
signals, measures that have sustained overall 
portfolio quality.

Compared to 2018, the gross loans portfolio 
decreased by 6% in 2019, closing at FRW 167.3 
billion as at 31st December 2019 from FRW 177.6 
billion. The decrease is mainly the result of 
recovery efforts where NPLs recoveries of FRW 9 
billion were achieved in 2019 and net write-offs of 
FRW 10 Billion.

Export and
Manufacturing 43.1%
Infrastructure 28.4%

Energy 13.4%

Agriculture 9.2%
Education 5.5%

Others 3.1%
Housing 0.9%

PORTFOLIO PER SECTOR 2019
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The Renewable 
Energy Fund aims to 
scale-up deployment 
of standalone 
home systems and 
renewable energy-
based mini-grids in 
Rwanda
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RENEWABLE 
ENERGY FUND

SPECIAL PROJECTS 
& PROGRAMS

 Ҍ The Renewable Energy Fund (REF) project is a US$ 48.94 million 
fund financed by the Scaling-Up Renewable Energy Program 
(SREP) – a multi-donor trust fund managed by the World Bank – to 
catalyze private resources for deployment of renewable energy.

 Ҍ The REF was signed between the International Development 
Agency (IDA) and the Government of Rwanda (GoR) with the 
objective to increase electricity access in Rwanda through off-
grid technologies and facilitate private sector participation in 
renewable off-grid electrification. Renewable Energy Fund project 
is aligned with Rwanda’s National Strategy for Transformation for 
the period 2017–2024.

 Ҍ The Development Bank of Rwanda (BRD), as the Project 
Implementing entity, manages the Renewable Energy Fund.

The Renewable Energy Fund has significant positive 
implications for socio-economic development and productivity 
growth for people and businesses in peri-urban and rural areas 
of Rwanda. The Fund is expected to facilitate the deployment 
of an estimated 445,000 off-grid connections and benefit 1.8 
million people, 52% of whom are women.

 Ҍ Targeted final beneficiaries of the Fund are Rwandan households 
and small businesses which gain access to off-grid electricity 
services through solar systems or mini-grids and whose use of 
electricity will replace consumption of diesel, kerosene, and dry 
cell batteries.

 Ҍ The Renewable Energy Fund aims to scale-up deployment of 
standalone home systems and renewable energy-based mini-grids 
in Rwanda; it was designed to address consumer affordability and 
access to finance constraints.

 Ҍ The REF provides access to local-currency financing through 
three active financing windows: (i) On-lending through SACCOs 
to households and micro-enterprises, (ii) On-lending through 
banks (commercial and microfinance) to households and small 
and medium enterprises, and (iii) Direct lending of off-grid mini-
grid developers.

ENERGY
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 Ҍ The Fund allows qualified SACCOs, commercial and 
microfinance banks to provide affordable loans to 
their customers (households, microenterprises, and 
small- and medium-enterprises) in local currency for 
the purchase of certified solar systems and facilitate 
cooperation between Rwandan financial institutions 
and private sector to ensure quality provision of off-
grid services.

 Ҍ The REF also provides necessary technical 
assistance and capacity building to BRD and 
participating financial institutions (PFIs), as well as 
other players engaged in off-grid electrification to 
ensure smooth operation of the Fund. Trainings and 
workshops were held with the SACCOs that have 
been pre-qualified, awareness visits were done to 
the off-grid areas in collaboration with the Rwanda 
Energy Group and a meeting was held with Sector 
Executive Secretaries to sensitize them on the REF 
program and its benefits.

 Ҍ All systems supported by the facility are required to 
be at least Tier 1 that provides a basic service level, 
such as lighting, radio and cell phone charging and 
meet  predetermined quality standards aligned with 
International Electro Technical Commission (IEC) 
Technical Specifications.

 Ҍ The pre-qualified Commercial banks have signed the 
Subsidiary Financing Agreements with BRD during 
the first quarter of 2018, namely Bank of Kigali, 
I&M Bank Rwanda, KCB Bank Rwanda and Access 
Bank Rwanda. Off-grid Solar Companies, SMEs and 
households are invited to approach them to get 
financing for the Off-grid systems. More commercial 
and micro-finance banks will be appraised to join 
the program and facilitate the roll out

 Ҍ The Renewable Energy Fund is expected to crowd-
in resources to scale-up electrification in Rwanda 
using off-grid renewable energy technologies, 
attracting financing from both the private sector 
and development partners, thus contributing to 
sustainable expansion of electricity services in 
Rwanda.

 Ҍ Since the REF became effective on 3rd November 
2017, Frw 1,270,500,000 (about US$ 1,363,197), 
representing 27.3 percent of the US$ 5 million 
advance received from the WB (SREP funds) in March 
2018, has been disbursed, entirely to the SACCOs. 
This equals to 2.8 percent of the total US$45.94 
million fund available for lending.

 Ҍ The REF project has an overall target of electrifying 
445,000 households in rural and peri-urban areas. 
So far only 572 households have accessed the 
solar home systems through the Window 1. Other 
windows have not been operational. For the year 
2019, the REF will bring on board more SACCOs, 
more banks will be appraised and mini grid projects 
identified.

 Ҍ In order to facilitate the implementation of the REF 
project, BRD/REF PIU will carry out an extensive 
awareness campaign in off-grid demarcated zones. 
This Awareness campaign will target the households 
and small businesses in the off-grid zones and will 
provide potential beneficiaries with the relevant 
information and benefits from the REF program, like 
health benefits and access to affordable Solar Home 
Systems and to affordable financing.

 Ҍ A Monitoring and Evaluation system will be put in 
place to monitor the impact of the project on the 
increase of access to electricity through off grid 
technologies, the increase of access to affordable 
financing and on all other aspects of the household 
lives (health, education, business generation, etc.) 
in the off-grid areas.
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RWANDA 
HOUSING FUND 
PROJECT

 Ҍ The Rwanda Housing Financing Project (RHFP) is a 
Euros 129.6 Million fund financed by the International 
Development Agency (IDA).

 Ҍ Objective  – To expand access to long-term housing 
finance for the benefit of middle-income segments 
which have limited/no access to mortgages under the 
current market conditions and support Capital Market 
development. The project serves three purposes;

 Ҍ First, access to longer-term resources renders 
mortgages more accessible to many Rwandans, who 
are unable to afford mortgage loans under current 
mortgage loan conditions. The project will, therefore, 
enable the mortgage market to develop and serve the 
currently underserved segments.

 Ҍ Second, by enabling the growth of financial and 
mortgage markets to move to underserved income 
segments and gain experience in this product, the 
project is a necessary step toward paving a path of 
reaching even lower-income segments over time.

 Ҍ Third, the project incentivizes lenders to scale up 
their housing credit activity by providing them with 
the long-term resources as it helps them reduce the 
risks arising from the maturity mismatch between their 
assets and liabilities. Greater access to long-term 
funding also contributes to greater competition in the 
mortgage market as financial service providers who 
lacked long-term funds gain access. This is particularly 
relevant for MFIs and SACCOs which are less likely 
to have long-term resources. The project also 
fosters greater financial intermediation, and through 
contributing to develop capital markets by facilitating 
the creation of a MRC, which is anticipated to have a 
positive impact on growth.

PROJECT COMPONENTS

i). Provision of Long-term Finance to expand Housing 
Finance (Euro 127 Million)

ii). Technical Assistance and Implementation Support 
(Euro 2.6million)

 Ҍ The first component is a line of credit (LoC) to the GoR 
to support the provision of housing loans by Rwandan 
financial institutions. The LoC will be implemented by 
the  BRD as the main implementing agency  which will 
administer this component on behalf of the government.

 Ҍ Financing will be provided to financial institutions to 
support the issuance of housing loans to targeted 
beneficiaries. Eligibility criteria for financial institutions 
are expected to include compliance with national 
prudential requirements, minimum capital adequacy 
ratio, maximum nonperforming loan ratio, adequate 
appraisal standards, capacity to meet project 
implementation requirements, and ability to provide 
adequate security/mortgages against housing loans.

EXPECTED IMPACT

 Ҍ The RHF project will have a powerful leverage 
effect on private sector funding. The debt and quasi 
equity funding provided under the project would be 
leveraged directly by issuance of bonds, but would 
also result indirectly in increased investment into 
housing construction and development. This additional 
influx of funds into housing investment would result in 
large scale employment creation both in housing jobs 
but also in related sectors such as household goods, 
mining/quarrying, service sector and finance.

 Ҍ The provision of long-term funding has a direct impact 
on the affordability of housing loans. The extension 
of the loan maturity from 5 to 20 years reduces the 
monthly mortgage payment almost by half, rendering 
the same mortgage accessible to more than 10 percent 
of households, which were previously unable to afford 
it. Impact of Extended Loan Maturity on Affordability 
(Simulation)

 Ҍ The project brings important economic additionally 
to the housing finance market. The project will hugely 
contribute to improve the mortgage financing in 
Rwanda. Currently, many personal loans are used for 
housing but do not provide an affordable solution given 
their short-term nature. With the support of this project 
and more efficient property registration, financial 
institutions would gradually convert these loans into 
long-term mortgage loans. In five years of operations, 
the project is expected to support the provision of at 
least 6,000 new housing loans and inject more than 
US$100 million of long-term funds into the financial 
system, helping to provide shelter to at least 24,000 
people assuming an occupancy of four people per 
household.

HOUSING AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE
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 Ҍ The Export Growth Facility (EGF) was established 
in 2015 to support export growth, domestic market 
recapturing, and improved access to finance. The 
EGF aims to facilitate businesses to access finance 
for export-related activities through loans, interest 
subsidies, grants, and credit insurance.

 Ҍ The initiative is aligned to the National Strategy for 
Transformation (NST1) which targets a 17% average 
growth of export from which 11.2% annual average 
growth for tea and coffee and 17.8% annual average 
growth of exports of services annually.

 Ҍ The BRD was selected as the Project Executing 
Agency given its unique position as the country’s 
lone Development Financing Institution (DFI) with 
adequate financial, human and systems capacity to 
manage the fund.

EXPORT 
GROWTH 
FACILITY

EXPORTS AND 
MANUFACTURING

OBJECTIVES

 Ҍ Catalyse the local financial sector by partnering with 
financing institutions on export related financing to 
their clients

 Ҍ Facilitate access to tailored export finance products 
to export-oriented firms with growth potential

 Ҍ Provide financing at affordable costs for export 
related activities

 Ҍ Improve knowledge and capacity for SME through 
technical assistance for export related businesses

EGF WINDOWS OF FINANCE

The EGF aims to support SMEs that are both active 
and those with the potential to export through three 
separate but interlinked windows namely;

Investment Catalyst Fund  – to encourage private 
sector investments through concessional credit.

PARTNERSHIPS

 Ҍ MoU between the Ministry of Trade & Industry and 
the Development Bank of Rwanda

 Ҍ Funded by MINICOM – RWF 2.5 billion contributed to 
date for interest subsidies and grants

COMMERCIAL LOAN DIRECT LENDING
 Ҍ Facilitates export-

oriented loans at 
attractive rates 
(typically around 
14% per annum)

 Ҍ Loans provided by 
Partner Financial 
Institutions

 Ҍ Funded by KfW

 Ҍ Provides interest 
subsidies of 6.5% on 
applicable markets rates 
(typically ranging from 
16% – 20% per annum) to 
successful applicants for 
export-related activities

 Ҍ Loans provided and 
administered directly by 
BRD

 Ҍ Interest subsidies funded 
by Government of 
Rwanda

 Ҍ BRD initial contribution to the Facility – RWF 500 million

 Ҍ Operationalised and managed by BRD

Financing agreement between KfW, Government of 
Rwanda and BRD.

 Ҍ KfW pledged €6 million for loans to export-oriented 
SMEs. BRD pledged RWF 500 million

 Ҍ Partnerships with five (5) locally based Commercial 
banks (Bank of Kigali, I&M Bank, BPR part of Atlas Mara, 
Equity Bank Rwanda and CogeBanque) to channel 
financing to their export-oriented clients.

 Ҍ A further €2.5 million from KfW for consultancy 
services, capacity building in BRD and Partner Financial 
Institutions, and marketing the export financing 
product.
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MATCHING GRANT

 Ҍ Supports private sector market penetration abroad

 Ҍ Assistance based on specific needs of firms looking 
to penetrate regional and international markets

 Ҍ Beneficiaries are provided with a 50% grant for 
bespoke export-focused activities up to USD 100,000

 Ҍ Grants provided and administered directly by BRD

 Ҍ Funded by Government of Rwanda

EXPORT GUARANTEE FUND

 Ҍ Intends to enhance the financial and exporting 
capabilities of recipient companies.

 Ҍ Short-term pre-shipment and post-shipment credit and 
export performance guarantees through participating 
financial institutions

INVESTMENT 
CATALYST FUND

MATCHING 
GRANT FACILITY

EXPORT CREDIT
GUARANTEE FUND

 Ҍ Affordable to start ups and 
established firms already 
exprting or seeking to export

 Ҍ Export targets (40%+)

 Ҍ Credit limit of RWF 900 
million/EUR 1 million

 Ҍ Available for new investment, 
expansion and restructuring.

 Ҍ Available to existing SMEs in 
export

 Ҍ Grants are limited to USD 
100,000 per project

 Ҍ Exporter contribution of 50% 
of project's total value

 Ҍ Focused on costs related 
to: certification, barcoding, 
labelling, packaging, branding, 
trade missions and trade fairs

 Ҍ Pre-shipment credit or export 
production guarantees of 270 
days

 Ҍ Post-shipment credit 
guarantee of 60 days

 Ҍ Export performance 
guarantee of 270 days

 Ҍ 75% – 80% guarantee

 Ҍ Guarantee limit of USD 1 
million per shipment

TARGETED BENEFICIARY

All enterprises in the export sector or with the intention to export. A major focus on small to medium export oriented 
enterprises. These could also be significant players on a particular export value chain.

Eligibility for each of the EGF windows

EGF  WINDOW VALUE OF 
FACILITY (RWF)

SUB SECTORS PROJECTED IMPACT ACHIEVED IMPACT

Direct-Lending 
Investment Catalyst
Fund

3.6Bn (18 loans) agro-processing, 
coffee, and textiles

 Ҍ generation USD 
9,923,940 of 
exports

 Ҍ 3,062 jobs

 Ҍ Facilitation of 
RWF 13 billion 
of investment

On-Lending 
Investment Catalyst
Fund

5.2Bn (5 PFIs) tea, coffee, horticulture, 
textiles

Matching Grant 700M (12 grants) agro-processing, 
horticulture, textiles

 Ҍ Facilitating 
RWF 1.7 billion 
investment by 
Rwandan firms

IMPACT

Since the establishment of EGF in September 2015 up to December 2018, a total of 30 projects in different sectors namely 
coffee, tea, horticulture, textiles and agro-processing among others benefited from EGF.
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PFIs and BRD are also working closely with KfW and consultants 
– Carnegie Consult to improve various avenues of the scheme; 
Marketing and awareness, and Environmental and Social 
Management Systems (ESMS). Training has been provided by 
Carnegie Consult to BRD and PFIs on export finance, contact 
negotiations, contract law, and ESMS, and this will continue in 
2019.

Three formal trainings were held in 2018. Training was provided 
to 20 staff across four PFIs and BRD on export finance, a short, 
half-day ESMS training was held with BRD and four PFIs, with a 
further three days of ESMS training later in the year for some 15 
participants and another four days of training were provided to 
25 participants on international contracting and negotiations. 
Additionally, an offering remote support for any export finance 
issues encountered on the job is offered to PFIs and BRD.

A total of 30 projects 
in different sectors 
namely coffee, tea, 
horticulture, textiles 
and agro-processing 
among others 
benefited from EGF
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In September 2015, BRD entered into an agreement with the 
Ministry of Education to undertake the key functions of the 
efficient management of disbursements and recoveries of 
student loans. Subsequently, the Bank established a stand-
alone Education Portfolio Financing Department dedicated 
to ensuring improvements in disbursements, increasing 
recoveries from beneficiaries and rolling out new products 
innovations to fast-track the impact and sustainability of the 
scheme.

The Bank has achieved significant strides since 2016 largely 
attributed to the consistent stakeholder support – mainly 
from key partners such as Ministry of Finance and Economic 
Planning (MINECOFIN), Rwanda Social Security Board (RSSB), 
Rwanda Education Board (REB), University of Rwanda (UR) – 
as well as the students’ population and entire community of 
employers in both public and private sectors.

CHALLENGES ENCOUNTERED AT THE 
BEGINNING

In 2016, BRD took the responsibility to manage high 
education finance program on behalf of the Government of 
Rwanda, through financing Government sponsored students 
and doing recovery from all the Rwandan who benefited 
from the Government bursary scheme since 1980.

The year 2016 was a challenging beginning for the Bank 
considering that disbursements to more than 28,000 
students were being conducted manually using MS Excel lists 
submitted by the Higher Education Council (HEC) and the 
Higher Learning Institutions (HLIs). This presented numerous 
challenges in ensuring that they are reviewed on case by 
case basis and a compiling a single consolidated list to be 
formatted and customized to meet requirements for Central 
Bank system payments. This exercise took on average 2 
to 3 weeks for the payment to student beneficiaries to be 
completed.

In addition, since its mandatory for students to sign 
contracts with the Bank; it was necessary that staff had to 
move around collecting signed hard copies as well as verify 
the information provided by each individual beneficiary. 
Another challenge was that most students were not well 
informed of the importance of signing contracts, had no 
bank accounts and thus provided accounts of other people, 
and also incidences of wrong IDs provided.

IMPACT OF BRD’S 
STUDENT LOAN 
MANAGEMENT 2016 – 2019

EDUCATION For recovery, there was no information of where to find 
beneficiaries who completed studies in the past years. This 
presented logistical challenges especially availing sufficient 
means of transport to enable the Bank staff to move around 
the country requesting beneficiaries to disclose. More so, 
many different institutions were wrongly billing staff which 
raised many claims. Meanwhile, many stakeholders did not 
know that BRD had been assigned the responsibility of 
managing the scheme.

ENHANCING EFFICIENCY IN 
DISBURSEMENTS AND FOSTERING 
RECOVERIES TO ENSURE SUSTAINABILITY

BRD continues to register strong improvements in the 
management of disbursements, recovery and identification 
of beneficiaries largely attributed to the successfully 
implementation of a robust management information 
system (MIS) that streamlined our internal processes and 
enhanced collaboration with our stakeholders.

The bank embarked on implementing several strategies 
to improve efficiency especially with focus on – rolling 
a robust education financing management information 
system (EFMIS) – that has optimal functionality and supports 
integration with other key stakeholder’s systems for timely 
access to accurate data. The contracts are automatically 
generated in the system after validation of students and 
referees’ IDs as well as supports archiving.

This system has enabled reduction in turnaround time 
(now takes on average 2 to 3 days) for disbursements of 
funds to student beneficiaries studying both locally and 
abroad. Also, since all disbursement-related activities 
are undertaken through the system which has led to 
cost-reduction and environmental conservation due to 
reduction in paperwork.
Over the past four years, BRD has registered loan recoveries 
amounting to about Rwf10 billion which is equivalent to 
the cumulative amounts collected during the previous 
years when the scheme was managed under previous 
institutions.

Although these are commendable strides, the Bank has 
prioritized efforts to identify and bill individuals that 
benefitted from the scheme to facilitate in enforcing 
mandatory deductions in close collaboration with 
employers. This is enhanced by the ongoing public 
sensitization campaigns across the country to ensure that 
more former beneficiaries repay and increase recovered 
amounts which are essential in the sustainability of the 
scheme to support future generations.
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PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

During the past year 2019, the Bank recovered a total amount of FRW 2.8billion 
from 6,467 former students and disbursed FRW 46.4Billion to 29,047 Rwandan 
students locally and abroad.

However, a deeper analysis indicates that there have been significant 
milestones registered since BRD took up the management of the student 
loans and bursary scheme in consideration of the cumulative performance of 
the key performance indicators.

2016 2017 2018 2019 TOTAL

RWF RWF RWF RWF RWF

Total amount of stu-
dent loans disbursed 
(billions Rwandan 
francs)

35.2 bn 32.9 bn 49 bn 46.4 bn 163.5 bn

Total amount student 
loans recovered (bil-
lions Rwandan francs)

1.5 bn 2.2 bn 2.84 bn 2.85 bn 9.39 bn

Number of student 
loan beneficiaries 
(both LOCAL and 
ABROAD)

27,630 28,320 28,138 29,047 113,135

Over the past four years, BRD has contributed to efficient disbursement of 
student loans and bursaries amounting to Rwf163.5 billion which enabled 
new beneficiaries totaling 113,135 to be able to study both from home and 
abroad. In the same period under review, the Bank recovered an amount 
equivalent to Rwf9.4 billion as repayments from different beneficiaries who 
are currently in employment.

OUTLOOK

As we consolidate achievements registered thus far, BRD is 
committed to continuously adopt new strategies for sustained 
performance of the scheme. For instance, the MIS system continues 
to be enhanced to enable advanced functionalities such as whereby 
any partner can access it through the different devices (web and 
mobile platforms). In addition, we are working to ensure that more 
beneficiaries can be able to provide their information through the 
system (particularly former beneficiaries wishing to repay shall be 
able to make declarations through the system).

More so, the Bank is closely working with other stakeholders in the education 
sector (mainly HEC, REB, UR and campuses) to fast-track system integration 
as well as with other strategic partners (mainly NIDA and RRA) to support the 
student loans recovery efforts. Additionally, the Bank continues to strengthen 
collaboration with representatives of different institutions to leverage on 
combined efforts for optimal performance of the program.

As the Bank works towards enforcing 
the law on students’ loans and bursaries, 
strong emphasis has been placed on 
increased communication awareness 
targeting the key stakeholders. 
Particularly, the Bank will support efforts 
to equip students (especially those 
joining university from secondary school 
who are usually first-time bank account 
owners) with financial literacy skills to 
facilitate in reduction of errors during 
contract signature.

To ensure that we strengthen 
engagement with student beneficiaries 
studying abroad, the Bank has embarked 
on establishing strong links with the 
Rwandan diaspora community through 
the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.
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The review of the Bank’s 
financial performance for the 
52 weeks ended 31st December 
2019 focuses on the key 
elements of the statement of 
comprehensive income and 
the statement of financial 
position which management 
considers material to the Bank’s 
performance over the year.

F INANCIAL   
PERFORMANCE

Interest 
Income 
increased 
by 5%

41ANNUAL REPORT   |   2019



We achieved a year of stronger operating performance. Interest Income 

increased by 5% Year on Year. Our concerted efforts to maintain the quality 

of the loan book by avoiding the migration of the performing loans to Non-

performing Loans as well improved strategies to recover the written off book 

yielded faster productivity gains, containing expense growth and improving 

the cost-income ratio by 29%. As a result, the loss for the Bank reduced by 

more than 100% compared to the previous year.

The performance was particularly 
satisfactory because the operating 
environment was challenging. Unlike 
the previous year, this year was 
characterized by writing off big 
facilities to a tune of more than Frw 
10B which explains the flat movement 
in the loan book despite the new loans 
booked during the Year.

The performance has mainly been 
driven by the recovery efforts on 
the written off book and stopping 
migration of good loans to bad loans 
which has made the Net impairment 
charge on loans and advances to 
significantly reduce by 31% compared 
to the previous year.

The  close  monitoring of our 
customers has resulted  into 
significant improvements of 
the Bank’s Non performing 
ratio that has dropped from 
19.34% to 7.52%.

The Bank has continued to capitalize 
on the investment in technology made 
in the previous years by stabilizing the 
implemented systems and overcoming 
post implementation challenges. This 
has improved efficiency in how the 
Bank serves its customers in various 
ways.

We had adequate liquidity to support 
growth as a result of continuous 
partnerships with lenders and other 
key stakeholders. The Borrowings and 

Special funds increased by 45% during 
the year compared to the same period 
last year. The above has made the Bank 
build its confidence in getting new 
deals that will materialize in the year 
2020.

The support from the shareholders has 
continued to be very key during the 
year as the authorized share capital 
increased by 9% as a result of the 
additional capitalization plan of Frw 
35B over the next 7 fiscal years on top 
of the USD 48M committed by the 
Government in 2018. This has the made 
the Bank’s ability to lend increase from 
a Capital adequacy ratio of 17.93% last 
year to 19.03% this year.

The ongoing efforts of recapitalizing 
the Bank to have a strong capital base 
will enable it to attract more resources 
required for implementation of the 
newly adopted strategic plan that is 
aligned to the Government NST1.

Cost control and operating efficiency 
are key to gross profit margin 
stability and continued sustainable 
improvement in our profitability. We 
are confident in our ability to become 
even more cost-effective over the 
coming year.

We thank our shareholders and funders 
for their support, both locally and 
internationally, and for their continued 
support in making BRD a stronger and 
resilient bank.

OUTLOOK

The coming year is likely to continue 
to be challenging. Geopolitical 
uncertainty and policy direction as a 
result of the recent COVID 19 crisis will 
have a bearing on Rwanda's economic 
growth. At the same time, although 
we have started seeing signs of stress 
in our portfolio in sectors like exports 
and manufacturing, we remain vigilant 
on asset quality by being proactive 
in finding various ways to support 
our clients with the support of the 
regulator.

We have strong foundations to meet 
the challenges. The financial discipline 
we exercised over the years, buffers for 
capital through expected injections, 
liquidity, review of the risk framework 
has ensured that our balance sheet 
remains resilient. We have continued 
momentum in a broad range of 
businesses by diversifying across all 
the sectors of the economy.
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The Development Bank of Rwanda’s anticipation and response 
to risks and opportunities is an integral part of achieving its 
strategic mandate and ensuring that it delivers on it. BRD’s 
Board of Directors is responsible for the effective management 
of risks and reviews and approves on a regular basis the Risk 
Management Framework covering Credit, Market, balance sheet 
Operational and Compliance used to manage risk exposures of 
the bank. This is to ensure that BRD pro-actively manages the 
risks inherent in its strategy, operations and business, and that 
the management of risks is embedded into the mainstream 
planning, business and decision-making processes.

To execute the risk management 
process, the following risk 
management infrastructure is in 
place: Board of Directors, Board Risk 
Committees, Risk Management group, 
formalized policies and procedures 
that clearly define and communicate 
the risk management process and 
appetite, consistent risk measurement 
methodologies, comprehensive risk 
management reports and information 
technology to satisfy risk information 
needs throughout the BRD.

The Risk Management Group consists of 
different management committees that 
report to the Chief Executive Officer. 
These committees are the Credit Risk 
Management Committee and the Asset 
and Liability Committee (ALCO). The 
Risk Management Group is supported 
by the Division of Risk, the Division of 
Finance, and Internal Audit.

During the year 2019, BRD’s risks were 
managed in different risk categories 
under the different risk management 
functions of the Division of Risk 
Management of the Bank.

RISK   MANAGEMENT 
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Credit risk refers to the risk or a 
potential for loss if a borrower or a 
counterparty to a transaction fails 
to meet its obligations on agreed 
terms and conditions of financial 
contracts. Credit risk is among the 
main risks that BRD was faced with.

The Credit Risk Management Unit 
aims at minimizing risks involved in 
projects to be financed or already 
financed by finding mitigation 
measures in order to have a healthy 
portfolio.

In 2019, the Credit Risk Unit 
assessed 53 Investment files worth 
Frw 41,433,485,372

Considering the ongoing 
awareness created around the 
Export Growth Fund, 11 files 
were submitted and reviewed 
by risk, worth Frw 332,622,731.

The Credit Risk Management team 
benefited trainings to empower 
them in various areas of the Bank’s 
intervention, such as EGF financing, 
project finance appraisal process 
and had the honor to attend and 
participate in the “Forum for Risk 
Management Professional in African 
DFIs.”

The Credit Risk Management Unit 
had also the role of reporting to 
the Board Risk Committee the 
Bank’s portfolio to prevent undue 
concentration by maintaining a 
diversified and healthy portfolio. 
In 2019, quarterly reports were 
produced and presented to the 
Management and Board Risk 
Committees.

EFFECTIVE CREDIT RISK 
MANAGEMENT

1.

Market risk is the potential for loss 
resulting from adverse movement 
in market risk factors such as 
interest rates, foreign exchange 
rates and equity prices for BRD.

In 2019, BRD was exposed to 
market risk given the volatile 
uncertain interest and exchange 
rates.

The general principle of BRD to 
mitigate the currency risk is always 
to match the currency profile of 
the Bank’s net assets denominated 
in the same currencies so that the 
fluctuations in market exchange 
rates would have a perfectly off-
setting effects.

On interest rate risk, the primary 
strategy for the management of 
interest rate risk is to match the 
interest rate sensitivity of both 
sides of the balance sheet. More 
specifically group of assets are 
funded with liabilities having the 
same characteristics in terms of 
interest rate (fixed or floating), 
currency and maturity. This creates 
a natural offsetting mechanism to 
immunize the balance sheet.

For any residual market 
loss, the Bank sets a 
maximum allowable 
exposure as a portion of 
expected income.

In addition to the above strategies, 
the bank makes efforts to mobilize 
funds in the local currency.

In order, also to reduce the 
sensitivity of the Bank’s returns to 
changes in market rates, BRD also 
uses swaps instruments optimally.

EFFECTIVE MARKET 
RISK MANAGEMENT

2. LIQUIDITY RISK 
MANAGMENT

3.

Liquidity risk is the current or 
prospective risk to earnings and 
capital arising from a bank’s 
inability to meet its liabilities when 
they fall due without incurring 
unacceptable losses.

The Bank’s liquidity has improved 
year to year during the year 2019.

The Bank holds in the form of liquid 
assets a certain percentage of the 
expected disbursements and other 
outflows.

The above improvement in 
liquidity is also an effect of an 
injection of additional capital from 
the Shareholders.

COMPLIANCE RISK 
MANAGEMENT

4.

Sustainable performance can only 
be achieved through disciplined 
risk management. Adherence and 
compliance to the Bank policies is 
the responsibility of all employees. 
In this framework, the Bank requires 
its employees to adhere to high 
standards and to stringently 
maintain the regulations on matters 
of compliance. It is the policy of 
the Bank to take appropriate steps 
to deter individuals & companies 
engaged in money laundering, 
terror financing, fraud, tax offences, 
or other financial crimes, from 
accessing bank’s products and 
services.

During the year 2019, the BRD 
minimized compliance risks by 
training staff on emerging money 
laundering and financing terrorism, 
ensuring that activities of the Bank 
are conducted in accordance with 
all regulations, codes of conduct 
and standards of good practice. 
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ENVIRONMENTAL RISK 
CATEGORIES  FOR 
FINANCED PROJECTS

PROJECT MONITORING

Projects were visited on a regular basis 
in 2019 and no incident was reported.

BRD YEAR 2020 RISK 
MANAGEMENT OUTLOOK

During the year 2020, BRD will keep 
strengthening its risk management 
function and has taken the following 
strategic risk management initiatives:

 Ҍ Aligning Risk Appetite and 
Strategy

 Ҍ Enhancing the Risk Management 
Function

 Ҍ Managing Operational Risk Losses
 Ҍ Building a Risk Culture

BRD recognizes a possibility that 
unforeseen opportunities or threats 
may hinder BRD’s strategy ineffective 
or uncompetitive or that events or 
circumstances may occur which could 
hinder the ability of BRD to implement 
its strategy and successfully deliver on 
its strategic mandate   hence creating a 
strategic risk.

EFFECTIVE OPERATIONAL 
RISK MANAGEMENT

5.

BRD is appropriately managing 
potential risks that may arise from 
external factors, system failures and 
internal operations, and is effectively 
implementing Operational Risk 
Management framework through 
identification, assessment, control 
and monitoring of risks related to 
inadequate or failed processes, 
systems, people and external events.

Based on the assessment of major 
operational risks to which the 
Bank was exposed to, The Risk 
Division continued monitoring and 
reporting the progress realized in 
the mitigation of identified risks 
through regular reports presented 
to both the Management and the 
Risk Committee of the Board on 
a quarterly basis. These reports 
emphasized on a detailed 
presentation of the Bank’s risk 
profile, with a focus to the key risks 
to which the Bank was exposed 
to with corresponding mitigation 
measures.

The international standard of “Risk 
Control and Self-Assessment” 
continued to be enhanced during 
2019 in order to improve the 
risk assessment method. The 
implementation of the method 
makes it possible to identify and 

SOCIAL AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 
MANAGEMENT

6.

Project Financing

BRD finances socially and 
environmentally friendly projects, 
and work with clients to avoid 
or minimize negative social and 
environmental impacts of projects.

In 2019, the projects that have 
been financed by BRD were 
assessed and classified into three 
categories:

High Risk, Medium Risk and Low 
Risk.
risk owner to make it clear who 
is responsible for what risk 
and enhance the operational 
monitoring scheme even further.

BRD financed 18% investment 
projects under the low risk 
category. These mainly include 
EGF Grant financed projects for 
Export.

BRD financed 43% projects Under 
the medium risk category, these 
are small to medium scale projects, 
that mainly include Renewable 
Energy as well as Public Facilities 
projects such as transport funded 
projects.

39% of the investment projects 
have been classified high risk 
category and these include 
mining, hydropower & heavy 
infrastructure projects such as 
Hotels, commercial buildings that 
house more than 100 people in 
a given day such as schools, as 
well as agricultural Mechanization 
projects.

The team ensured conformity 
to internal policies, and with the 
highest ethical standards and by 
making sure that at the minimum, 
all activities and operations are 
governed by policy.

The Bank has no appetite for 
breaches in laws, regulations, 
directives and internal policies. 
While recognizing that non-
compliance cannot be entirely 
avoided, the Bank strives to reduce 
this to an absolute minimum.

assign a risk owner to make it 
clear who is responsible for what 
risk and enhance the operational 
monitoring scheme even further.

The following graph shows the 
distribution of the projects financed.
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HUMAN CAPITAL & 
CORPORATE SERVICES 
SUPPORT

The Development Bank 
of Rwanda is an employer 
of choice, one that 
attracts and retains high 
performers in the industry. 
The Bank prides itself 
providing an environment 
of professionalism, 
inclusiveness and 
supportive to its employees.

The Division of Human Capital 
& Corporate Services provides 
support to the Bank Leadership, 
departmental functions and 
entire workforce to achieve 
strategic goals and objectives 
of the Bank. The division 
spearheads the development 
and implementation of Human 
Capital strategies, policies, 
processes and practices 
focusing on attracting, 
growing, empowering and 
retaining staff to reach their full 
potential seeking to provide 
the competencies required 
to deliver against the BRD’s 
mandate. The Division further 
coordinates corporate services 
for cost efficient, timely and 
quality delivery of services.

The Development Bank of Rwanda applies a Target Operating Model/
Framework that articulates the core banking processes as well as key enabling 
functions upon which the organizational structure was derived. The Bank has 
a simple (Vertical) organizational structure, with the General Assembly (at the 
top), which is the Board of Directors followed by Management headed by the 
Chief Executive Officer. The structure is organized in a way that it defines the 
Bank’s activities with clear business processes. These are based on priority 
sectors, allocation of resources, coordination and supervision of activities. 
The organizational structure is sub divided into 10 functions including;

1. The office of the CEO (CEO, PR and Communications Unit).
2. Internal Audit
3. Company Secretary and General Counsel
4. Division of Operations
5. Division of Finance
6. Department of Strategy, Research, M&E & Resource Mobilization
7. Department of Human Capital and Corporate Services
8. Department of Risk and Compliance
9. Department of Information Technology

10. Department of Education Portfolio Management

For BRD to achieve its objectives, promote transparency and accountability, 
it works through committees. The following committees have been 
instrumental in ensuring service delivery.

a). Executive Committee (Exco).

b). Senior Management Committee.

c). Credit Committee.

d). Asset Management and Liability Committee (ALCO).

e). Audit Committee.

f). Procurement Committee.

g). Staff Loans & Advances Committee.

h). Asset Disposal Committee.

i). Disciplinary Committee.

ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE 
AND HUMAN RESOURCE STRATEGY
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BRD HR STRATEGY MAP (2018 - 2022)

1. High Performance Culture and Accountability 2. An Enabling Work Environment.

1.1 An Organizational Culture 
aligned with BRD’s 
Corporate strategy

1.2 Strategic development of skills 
and Knowledge to contribute to 
the transformation of the Bank

2.1 Strengthened HR Policies, 
Systems, Procedures, Processes 
and Practices

2.2 A safe, healthy as well as an 
enabling Workplace 
Environment

1.1.1 Update the BRD 
Organizational Structure

1.1.2 Develop a change 
Management Strategy 
and Implementation Plan.

1.1.3 Develop a Corporate 
Values and Culture 
Manual

1.1.4 Initiate and sign strategic 
Partnerships & Twinning 
arrangements with 
reputable and relevant 
institutions

1.2.1 Develop an elaborate 
Staff Competency 
Framework.

1.2.2 Develop a career Path 
Framework (Horizontal 
and Verticle)

1.2.3 Conduct a comprehen-
sive skills audit informed 
by the competency 
Framework

1.2.4 Update and implement 
the BRD Training & 
Development Plan 
(2019 – 2022)

1.2.5 Develop a BRD Employee 
Handbook

2.2.1 Prepare an assessment 
report that captures 
information on the 
physical office workplace 
environment

2.2.2 Based on the assessment 
report

2.2.2.1 (Where necessary) make 
structural adjustments 
(open/closed)

2.2.2.2 (Where necessary) 
provide adequate and 
appropriate/suitable 
work related furniture

2.2.3 Offer extensive work-life 
balance programs

2.1.1 Review and update the 
HR Policy

2.1.2 Put in place a clear and 
elaborate Recruitment 
procedure that has 
incorporated use of 
digital tools

2.1.3 Establish Succession 
planning (short and long 
term) in place and 
implemented

2.1.4 Update the Performance 
Management System to 
ensure that it is robust, 
objective and transparent

2.1.5 Put in place standards for 
all Bank Operations – 
SLAs (service Level 
Agreements)

2.1.6 Review and update the 
Salary Policy and 
structure

2.1.7 Review and update the 
Salary Policy and 
structure

2.1.8 Conduct an annual 
Employee Survey

HR MISSION

HR OUTCOMES

HR STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVES

HR STRATEGIC
ACTIONS

A DFI that attracts, grows and empowers staff to reach their full potential for innovative and sustainable impactful results.

To have an accountable competent workforce and a working environment where staff are the best they can be, feel valued, 
respected, empowered to be motivated, innovative and deliver on the strategic agenda of the Bank.

Over the years for the Bank to achieve its objectives, it has 
attracted the best employees for it to be able to execute its 
mandate.  The staff head count reduced from 131 in 2018 to 
124 employees in 2019 as a result of the Bank restructuring 
and re-organisation.

The Board and Management embarked on the human 
capital restructuring exercise to ensure alignment of the 
Bank’s human capital and skills and those required to 
successfully implement newly adopted Strategic Plan 
2018–2024.

In recent years, BRD has intentionally increased its efforts 
to advance women in the workplace. As at December 
31, 2019 distribution was at a ratio of 1.1:1 and includes 
employees with short-term contracts. The percentage of 
women in the Management level stood at 28% at the end 
of 2019 compared to 32.3% in 2018. At the level of the Bank, 
the target has been exceeded by far at a ratio of 1.1:1. (Male 
69: Female 62).

In general, the Management of BRD remained conscious 
(sensitive) on the issue of gender inequality and maintained 
the balance as a factor not to discriminate but to empower 
women.

RECRUITMENT, RETENTION 
AND TURNOVER GENDER EQUITY
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The Bank prioritizes human resources development as an 
important mechanism to stimulate positive behavior in 
employees, improve their skills, knowledge and attitudes, 
which improves performance and increases productivity.
The department of Human Resources works with the rest 
of the functions of the Bank to develop plans and provide 
administrative support functions related to education, 
training and development, career development, performance 
development, organizational development as a business 
and strategic partner in the effective implementation of the 
Bank’s strategy.

It should be noted that in 2019, each employee of BRD at 
least received on average 36.4 training person-hours and this 
is more than 50% above the target of 24 hours per employee.

A fair, transparent and sustainable approach to employee 
remuneration is one of crucial importance to the bank. 
As part of Strategy 2024, management introduced a new 
compensation framework in 2019, which aimed at promoting 
and rewarding sustainable performance and contributions at 
all levels of the organization.

In 2019, staff and other personnel costs saw an increase of 
14% compared to 2018. These costs in 2019 were 64% of 
the Organization’s total expenses compared to 72.11%. The 
increase is a result of the 25 voluntary exists due to the 
restructuring and re-organization of the Bank.

In addition to compensation, the offered several benefits 
focused on financial protection, work life balance and health 
to support our employees’ professional and personal life. 
For instance, the Bank offers pension plans, complementing 
social security and individual savings (Provident Fund).

The health and safety of both the employees and customers 
is of paramount importance to the management of the Bank 
and is ensured through regular monitoring of compliance to 
the health and safety standards and essential investments in 
upgrading systems and processes.

Like in the previous years, in 2019, BRD made improvements 
to its safety program, focusing on technology and resources 
required for the planning and implementation of appropriate 
measures. This has been done in close cooperation with the 
concerned office internally and externally. Internally several 
drills carried out with intention of creating awareness and 
externally the Bank implemented all required regulation such 
as regular checking and maintenance firefighting equipment. 
All this attested to the positive state of the Bank’s occupational 
safety and health offering in 2019 as no health and safety issues 
were recorded.

The Bank also contributed to health insurance including 
preventive medical examinations, which covered almost all 
illnesses under RAMA.

Effective performance management is critical to helping 
employees perform at their optimal levels. A key foundation 
is that employees understand their role, duties and how they 
contribute to the broader objectives of the Bank. In 2018, the 
Management of the Bank approved the balanced scorecard 
approach of performance management to be used to 
monitor performance and this was implemented in 2019.

TRAINING AND 
DEVELOPMENT

REMUNERATION 
AND BENEFITS

HEALTH AND SAFETY 
MANAGEMENT

PERFORMANCE 
MANAGEMENT

Performance Management at the Bank has been taken as 
one of the most fundamental and uncontested practices that 
organizations undergo on a regular basis. While there is not 
much debate on the value of performance management, the 
effectiveness of the process and how organizations use it 
for building a high-performance workforce are of paramount 
concern.

The performance planning and review processes are 
employed by the Bank by;

 Ҍ Consulting BRD Strategic Plan and connect goals of 
each individual to the BRD‘s mission and objectives;

 Ҍ Divisions prepare annual plans and budget with short 
term targets and expectations that are flexible with 
changing environment;

 Ҍ Individual employees set performance targets and sign 
respective performance contracts with their supervisors;

 Ҍ Bi-annual staff performance reviews are conducted.

In respect of the above, an annual staff evaluation was 
conducted for all employees for the year in question.
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The Division of Human Capital and Corporate 
Services will continue to provide multidimensional 
support to all functions of the Bank, ensuring that 
all staff have access to a good and safe working 
environment.

In addition to focusing on the continued effective 
implementation of the HR five-year strategy 
(2018–2022), the Corporate Services function will 
specifically focus on the completion of the Bank’s 
interior refurbishment as well as commence the 
exterior refurbishment to upgrade the parking yard 
to neat parking (front and back) which is expected to 
provide parking space for over 120 cars.

OUTLOOK
The Bank 
contributed to 
health insurance 
including 
preventive 
medical 
examinations, 
which covered 
almost all illnesses 
under RAMA.
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OUTREACH, COMMUNICATION 
AND CORPORATE SOCIAL 
INVESTMENT
The Bank has overtime given 
due attention to issues of 
social responsibility and 
philanthropy, with a focused 
interest in diversity and 
inclusion, health and safety, 
environmental conservation, 
Education, Housing, Welfare, 
Jobs creation, Rural-
Community development 
and empowerment, Small 
businesses development, as 
well as Arts and culture among 
others. The Bank's policies, 
practices and progress 
with respect to such issues 
strive to achieve meaningful 
developmental impact among 
beneficiary communities.

The Bank’s CSI policy includes a flexibility to accommodate “emergencies” in 
consultation with Management, and in such cases,the Bank steps into donate 
relief to areas and persons in need. We look at Corporate Social Investment 
(CSI) as an area of management action which has developed in response to the 
changes and demands of society at large and involves business, government, 
and communities.We believe that getting involved in Corporate and Social 
activities, presents an opportunity to disseminate a clear communication of the 
bank’s business model as a development finance institution. Corporate social 
investment covers our responsibility as a Bank to ensure we:

 Ҍ Deliver the right services and products to our customers (being customer 
centric);

 Ҍ Manage ourselves responsibly and to the advantage of our employees and 
society;

 Ҍ Contribute to sustainable development of the natural environment;

 Ҍ Contribute towards the development and uplifting of disadvantaged people;

 Ҍ Provide relief support to people and communities affected by disasters, and

 Ҍ Contribute to Government efforts and initiatives that seek to improve welfare 
of Rwandans across the country
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The year ending 2019, BRD gave back over One Hundred 
and Seven Million, Four Hundred and Twenty Five Thousand 
Eight Hundred Ninety Seven (FRW 107,425,897) through a 
comprehensive number of activities including community 
development, strategic support of women, youth and 
advocacy groups, government social development 
programs, partnering with conferences and events as well 
as sponsoring emerging sports among others. Some of the 
undertaken initiatives are recorded below;

1. For each of the last 4 years, BRD has offered and 
supported a local NGO known as Foundation For The 
Youth Future in different ways. This NGO with over 
100 members was set up to support the 1990 – 1994 
war veterans and their families. This 2019, the Bank 
extended financial support to buy goats for breeding 
to help the veterans’ association fight against poverty.

2. In the February, the Bank received a sponsorship 
request from Jean Luc Nambajimana, a 20 year 
old kidney  patient, to enable him to seek medical 
treatment and carry out a Kidney Transplant. The 
family is a vulnerable family in Category 2 social class 
(Ubudehe). The boy was diagnosed in June 2018 as 
having kidney complications and was recommended 
for a kidney transplant operation to be carried out in 
India. The Government of Rwanda accepted to cover 
the medical expenses and the family covers transport, 
upkeep and accommodation. However, before 
travelling, the boy was receiving costly and weekly 
dialysis treatment as he was undergoing treatment 
for a resulting TB disease in order to be medically fit 
to travel. The Bank considered to support this cause 
through offering to financially cater for the bi-weekly 
dialysis sessions, for close to 3 months. This was based 
on the bank’s corporate social responsibility effort 
under the policy of contributing towards uplifting of 
disadvantaged people; as well as under the thematic 
area of health and welfare as well as youth and women 
empowerment as the intention is to treat 1 case per 
year.

3. BRD in its portfolio undertakes land banking and 
owns hectares of land in Kigarama sector of Kicukiro 
District in Kigali with over 2,000 residents. To ensure 
the continuity of resident partnership with the local 
administration and the communities in this sector, in 
February, the Bank accepted to contribute to the local 
administration’s initiative to support an identified group 
of homeless and vulnerable people and construct five 
5 shelters for them. The financial contribution was 
specifically used for the purchase of construction 
materials, including truckloads of stones.

4. In celebration of the 8th March Women’s day 2019, the 
Bank approved a budget to be extended to a women’s 
initiative aimed at empowering and supporting 
Rwandan women.

5. Still in March 2019, BRD was undertook an initiative to 
install solar panels for 12 homes as support towards 
families affected by the 1994 genocide against the 
Tutsi. According to the National Electrification Plan 
(NEP), some areas are designated as an off-grid area 
and many of the households are in Ubudehe category 
1; therefore, provision and connection of clean energy 
through individual solar home systems opens up an 
opportunity for uninterrupted electricity and greatly 
improves health lifestyle.

6. As had been the practice since 2016, for the 4th year 
in a row, the Bank continued its direct involvement 
in green funding activities. In March 2019, the Banks 
decided to diversify the activity into Fruit – tree 
planting which culminated into planting 5,000 trees 
in Nyagatare District of the Eastern Province. The 
trees planted are crop friendly and adaptable to the 
Nyagatare climate. The fruit trees were planted in 
different household compounds for families to help 
improve children’s feeding. Statistics revealed that 
39% of children under the age of 5 are malnourished. 
BRD hence directly contributed by delivering solutions 
to the Government’s several policies and measures 
to ensure sustainable development, environmental 
protection as well as food and nutrition security.

7. Through the Bank’s sports development endeavors, 
earlier in February, we participated through 
sponsorship, in the African Volleyball Confederation 
(CAF) – Zone V Men Club Championship held in 
Rwanda. This was also a unique opportunity to increase 
awareness and reach out to the various large crowds 
that followed the games. During the games period, we 
sensitized the crowds and distributed brochures on 
the REF, Affordable Housing and EGF products among 
other products and services of the Bank.

8. In August, BRD as long-term partners with the Ministry 
of Education and its affiliated institutions, co-organized 
and sponsored an event to award the best practices 
and innovations identified in basic education and 
TVET schools in Rwanda during the Quality Education 
Enhancement Awareness campaign that has been 
conducted across the country in 2018. This event saw 
Teachers, School Head Teachers, Sector Education 
Inspectors and Students Clubs among those awarded 
for enhancing teaching and learning processes and 
contributed to the easy implementation of education 
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policies among others. This activity further boosted 
the strategic partnership, and reasserted the Bank’s 
brand position, value and intervention that has 
overtime led to the increase of quality development 
of the education sector. At the event, BRD awarded 
2 winning innovations that are also potential pipeline 
projects for the Bank, purchasing 2 Cross breed Cows 
and also built cow sheds/kraals for each of them. 
The winners were under the best practice category 
with projects on Rabbit Farming “Gira urukwavu” and 
Teaching of Hands-on skills to learners with severe 
mental disabilities.

9. Still in August 2019, BRD sponsored and partnered with 
the Rwanda Association of Freight and Forwarding 
(RWAFFA), the Rwanda Transporters Association and 
PSF to host the Global Logistics Convention 2019 at the 
KCC. This was an opportunity for the Bank to understand 
the issues and other areas of concern in this industry 
which is part of the Export value chain. The value in 
supporting this event as part of the export value chain, 
was multifaceted through sharing experiences on best 
practices in trade and policy, facilitating engagements 
with a wide range of stakeholders as well as provision 
of sensitization on the changing roles, responsibilities 
and emerging trends. For instance the development 
of Transport and Logistics as a driver for productivity 
and competitiveness, networking platforms like 
the Business-to-Business (B2B) and Business to 
Government (B2G). During the logistics exhibition, the 
Bank showcased its services and products as well as 
its contribution to Economic growth and development 
especially in the Exports sector. The convention also 
reviewed the role of Finance institutions and insurance 
firms and their level of engagement with the sector, 
areas of Professionalism in the sector, Logistics, and 
Environment and ultimately provided an opportunity 
for the public, private sector, development partners 
and the civil society to promote mutual understanding 
and create a shared course of action.

10. As it has happened annually for the last 20 years, 
in 2019, BRD actively participated and sponsored 
the 3 landmark national exhibitions namely the 
International Annual Trade Fair and the Made in 
Rwanda EXPO. These are organized by the Private 
Sector Federation in partnership with the Ministry of 
Trade and Industry (MINICOM) and the Agricultural 
Expo organized by the Ministry of Agriculture. 
Overtime, these EXPOs have attracted hundreds 
of thousands of international and local exhibitors. 
These exhibitions have continuously offered an ideal 
platform and business window to manufacturers of 
goods and services, attracted new investments to 

the country and also supported SMEs with the aim of 
promoting and modeling the Made in Rwanda brand and 
its related products.

» PSF EXPO
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11. In September, BRD sponsored and co-partnered with Seedstars, a Swiss company founded in 2012 with a mission to 
impact people’s lives in emerging markets through technology and entrepreneurship and promote entrepreneurship 
in emerging markets and fast-growing startup scenes. We held the 2019 Seedstars World Competition (SSW) in 
Rwanda to identify leading startups from all regions and provide them with an intense and valuable training adapted 
to the stage of the ecosystem as well as other services such as mentoring, networking and access to funding.

12. For the second consecutive time, BRD sponsored the 
Poultry Africa Summit that took place in October 2019. 
Over 1,700 international experts in the poultry industry, 
and other partners had the opportunity to showcase 
innovative solutions for this industry. As a partner and 
the leading financier of the Agriculture sector, BRD 
benefited from the conference and workshops, as well 
as the exhibition to learn through the peer to peer 
networking, industry financing and risk analysis. It was 
also a platform to talk about BRD’s role and impact 
in this particular sector and specifically the roles 
it has played in improving modern agriculture and 
technology upgrades in the poultry value chain.

13. Within the Bank’s mission quest to develop secondary 
cities, we partnered with Nyamasheke District and the 
Rwanda Hospitality Association to organize an event 
called Kivu Belt festival held in October of the reporting 
year. This was with an aspiration to make the area more 
popular in a bid to attract a variety of tourists and 
potential investors from around the world. The event 
included different sports competitions and the Bank 
awarded the winning first 5 cyclists and runners.

14. Towards the end of the year, in December the 
Shareholders, Board of Directors and Management 
of BRD gathered together to appreciate the Bank’s 
Clients for their continued support and effort put into 
helping the bank attain its mandate. The engagement 
and appreciation event once again created a great 
opportunity to reach out, interact and celebrate 
with the bank’s clients, discuss issues and future 

opportunities, allowed improved relations and 
regained trust and confidence that would have been 
compromised given Bank’s sensitive period of low 
performance. The Management reassured the clients 
that there was still a lot of business to do and also 
showcased new financial products like the EGF, Energy 
fund, Housing fund, etc.

15. We are exceptionally pleased to report that in our 
corporate social investment, we managed to close 
the year 2019 with another significant impact activity 
that was among our occasional partnering with the 
Government’s initiatives given the overall mandate of 
BRD as a Development Financial Institution contributing 
to Rwanda’s socio-economic development.

End December, the Bank sponsored the CONNECT 
RWANDA special national campaign and handed out 500 
Made in Rwanda Mara Smart Phones meant for especially 
women grouped around cooperatives in rural communities 
across the country.

This ongoing initiative will serve a great deal towards 
smartphone penetration and digital adoption in Rwanda 
whilst bridging the country’s digital divide, particularly in 
rural Rwanda. Access to smartphones across the country 
serves more purposes than just connectivity. Increased 
smartphone penetration boosts public service delivery 
as well as maps out new markets that were previously 
inaccessible. These include financial services (in turn 
boosting financial inclusion, increased savings and a 
general growth in the formally banked population, which is 
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OUTLOOK

The outlook intends to sustain more 
activities based on the communications 
strategy that is aligned to the mission 
and strategic objectives that will 
increase brand awareness and brand 
development and most importantly in 
line with the bank’s renewed mandate 
and strategic plan.

With substantial emphasis placed 
in promoting Made in Rwanda, 
communicating and reflecting the 
development, socio-economic and 
environmental impact of the Bank’s 
activities to our Stakeholders will 
continue to be a key focus of our 
activities.

As mentioned before, the trend shift in 
concept from CSR to CSI means moving 
from voluntary philanthropic pursuit 
to activities that lead to recognition as 
an important business consideration 
with capacity to achieve meaningful 
developmental impact among 
beneficiary communities and the country 
at large. At BRD, we therefore plan to 
be involved more in funding of socio-
economic activities while concentrating 
on areas aligned to our line of business.

currently around 26 per cent), healthcare 
services, and insurance penetration 
among others, which in the long term 
benefits our mission and vision. With 
a majority of government services 
currently being offered on Irembo – a 
Public service delivery portal, increased 
smartphone access is expected to 
improve the uptake of the services and 
the efficiency of service delivery.

CSR PICTORIAL
» BRD KWIBUKA
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CSR PICTORIAL
» COMMEMORATION KAMONYI

» EDUCATION LOAN PAYMENT AWARDS
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CSR PICTORIAL
» CLIMATE POLICY INTIATIVE - LAB ENDORSEMENT MEETING

» POULTRY AFRICA » DBSA
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PARTNERS
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DEVELOPMENT BANK OF RWANDA PLC
CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
NINE MONTHS PERIOD ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2019

DIRECTORS

The directors that served during the period and to the date of this report are shown below:

Francis Mugisha Chairman Term of office ended in October 2019

Eric Rwigamba Non-Executive Director June 2013; re-appointed in Mar 2018

Agnes Kanyangeyo Non-Executive Director June 2013; re-appointed in Mar 2018

Cyrille Hategekimana Non-Executive Director June 2013; re-appointed in Mar 2018

Johan Debar Non-Executive Director Resigned in March 2019

Antonina R. Kayitesi Non-Executive Director Resigned in April 2019

Athanase Rutabingwa Interim Chairman Appointed on 15th October 2019

Patrick Mwesige Non-Executive Director Appointed in Aug 2017

Eric Kwizera Gasana

Kampeta Sayinzoga 

Non-Executive Director

Executive Director  

Appointed in March 2017

Appointed in December 2019

Ag Company Secretary & General Council

Mr. Lawrence Murenzi Rwiha

Development Bank of Rwanda Limited

KN3 Ave, Kigali

P.O. Box 1341

Kigali, Rwanda

Auditors

KPMG Rwanda 

Certified Public Accountants

Grand Pension Plaza – 5th Floor

KN3 Ave

P. O. Box 6755

Kigali – Rwanda

Registered office & principal 
place of business

Development Bank of Rwanda Plc. 
Building

KN3 Ave, Kigali

P. O. Box: 1341 

Kigali, Rwanda.
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LAWYERS

MRB Attorneys Ltd     P. O. Box 682   Kigali – Rwanda  Resigned in February 2020

Kigali Allied Advocates (KAA) Ltd  P. O. Box 675   Kigali – Rwanda

Barezi Marie Aimée   P. O. Box 5035   Kigali – Rwanda

Bimenyimana Eric   P. O. Box 4067   Kigali – Rwanda

Kayihura Muganga Dida   P. O. Box 6368   Kigali – Rwanda

Kazeneza Theophile   P. O. Box 1635   Kigali – Rwanda

Mafaranga Anastase   P. O. Box 2845   Kigali – Rwanda

Rwigema Vincent   P. O. Box 2653   Kigali – Rwanda

Ethos Attorneys and Consultants  P. O. Box 2122  Kigali – Rwanda

Pacis Law Firm    P. O. Box 5706  Kigali – Rwanda

Paradise Law Chambers   P. O. Box 4637  Kigali – Rwanda

RR Associates & Co Advocates  P. O. Box 1107  Kigali – Rwanda
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019, which disclose 
the state of affairs of Development Bank of Rwanda ("BRD" or "the Bank"). 

Incorporation
Development Bank of Rwanda (BRD) is a Public Limited Liability Company created by the law on August 5, 1967. However, 
pursuant to Law No. 14/2011 of 30/05/2011, BRD ceased to be governed by an Act of Parliament and changed into a Public 
Company limited by shares in accordance with the previous Law No. 7/2009 relating to companies. BRD is a development 
finance institution dedicated to becoming “the financier of Rwanda’s development”.

BRD’s vision is “To be an innovative and sustainable provider of development finance for socio-economic impact”. For more 
than 50 years the bank has been at the forefront of economic development in Rwanda through investment financing in 
different sectors of the economy.

In its triple role as “Financier, Advisor and Partner”, Development Bank of Rwanda (BRD) Plc. continues to fund development 
in the country through direct investments. 

Principal activity
The principal activity of the Bank is development finance lending through direct and indirect equity holdings, or other stocks and 
granting of short, medium- and long-term loans.

Results 
The results for the year are set out on page 11 of the financial statements

Dividend
The directors do not recommend the payment of dividends for the period (2018: Nil).

Directorate
The Directors who served during the period are set out on page 58.

Auditors
KPMG Rwanda Limited have been appointed as Auditors of the bank commencing 2019 in accordance with Regulation No. 
04/2009 on accreditation and other requirements for external auditors of banks and have expressed willingness to continue 
as Auditors. 

By order of the Board

Chaiman

Date: 
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ 
RESPONSIBILITIES

The Bank’s Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements, comprising the 
statement of financial position as 31 December 2019, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, 
which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and Regulation N° 2310/2018 – 00013[614 ] of 27/12/2018 of the National Bank Of 
Rwanda On Licensing Conditions Of Banks and BNR Regulation No 28/2019 of 09/09/2019 relating to publication of financial 
statements and other disclosures by banks and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error.

The Directors’ are also responsible for such internal control as the Directors determine what is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error, and for maintaining 
adequate accounting records and an effective system of risk management.

The Directors have made an assessment of the bank’s ability to continue as a going concern and have no reason to believe 
the business will not be a going concern for at least the next twelve months from the date of this statement.

The Independent Auditor is responsible for reporting on whether, based on their audit, the annual financial statements are 
fairly presented in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards, Regulation N° 2310/2018 – 00013[614] of 
27/12/2018 of the National Bank of Rwanda On Licensing Conditions Of Banks and BNR Regulation No 28/2019 of 09/09/2019 
relating to publication of financial statements and other disclosures by banks.

Approval of financial statements 
The financial statements which appear on pages 68 to 145 were approved and authorised for issue by the Directors on

Chairperson     Chief Executive Officer

Board Audit Committee 

Date:         Date: 
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Development Bank of Rwanda Plc. is committed to world class corporate governance standards as set from time to time by 
the National Bank of Rwanda and by itself in accordance with international best practice. The Board of Directors is responsible 
for the long-term strategic direction for profitable growth of the Bank whilst being accountable to the shareholders for 
compliance and maintenance of the highest corporate governance standards and business ethics.  

The Board of Directors 

The Board is currently made up of six members, all non-executive Directors including the Chairman. The Board is provided 
with full, appropriate and timely information to enable them to maintain full and effective control over the strategic, financial, 
operational and compliance issues of the Bank. The day to day running of the business of the Bank is delegated to the Chief 
Executive Officer but the Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining the Bank’s system of internal controls so that the 
objectives of profitable and sustainable growth and shareholders value is realized. The Board also makes recommendations 
to the shareholders on Board succession planning and annual financial statements.

Board meetings

The Board of Directors meet quarterly or as required in order to monitor the implementation of the Bank’s planned strategy, 
review it in conjunction with its financial performance and approves issues of strategic nature. Specific reviews are also 
undertaken on operational issues and future planning. At the end of each financial year, the Board reviews itself, Board 
Committees, Senior Management and Chief Executive Officer against targets agreed in the balanced scorecard at the 
beginning of the year.

Board Committees

The Board has created the following principal committees which meet regularly under well-defined and materially delegated 
terms of reference set by the Board.

Risk Management Committee

The committee was set up to oversee the Bank’s mitigation and appreciation of all risks in the business. It meets quarterly 
to advise the business on all matters pertaining to credit, market, operational, legal, environmental and other risks. Business 
continuity issues are also discussed by this committee. 

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee meets quarterly or as required. In accordance with regulatory requirement, the committee comprise 
non- executive members of the Board who are independent of the day-to-day management of the Company’s operations. 
The committee deals with all matters relating to the financial statements and internal control systems of the Bank including 
dealing with independent auditors and National Bank of Rwanda inspectors. All the audits conducted by this committee are 
risk based. 

Remuneration Committee

The committee meets quarterly to review human resource policies and make suitable recommendations to the Board on 
senior management appointments. This committee oversees the nomination functions and senior management performance 
reviews.

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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Board/ Board Committee attendance

The following table gives the record of attendance to the board meetings and its Committee meetings for the twelve  
months ended 31 December 2019.

MAIN 
BOARD

RISK AUDIT CREDIT NOM REM IT & STRA

Meetings held 11 4 4 8 7 4

Francis Mugisha 9/9 3/3 3/3 7/7 3/6 2/3

Eric Rwigamba 11/11 4/4 4/4 7/8 2/6 2/4

Agnes Kanyangeyo 6/11 2/4 - 2/8 2/6 3/4

Cyrille Hategekimana 11/11 - 4/4 1/8 6/7 -

Johan Debar 2/9 - - - - -

Antonina R. Kayitesi 2/9 - 1/3 - - -

Athanase Rutabingwa 11/11 - 2/3 7/8 7/7 -

Patrick Mwesige 9/11 4/4 4/4 1/8 1/6 4/4

Eric Kwizera Gasana 10/11 - - 7/8 6/6 4/4

Management committees

The Board has delegated the management of the business to the Chief Executive Officer together with his management 
committees. The following management committees are in place to ensure that the Bank carries out its obligation efficiently 
and effectively.

• Executive Committee (EXCO)

• Investment Committee

• Assets and Liabilities Committee

• Credit Risk Management Committee

• IT steering and cyber security committee

• Asset disposal committee

• Staff loans and advances committee

• Tender committee

• Export growth fund (EGF) committee

Credit Committee

The committee meets quarterly to review the credit risk profile of the Bank and recommend to the Board for approval policies 
and standards of credit risk governance and management. The frequency of the meetings has ensured that the needs of 
the Bank’s customers are given timely attention. The committee also reviews the Bank’s credit risk appetite and sectorial 
concentration. 

63ANNUAL REPORT   |   2019



TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF DEVELOPMENT BANK OF RWANDA PLC      
  

Report on the Condensed Interim Financial Statements 

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Development Bank of Rwanda (“the Bank”) as set out on pages 68 to 145 
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019 and the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the financial statements comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly in all material respects, of the financial position of the 
Development Bank of Rwanda PLC as at 31 December 2019 and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), in the manner required by Law No 17/2018 of 
13/04/2018 governing companies and Regulation No 28/2019 of 09/09/2019 relating to publication of financial statements 
and other disclosures by banks issued by the National Bank of Rwanda.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the ethical requirements of the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements taken 
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT  
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Impairment of loans and advances to customers 

Refer to notes 9, 17 and 30(B) to the financial statements.

KEY AUDIT MATTER HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN OUR AUDIT

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments requires the Bank to 
recognise expected credit losses (“ECL”) on financial 
instruments which involves significant judgement and 
estimates. The key areas where we identified greater 
levels of management judgement and therefore 
increased levels of audit focus in the Bank’s determination 
of the expected credit loss are:

 Ҍ Economic scenarios – IFRS 9 requires the Bank to 
measure ECLs on a forward-looking basis reflecting 
a range of future economic conditions. Significant 
directors’ judgment is applied to determining 
the economic scenarios used and the probability 
weightings applied to them especially for the 
corporate portfolios

 Ҍ Significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”) – for the 
retail and corporate portfolios the criteria selected 
to identify a significant increase in credit risk is a key 
area of judgment within the Bank’s ECL calculation 
as these criteria determine whether a 12 month or 
lifetime provision is recorded.

 Ҍ Model estimations – inherently judgemental 
modelling is used to estimate ECL which involves 
determining probabilities of default (“PD”), loss 
given default (“LGD”), and exposures at default 
(“EAD”). The PD models used in the retail and 
corporate portfolios are the key drivers of the Bank’s 
ECL results and are therefore the most significant 
judgemental aspect of the Bank’s ECL modelling 
approach.

 Ҍ Qualitative adjustments – adjustments to the model 
driven ECL results are raised by directors to address 
known impairment model limitations or emerging 
trends. Such adjustments are inherently uncertain 
and significant directors’ judgment is involved in 
estimating these amounts especially in relation to 
the retail and corporate portfolios.

 Ҍ The effect of these matters is that, as part of our risk 
assessment, we determined the impairment of loans 
and advances to customers to be a key audit matter 
due to the high degree of estimation uncertainty 
and judgements applied in determination of the 
ECL.

Our audit procedures in this area included, among 
others:

 Ҍ Involving our own internal financial risk modelling 
specialists in evaluating the appropriateness of 
the Bank’s IFRS 9 impairment methodologies 
(including the SICR criteria used). Using our 
experience to independently assess probability of 
default, loss given default and exposure at default 
assumptions. For a sample of models, assessing 
the reasonableness of the model predictions by 
comparing them against actual results.

 Ҍ Involving our own internal economic specialists 
to assess the appropriateness of the Bank’s 
methodology for determining the economic 
scenarios used.

 Ҍ Evaluating key aspects of the ECL model which 
involved:

 × selecting a sample and testing key inputs 
and assumptions impacting ECL calculations 
to assess the reasonableness of economic 
forecasts, weights, and PD assumptions 
applied;

 × Selecting a sample of post model adjustments, 
considering the size and complexity of 
directors’ overlays, in order to assess the 
reasonableness of the adjustments by 
challenging key assumptions, inspecting the 
calculation methodology and tracing a sample 
back to source data.

 Ҍ Evaluating the adequacy of the financial statement 
disclosures, including disclosures of key assumptions 
and judgements used in determination of ECL.

Other Matter relating to comparative information

The financial statements of Development Bank of Rwanda Plc as at and for the year ended 31 December 2019, were audited 
by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements on 1 April 2019.
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Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Annual Report and Financial Statements which we obtained prior to the date of this report. Other information does not 
include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit opinion or any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information 
obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Directors’ Responsibilities of for the financial statements

As stated on page 61, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), in the manner required by Law No 17/2018 of 13/04/2018 
governing companies and Regulation No 28/2019 of 09/09/2019 relating to publication of financial statements and other 
disclosures by banks issued by the National Bank of Rwanda and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

In preparing the financial statements, Directors are responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless Directors 
either intend to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

 Ҍ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 
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 Ҍ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.

 Ҍ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

 Ҍ Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the group to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Ҍ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether 
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor's report unless laws or regulations precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extermely rare matters, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because of the adverse consequences of doing so 
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by the provisions of Law No. 17/2018 of 13/04/2018 Governing Companies, we report to you based on our audit, 
that:

1. We have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary 
for the purposes of our audit;

2. Proper accounting records have been kept by the company, so far as appears from our examination; 
3. The statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position are in agreement with the books of 

account;
4. We have no relationship, interests or debt with the Development Bank of Rwanda. As indicated in our report on 

financial statements, we comply with ethical requirements. These are the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ Code of  Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), which includes comprehensive independence 
and other requirements;

5. We have reported our findings on internal control matters to management in a separate management letter.
6. According to the best of the information and the explanations given to us as auditors, as shown by the accounting 

and other documents of the company, the annual accounts comply with Article 123 of Law No. 17/2018 of 13/04/2018 

Governing Companies in Rwanda.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is CPA Stephen Ineget – PC/CPA 
0293/0067

KPMG Rwanda Limited
Certified Public Accountants
P. O. Box 6755
Kigali, Rwanda     Date
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Note
2019 

Frw’ 000
2018 

Frw’ 000

Interest income 4  22,202,162 21,136,026

Interest expense 5 (12,673,412) (11,673,787) 

Net interest income 9,528,750 9,462,239

Fee and commission income 6 (a)  421,964   322,160

Fee and commission expense 6 (b)  (206,138)  (351,141)

Net fee and commission income /expense 215,826 (28,981)

Net trading income 9,744,576 9,433,258

Net foreign exchange losses 7 (3,411,641) (2,816,598) 

Other operating income 8 1,142,854  1,203,656

Net operating income  7,475,789 7,820,316 

Net impairment charge on loans and advances 9 (2,369,750) (3,425,355)

Loss on derivative instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss 

11 4,313 (149,608)

Operating income/ (loss) 5,110,352   (4,245,353)

Share of (loss)/profit of investment in associates 10(i) 79,640 (210,942)

Remeasurement gain/(loss) of investment in associates 10(ii) 1,407,391  (758,673)

Employee benefits expense 12(i) (4,674,591) (3,976,349)

Depreciation and amortization 22-23 (580,900) (663,315)

Other operating expenses 12(ii) (2,102,557) (1,901,640)

Impairment of other assets 12(ii) (5,781) -

Loss for the year (766,446) (3,265,566)

Other Comprehensive Income
Items that may never be subsequently reclassified 
to profit or loss

Fair Value Loss on Equity investments at fair value 
through OCI

18(b) 2,007,496  (1,387,143)

Revaluation gain on Property, plant and equipment - 4,669,491

 2,007,496  3,282,348

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit  or loss - -

Total comprehensive income for the year 1,241,050 16,782

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 
DECEMBER 2019

The notes set out on pages 75 to 145 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note
2019 

Frw’ 000
2018 

Frw’ 000

ASSETS

Cash and balances with the National Bank of Rwanda 15(a) 14,563,801 4,505,365

Amounts due from other banks 15(b) 35,467,142 29,866,486 

Held to maturity investments 16 988,464 - 

Loans and advances 17 157,326,218 157,671,998 

Investment in associates 18(a) 12,510,086 8,589,782

Equity investments at fair value through OCI 18(b) 16,866,078 14,671,362

Derivative Financial Instruments 19 1,781,245 1,536,315 

Other assets 20 6,992,146 5,068,483 

Investment Properties 21(b) 21,015 21,015

Non-current assets held for sale 21(a) 250,000 -

Intangible assets 22 817,812 864,803

Property and equipment 23 13,622,197 13,741,073 

TOTAL  ASSETS 261,206,204 236,536,682

LIABILITIES

Dividends payable 24  11,017   11,017

Other payables 24 6,048,821   8,101,429

Borrowings 25  175,567,542   155,557,822

Special funds 26  8,556,307  6,495,710

Grants 27 2,563,221 2,713,835

TOTAL  LIABILITIES 192,746,908 172,879,813

EQUITY

Share capital 28(a) 42,661,685 39,100,308 

Share premium 28(b) 11,665,569 11,665,569

Other reserves 29 27,944,626 22,334,606

Accumulated loss (13,812,584)  (9,443,614)

TOTAL  EQUITY 68,459,296 63,656,869

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 261,206,204   236,536,682

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

The financial statements set out on pages on 11 to 90 were approved and authorised for issue by the 

Board of Directors on ………………………………………………….

Chairman: _______________________                          Chief Executive Officer: _____________________

The notes set out on pages 15 to 90 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note 2019
Frw' 000

2018 
Frw' 000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(loss) before income tax (766,446) (3,265,566)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation on property and equipment 23 409,415 500,198
Amortization of intangible assets 22 171,487 163,117
Adjustments and write off on intangible assets 22 - 24,475
Adjustments and write off on property and equipment 23 - 177,663
Gain on disposal of fixed assets 8 - (7,911)
Gain on disposal of repossessed assets 8 - (294,450)
Share of profit /in investments in associate (79,639) 210,942
Impairment – Investments in Associates 10(ii) (1,407,391) 758,673
Net Fair Value Loss – on Derivative Instrument 11 (4,313) 149,608
Net foreign exchange losses 7 3,414,515 2,816,598
Expected credit losses on other assets and bank balances 12 (iv) 5,781 -
Interest accrued on borrowings 5 12,673,412 4,052,088
Cash flows before changes in operating accounts 14,416,821  5,285,435
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase/Loans and advances 17 345,780 (2,297,973)
Increase/ decrease Other assets 20 (1,923,663) (2,854,856)
Decrease/Other payables 24 (2,052,608) (3,425,232)
Increase /Net payment on Derivative financial instruments (244,930) (321,705)
Net cash generated from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities 5,908,016    -3,614,331

Purchase of property and equipment 23 (301,102) (20,797)
Purchase of intangible assets 22 (124,496) (340,885)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment - 85,788
Purchase of equity investments 18 (b) (597,222) (500,000)
Purchase of Investment in Associates 18 (a) (2,424,892) (598,773)
Proceeds from sale of equity investments 18 (b) 410,000 35,250
Purchase of Investment in government securities (Held to maturity 
investments)

16 988,465 -

Disposal of investment property - 1,310,450
Purchase of non-current assets held for sale (250,000) -
Net cash flows from investing activities (2,299,247)  (28,967)
Cash flows from financing activities
Drawdown of borrowings 25.1 38,582,021 32,696,112
Repayment of borrowings 25.1 (32,081,728) (28,904,490)
Drawdown of special funds 25.1 2,067,036 1,166,929
Repayment in special funds 25.1 (6,462) (139,276)
Increase in grants 27 54,960 2,002,079
Repayment of grants (198,564) -
Additional Capital (Cash) 3,561,377 9,257,592
Net cash flows from financing activities 11,978,640  16,078,946
Net (Decrease)/Increase in cash and cash equivalents 15,587,409      12,435,648
Net Foreign exchange difference on cash and cash equivalents 71,683 426,250
Cash and Cash equivalents at the start of the year 15 34,371,851 21,509,953
Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the year 15 50,030,943 34,371,851

The notes set out on pages 75 to 145 form an integral part of these financial statements

STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS FOR 
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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1. REPORTING ENTITY 
Development Bank of Rwanda (the “Bank”) is a Public Limited Liability Company created by the law of August 5, 1967 with its 
head office in Kigali, Rwanda. The Bank is primarily a development finance institution dedicated to becoming “the financier 
of Rwanda’s development”.

The Bank’s principal office address is: 

Development Bank of Rwanda Limited

KN3 Ave, Kigali

P.O. Box 1341

Kigali – Rwanda.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

a). Basis for accounting

The Bank’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention, except equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income, derivative financial 
instruments, investment properties, land and buildings that have been measured at fair value. The financial statements have 
been presented in Rwandan Francs (Frw) rounded off to the nearest thousand (Frw ‘000).

b). Going concern

The Bank’s management has made an assessment of the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that the 
Bank has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the management is not aware of any 
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the 
financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis.

c). Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures 
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period.

The estimates and assumptions are based on the Directors’ best knowledge of current events, actions, historical experience 
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis 
of making the judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. In particular, information about significant areas 
of estimation and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognized in the financial statements are described in Note 30.

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

The Bank regularly reviews its assets and makes judgments in determining whether an impairment loss should be recognized 
in respect of observable data that may impact on future estimated cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for 
estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss 
estimates and actual loss experience.

Impairment losses on loans and advances

The specific counterparty component of the total allowances for impairment applies to claims evaluated individually for 
impairment and is based upon management’s best estimate of the present value of the cash flows that are expected to 
be received. In estimating these cash flows, management makes judgments about counterparty’s financial situation. Each 
impaired asset is assessed on its merits, and the workout unit estimates of cash flows considered recoverable are independently 
reviewed by the Management Committee. 

Collectively assessed impairment allowances cover credit losses inherent in portfolios of claims with similar economic 
characteristics when there is objective evidence to suggest that they contain impaired claims, but the individual impaired 
items cannot yet be identified. In assessing the need for collective loan loss allowances, management considers factors 
such as credit quality, portfolio size, concentrations, and economic factors. In order to estimate the required allowance, 
assumptions are made to define the way inherent losses are modelled and to determine the required input parameters, 
based on historical experience and current economic conditions. The accuracy of the allowances depends on how well 
the estimated future cash flows for specific counterparty allowances and the model assumptions and parameters used in 
determining collective allowances.

Determining fair values  

The determination of fair value for financial assets and liabilities for which there is no observable market price requires the 
use of valuation techniques.  For financial instruments that trade infrequently and have little price transparency, fair value 
is less objective, and requires varying degrees of judgment depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market 
factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific instrument. The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated.

Revaluation of Land and Buildings

The Bank carries its Land and Buildings at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognized in OCI. The land and buildings 
were valued using direct comparison method and replacement cost method. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a). Current versus non-current classification

The Bank presents assets and liabilities in the notes based on current/non-current classification. An asset is current when it 
is expected:

 Ҍ to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle

 Ҍ to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period or 

 Ҍ Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months 
after the reporting period 

All other assets are classified as non-current. A liability is current when:

 Ҍ It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle

 Ҍ It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period Or

 Ҍ There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting 
period

 Ҍ The Bank classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

a). Recognition of income and expense

i). The effective interest rate method

Under both IFRS 9, interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR) method for all financial instruments 
measured at amortized cost, financial instruments designated at FVPL. Interest income on interest bearing financial assets 
measured at FVOCI under IFRS 9, similarly to interest bearing financial assets classified as available-for-sale or held to maturity 
under IFRS9 are also recorded by using the EIR method. The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and 
of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, 
when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating 
the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for 
example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and points paid 
or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all 

74 ANNUAL REPORT   |   2019



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

other premiums or discounts.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Continued)

The EIR (and therefore, the amortized cost of the asset) is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on 
acquisition, fees and costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The Bank recognizes interest income using a rate of return that 
represents the best estimate of a constant rate of return over the expected life of the loan. Hence, it recognizes the effect 
of potentially different interest rates charged at various stages, and other characteristics of the product life cycle (including 
prepayments, penalty interest and charges).

If expectations regarding the cash flows on the financial asset are revised for reasons other than credit risk. The adjustment 
is booked as a positive or negative adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset in the statement of financial position with 
an increase or reduction in interest income. The adjustment is subsequently amortized through Interest and similar income in 
the income statement.

ii). Interest and similar income

The Bank calculates interest income by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of financial assets other than credit-
impaired assets.

When a financial asset becomes credit-impaired and is, therefore, regarded as ‘Stage 3’, the Bank calculates interest income 
by applying the effective interest rate to the net amortized cost of the financial asset. If the financial assets cures and is no 
longer credit-impaired, the Bank reverts to calculating interest income on a gross basis.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets, the Bank calculates interest income by calculating the 
credit-adjusted EIR and applying that rate to the amortized cost of the asset. The credit adjusted EIR is the interest rate that, 
at original recognition, discounts the estimated future cash flows (including credit losses) to the amortized cost of the POCI 
assets.

iii). Fees and Commission

Fees and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or financial liability 
are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate.

Other fees and commission income are recognized as the related services are performed.

Other fees and commission expense relate mainly to transaction and service fees, which are expensed as the services are 
received.

iv). Dividend Income

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive income is established. Usually, this is the ex-dividend date for 
quoted equity securities.

v). Other income

Other income comprises of gains and income related to non-trading assets and liabilities and includes all realized and 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

unrealized fair value changes.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Continued)

b). Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost or fair value, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Costs include expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Purchased software that is integral to the 
functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as part of that equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Bank and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged 
to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Property and equipment are de-recognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from 
the continued use of the asset. Gains and losses arising on disposal of an item of property and equipment are determined by 
comparing the net proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of the item and is included in the statement of profit or 
loss when the asset is derecognized.

Land and buildings are shown at fair value, based on valuations by external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation 
for buildings. Valuations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ 
materially from it carrying amount.  

A revaluation surplus is recorded in other comprehensive income and credited to the asset revaluation reserve in equity. 
However, to the extent that it reverses a revaluation deficit of the same asset previously recognized in profit or loss, the 
increase is recognized in profit or loss. A revaluation deficit is recognized in the statement of profit or loss, except to the 
extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset recognized in the asset revaluation reserve.

Accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net 
amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset 
being sold is transferred to retained earnings.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis, at annual rates estimated to write off the cost or valuation of the assets 
over their estimated useful lives. The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

Management and directors review the residual value and useful life of an asset at the year end and any change considered to 
be appropriate in accounting estimate is recorded through the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Management assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that any item of property and equipment is 
impaired. If any such indication exists, Management estimates the recoverable amount of the relevant assets.  An impairment 
loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Continued)

Freehold land is not depreciated. Work in progress is stated at cost and not depreciated. Transfer from work in progress is 
done when then the asset is ready for use. Depreciation on work in progress commences when the assets are ready for their 
intended use. Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of the property and equipment on a straight-line basis over the 
expected useful lives of the assets concerned. The rates for depreciation used are as follows:

Buildings 11% and 8% Fixture, Fittings & Equipment 25%

Motor Vehicles 20% Computer Equipment 50%

 

c). Intangible Assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Acquired computer software licenses are 
capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.  Following initial recognition, 
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an 
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible 
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful 
life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify 
the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation 
expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the expense category that is 
consistent with the function of the intangible assets.

These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives (five years).

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development 
costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the 
Bank, are recognised as intangible assets, when the following criteria have been met:

 Ҍ It is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;

 Ҍ Management intends to complete the software product and use it;

 Ҍ There is an ability to use the software product;

 Ҍ It can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits;

 Ҍ Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the software 
product are available; and

 Ҍ The expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured,

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product include the software development employee 
costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Continued)

Development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. 

Development costs previously recognised as expense are not recognised as asset in subsequent period. Computer software 
development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives, not exceeding five years.

Intangible assets are tested for impairment annually, either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment 
of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change 
in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal (i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control) or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising upon derecognition of the asset (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of profit or 
loss.

d). Capital work-in progress

Assets in the course of construction (capital work-in-progress) are not depreciated. Upon completion of project the 
accumulated cost is transferred to an appropriate asset category where it is depreciated according to policy.

e). Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is (or contains) a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at the 
inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a 
specific asset (or assets) and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset (or assets), even if that asset is (or those assets 
are) not explicitly specified in an arrangement.

Bank is the lessee:

Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by another party, the lessor, are 
classified as operating leases. Payments, including pre-payments, made under operating leases (net of any incentives 
received from the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. The total payments 
made under operating leases are charged to ‘other operating expenses’ on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 
When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor 
by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.

Finance Leases

Leases of assets where the Bank has substantially all risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance 
leases are capitalised at lease’s commencement, at lower of fair value of leased property and the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate 
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Continued)

on the finance balance outstanding. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period 
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The investment 
properties acquired under finance leases are measured subsequently at their fair value.

Bank is the lessor:

Leases in which the Bank does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset are classified as 
operating leases. When assets are held subject to a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments is recognised as 
a receivable. The difference between the gross receivable and the present value of the receivable is recognised as unearned 
finance income. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue 
in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an 
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis 
as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.  The leases entered into 
by the Bank are primarily finance leases.

The Bank leases out its own property. The Bank has classified these leases as operating leases.

The Bank is not required to make any adjustments on transition to IFRS 16 for leases in which it acts as a lessor, except for a 
sub-lease.

The Bank sub-leases some of its properties. Under IAS 17, the head lease and sub-lease contracts were classified as operating 
leases. On transition to IFRS 16, the right-of-use assets recognised from the head leases are presented in investment property, 
and measured at fair value at that date. The Bank assessed the classification of the sub-lease contracts with reference to the 
right-of-use asset rather than the underlying asset, and concluded that they are operating leases under IFRS 16.

Impact on transition

On transition to IFRS 16, there were no additional right of use assets recognised by the Bank and hence no impact to the 
financial statements. Financial Instruments

A. Financial Instruments - Initial Recognition

I). Date of recognition

Financial assets and liabilities, with the exception of loans and advances to customers are initially recognised on the trade 
date, i.e., the date that the Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. This includes regular way 
trades: purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by 
regulation or convention in the marketplace. Loans and advances to customers are recognised when funds are transferred to 
the customers’ accounts. The Bank recognises balances due to customers when funds are transferred to the Bank.

II). Initial measurement of financial instruments

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual terms and the business model for 
managing the instruments. Financial instruments are initially measured at their fair value except in the case of financial assets 
and financial liabilities recorded at FVPL, transaction costs are added to, or subtracted from, this amount. Trade receivables 
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Continued)

are measured at the transaction price. When the fair value of financial instruments at initial recognition differs from the 
transaction price, the Bank accounts for the Day 1 profit or loss, as described below.

III). Day 1 profit or loss

When the transaction price of the instrument differs from the fair value at origination and the fair value is based on a valuation 
technique using only inputs observable in market transactions, the Bank recognises the difference between the transaction 
price and fair value in net trading income. In those cases where fair value is based on models for which some of the inputs are 
not observable, the difference between the transaction price and the fair value is deferred and is only recognised in profit or 
loss when the inputs become observable, or when the instrument is derecognised.

IV). Measurement categories of financial assets and liabilities

From 1 January 2018, the Bank classifies all of its financial assets based on the business model for managing the assets and the asset’s 
contractual terms, measured at either:

 Ҍ Amortized cost

 Ҍ Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income, (FVOCI)

 Ҍ Fair Value through Profit or Loss (FVPL)

The Bank classifies and measures its derivative and trading portfolio at FVPL

Financial liabilities, other than loan commitments and financial guarantees, are measured at amortized cost or at FVPL when they are 
derivative instruments.

B. Financial Assets and Liabilities

i). Due from banks, Loans and advances to customers, Other assets at amortized cost 

From 1 January 2018, the Bank only measures Due from banks, Loans and advances to customers and other assets at amortized 
cost if both of the following conditions are met:

 Ҍ The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows

 Ҍ The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. 

The details of these conditions are outlined below.

i.i) Business model assessment

The Bank determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial assets to achieve 
its business objective.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

80 ANNUAL REPORT   |   2019



SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Continued)

The Bank's business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a higher level of aggregated portfolios 
and is based on observable factors such as:

 Ҍ How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business model are evaluated and 
reported to the entity's key management personnel

 Ҍ The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) 
and, in particular, the way those risks are managed

 Ҍ How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether the compensation is based on the fair value of 
the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected)

 Ҍ The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the Bank’s assessment

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking 'worst case' or 'stress case’ 
scenarios into account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realised in a way that is different from the Bank's original 
expectations, the Bank does not change the classification of the remaining financial assets held in that business model, but 
incorporates such information when assessing newly originated or newly purchased financial assets going forward.

i.ii) The SPPI test 

As a second step of its classification process the Bank assesses the contractual terms of financial to identify whether they 
meet the SPPI test. 

‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and may change 
over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal or amortisation of the premium/discount).

The most significant elements of interest within a lending arrangement are typically the consideration for the time value of 
money and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment, the Bank applies judgement and considers relevant factors such as the 
currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the period for which the interest rate is set.

In contrast, contractual terms that introduce a more than de minimis exposure to risks or volatility in the contractual cash 
flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do not give rise to contractual cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the amount outstanding. In such cases, the financial asset is required to be measured at FVPL.

ii).  Derivatives recorded at fair value through profit or loss

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics:

 Ҍ Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, 
foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided that, in the case 
of a non-financial variable, it is not specific to a party to the contract (i.e., the 'underlying').

 Ҍ It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for other types of 
contracts expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors.

 Ҍ It is settled at a future date.
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The Bank enters into derivative transactions with various counterparties. These include cross-currency swaps. 

Derivatives through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

iii). Debt instruments at FVOCI (Policy applicable from 1 January 2018)

The Bank applies the new category under IFRS 9 of debt instruments measured at FVOCI when both of the following 
conditions are met:

 Ҍ The instrument is held within a business model, the objective of which is achieved by both collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling financial assets

 Ҍ The contractual terms of the financial asset meet the SPPI test

These instruments largely comprise assets that had previously been classified as financial investments available for sale under 
IFRS9.

FVOCI debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses arising due to changes in fair value 
recognised in OCI. Interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the same manner 
as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. Where the Bank holds more than one investment in the same security, 
they are deemed to be disposed of on a first–in first–out basis. On derecognition, cumulative gains or losses previously 
recognised in OCI are reclassified from OCI to profit or loss.

iv).  Equity instruments at FVOCI (Policy applicable from 1 January 2018)

Upon initial recognition, the Bank occasionally elects to classify irrevocably some of its equity investments as equity 
instruments at FVOCI when they meet the definition of definition of Equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation 
and are not held for trading. Such classification is determined on an instrument-by instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these equity instruments are never recycled to profit. Dividends are recognised in profit or loss as other 
operating income when the right of the payment has been established, except when the Bank benefits from such proceeds 
as a recovery of part of the cost of the instrument, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments at FVOCI 
are not subject to an impairment assessment.

v).  Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, being their issue proceeds (fair value of consideration received) net of 
transaction costs incurred. After initial measurement, borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Amortised 
cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on issue funds, and costs that are an integral part of the 
EIR. A compound financial instrument which contains both a liability and an equity component is separated at the issue date. 
Borrowings
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vii).   Financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments

The Bank issues financial guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements (within Provisions) at fair value, being the premium 
received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the amount 
initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised in the income statement, and – under IFRS9 – the best estimate of 
expenditure required to settle any financial obligation arising as a result of the guarantee, or – under IFRS 9 – an ECL provision 

The premium received is recognised in the income statement in Net fees and commission income on a straight line basis over 
the life of the guarantee.

vii) Financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments

Undrawn loan commitments and letters of credits are commitments under which, over the duration of the commitment, the 
Bank is required to provide a loan with pre-specified terms to the customer. Similar to financial guarantee contracts, under 
IFRS9, a provision was made if they were an onerous contract but, from 1 January 2018, these contracts are in the scope of 
the ECL requirements.

The nominal contractual value of financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments, where the loan 
agreed to be provided is on market terms, are not recorded on in the statement of financial position.

C.  Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities

From 1 January 2018, the Bank does not reclassify its financial assets subsequent to their initial recognition, apart from the 
exceptional circumstances in which the Bank acquires, disposes of, or terminates a business line. 

Financial liabilities are never reclassified. The Bank did not reclassify any of its financial assets or liabilities in 2019.

D.  Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

i).  Derecognition due to substantial modification of terms and conditions

The Bank derecognises a financial asset, such as a loan to a customer, when the terms and conditions have been renegotiated 
to the extent that, substantially, it becomes a new loan, with the difference recognised as a derecognition gain or loss, to the 
extent that an impairment loss has not already been recorded. The newly recognised loans are classified as Stage 1 for ECL 
measurement purposes, unless the new loan is deemed to be POCI.

When assessing whether or not to derecognise a loan to a customer, amongst others, the Bank considers the following 
factors:
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 Ҍ Change in currency of the loan

 Ҍ Introduction of an equity feature

 Ҍ Change in counterparty

 Ҍ If the modification is such that the instrument would no longer meet the SPPI criterion

If the modification does not result in cash flows that are substantially different, the modification does not result in derecognition. 
Based on the change in cash flows discounted at the original EIR, the Bank records a modification gain or loss, to the extent 
that an impairment loss has not already been recorded.

ii).  Derecognition other than for substantial modification

ii.i)  Financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised 
when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset have expired. The Bank also derecognises the financial asset if 
it has both transferred the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for derecognition.

The Bank has transferred the financial asset if, and only if, either:

 Ҍ The Bank has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset or

 Ҍ It retains the rights to the cash flows, but has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows i n full without 
material delay to a third party under a ‘pass–through’ arrangement

Pass-through arrangements are transactions whereby the Bank retains the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of a 
financial asset (the 'original asset'), but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to one or more entities (the 
'eventual recipients'), when all of the following three conditions are met:

 Ҍ The Bank has no obligation to pay amounts to the eventual recipients unless it has collected equivalent amounts 
from the original asset, excluding short-term advances with the right to full recovery of the amount lent plus accrued 
interest at market rates

 Ҍ The Bank cannot sell or pledge the original asset other than as security to the eventual recipients

 Ҍ The Bank has to remit any cash flows it collects on behalf of the eventual recipients without material delay. In addition, 
the Bank is not entitled to reinvest such cash flows, except for investments in cash or cash equivalents including 
interest earned, during the period between the collection date and the date of required remittance to the eventual 
recipients.

A transfer only qualifies for derecognition if either:

 Ҍ The Bank has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset Or

 Ҍ The Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset
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The Bank considers control to be transferred if and only if, the transferee has the practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety 
to an unrelated third party and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without imposing additional restrictions on the 
transfer.

When the Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards and has retained control of the 
asset, the asset continues to be recognised only to the extent of the Bank’s continuing involvement, in which case, the 
Bank also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that 
reflects the rights and obligations that the Bank has retained. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee 
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration the Bank could be required to pay.

ii.ii) Financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. Where an 
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference between the carrying value of the original financial liability and 
the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

E. Impairment of financial assets (Policy applicable from 1 January 2018)

i).  Overview of the ECL principles

The adoption of IFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the Bank’s loan loss impairment method by replacing IAS 39’s incurred loss 
approach with a forward-looking ECL approach. From 1 January 2018, the Bank has been recording the allowance for expected 
credit losses for all loans and other debt financial assets not held at FVPL, together with loan commitments and financial 
guarantee contracts, in this section all referred to as ‘financial instruments. Equity instruments are not subject to impairment 
under IFRS 9. (See Note 30 B.ii)

The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime expected credit loss 
or LTECL), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case, the allowance is based 
on the 12 months’ expected credit loss). 

The 12 months’ expected credit loss is the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a 
financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date.

Both LTECLs and 12mECLs are calculated on either an individual basis or a collective basis, depending on the nature of the 
underlying portfolio of financial instruments. 

The Bank has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting period, of whether a financial 
instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, by considering the change in the risk of default 
occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument. 
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Based on the above process, the Bank groups its loans into Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI, as described below:

In Note . (See Note 30 B.ii)

For financial assets for which the Bank has no reasonable expectations of recovering either the entire outstanding amount, or 
a proportion thereof, the gross carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced. This is considered a (partial) derecognition 
of the financial asset.

ii).   The calculation of ECLs

The Bank calculates ECLs based on a three scenarios to measure the expected cash shortfalls, discounted at an approximation 
to the EIR. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows that are due to an entity in accordance with the contract 
and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive.

The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key elements are, as follows:

(See Note 30 B.ii)

Identification and Measurement of impairment of financial assets

The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually 
significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Bank determines 
that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it 
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for 
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be 
recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial 
instrument’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account and the amount of the loss is recognized in the profit and loss account. If a loan or held-to-maturity asset has a 
variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined 
under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Bank may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value 
using an observable market price.

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralized financial asset reflects the cash 
flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is 
probable.

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit risk 
characteristics (i.e. on the basis of the Bank’s grading process that considers asset type, industry, geographical location, 
collateral type, past-due status and other relevant factors). Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future 
cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the 
contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.
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Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis 
of the contractual cash flows of the assets and historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar 
to those in the Bank. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects 
of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the 
effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently.

Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets should reflect and be directionally consistent with changes 
in related observable data from period to period (e.g. changes in unemployment rates, property prices, payment status, 
or other factors indicative of changes in the probability of losses in the Bank and their magnitude). The methodology and 
assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Bank to reduce any differences between 
loss estimates and actual loss experience.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment. Such loans are written off 
after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined. Impairment 
charges relating to loans and advances to customers are classified in loan impairment charges whilst impairment 
charges relating to investment securities are classified in ‘Net gains/ (losses) on investment securities’. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off decrease the amount of the provision for loan impairment in the statement 
of comprehensive income.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Loans that are either subject to collective impairment assessment or individually significant and whose terms have 
been renegotiated are no longer considered to be past due but are treated as new loans. In subsequent years, the 
renegotiated terms apply in determining whether the asset is considered to be past due.

iii).  Debt instruments measured at fair value through OCI

The ECLs for debt instruments measured at FVOCI do not reduce the carrying amount of these financial assets in the statement 
of financial position, which remains at fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the allowance that would arise if the assets were 
measured at amortised cost is recognised in OCI as an accumulated impairment amount, with a corresponding charge to 
profit or loss. The accumulated loss recognised in OCI is recycled to the profit and loss upon derecognition of the assets.

iv).  Purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets (POCI)

For POCI financial assets, the Bank only recognises the cumulative changes in LTECL since initial recognition in the loss 
allowance.

Forward looking information

Collateral valuation

Write-offs- The Bank’s accounting policy under IFRS 9. Financial assets are written off either partially or in their entirety 
only when the Bank has stopped pursuing the recovery. If the amount to be written off is greater than the accumulated 
loss allowance, the difference is first treated as an addition to the allowance that is then applied against the gross carrying 
amount. Any subsequent recoveries are credited to credit loss expense.
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H.  Fiduciary assets

The Bank commonly acts as trustees and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding or placing of assets on behalf 
of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans and other institutions.  These assets and income arising thereon are excluded 
from these financial statements, as they are not assets of the Bank.

I.   Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position where there 
is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and the Bank intends to either settle on a net basis, or realize 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis when permitted by the accounting standard or for gains and losses arising 
from a group of similar transactions.

J) Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be 
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions 
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Where the Bank expects a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is 
recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

K) Employee benefits

(i) Short term benefits

Short term benefits consist of salaries, bonuses and any non-monetary benefits such as medical aid contributions and 
transport allowance. Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as 
the related service is provided.

A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the Bank has a present obligation 
to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

(ii) Retirement obligations

The Bank and all its employees also contribute to a statutory defined contribution scheme, the Rwanda Social Security Board 
(RSSB) which is a defined contribution scheme and contributions are determined by local statue and are currently limited 
to 5% of the employees gross salary The companies contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income in the period to which they relate.

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan. Typically defined benefit plans define an 
amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors, such as 
age, years of service and compensation.
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The Bank’s contributions to the scheme are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year in which they are 
made. Costs relating to early retirement are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year in which they 
are incurred.

(ii) Other entitlements

The estimated monetary liability for employees’ accrued annual leave entitlement at the reporting date is recognized as an 
expense accrual.

l) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less, including: cash and non-restricted balances with the National Bank of Rwanda, 
Treasury and other eligible bills, and amounts due from other banks.

M) Investment Properties

Investment properties comprise land and buildings and parts of buildings held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. 
They are carried at fair value, determined annually by external independent valuers or management determines the value of 
the investment property based on relevant assumptions in the market.

Fair value is based on active market prices as adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, condition or location of 
the specific asset.

Investment properties are not subject to depreciation. Changes in their carrying amount between the reporting dates are 
recorded, net of deferred tax, through the profit or loss for the year.

Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of or when they are permanently withdrawn 
from use and no future economic benefits is expected from the disposal.

On disposal of an investment property, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is charged 
or credited to the profit or loss for the year.

N) Grants

Grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching 
conditions will be complied with.

Receipt of a grant does not of itself provide conclusive evidence that the conditions attaching to the grant have been or 
will be fulfilled. Grants received are treated as unexpended grants payable and credited to the statement of comprehensive 
income when all conditions attaching to the grants are met.

When the grant relates to an expense item, (revenue grant) it is recognised as income over periods necessary to match the 
grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate.
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Where the grant relates to an asset, (capital grant) it is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a systematic 
basis over the expected useful life of the relevant asset.

O) Special Funds

Special funds are granted by various institutions to fund various schemes The funds received are recognised as liabilities in 
the statement of financial position. The specific details are highlighted in Note 25.

P) Share Capital

Ordinary shares are classified as ‘share capital’ in equity. Any premium received over and above the par value of the shares is 
classified as ‘share premium’ in equity.

Q ) Dividends

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised a liability to pay a dividend when the distribution is authorised and the distribution 
is no longer at the discretion of the Bank and this is when it is authorised and approved by the shareholders. A corresponding 
amount is recognised directly in equity.

R) Taxation

No provision is made for taxation as the Bank is exempt from income tax.

S) Contingent Liabilities

To meet the financial needs of customers, the Bank enters into various irrevocable commitments and contingent liabilities. 
These consist of financial guarantees, letters of credit and other commitments to lend. Letters of credit acceptances and 
guarantees are accounted for as Off Balance Sheet items and described as contingent liabilities. Estimation of the outcome 
and financial effect of contingent liabilities is made by management based on the information available up to the date the 
financial statements are approved for issue by the directors. Any expected loss is charged to the statement of comprehensive 
income.

OFF BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

31 December 
2019

Frw' 000

31 December 
2018 

Frw' 000
Letters of credits issued - 193,447
Undisbursed loan commitments 21,434,236 28,933,135

21,434,236 29,126,582
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T) Investment in Associates

Associates are all entities over which the company has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying 
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting right. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial 
and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies. Investment in associate 
are accounted using equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognised at cost, 
and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise investors share of profit or loss of the investee after the date 
of acquisition.

If the ownership interest in associate is reduced but the significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of amounts 
previously recognised on other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The company’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss and share of post-acquisition movement 
in other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income with the corresponding adjustment to the 
carrying amount of the investment. When the company’s share of losses in associates equals or exceeds its interest in 
associate including any other unsecured receivables, the company does not recognise further losses unless it has incurred 
legal or constructive obligations or net payments on behalf of the associates.

The company determines at each reporting period date whether there is any objective evidence that investment in associate 
is impaired. If this is the case, the company calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable 
amount of the associate and its carrying amount.

U) New and amended standards and interpretations

IFRS 16 Leases

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

Key requirements:

The scope of IFRS 16 includes leases of all assets, with certain exceptions. A lease is defined as a contract, or part of a contract, 
that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

IFRS 16 requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model in a similar way to finance leases 
under IAS 17. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees – leases of ’low-value’ assets (e.g., personal 
computers) and short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12 months or less). At the commencement date of a lease, 
a lessee will recognize a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use 
the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). Lessees will be required to separately recognize the 
interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset.

Lessees will be required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events (e.g., a change in the lease 
term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine those payments). The 
lessee will generally recognize the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use 
asset.
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Lessor accounting is substantially unchanged from today’s accounting under IAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases 
using the same classification principle as in IAS 17 and distinguish between two types of leases: operating and finance leases.

Transition

A lessee can choose to apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The 
standard’s transition provisions permit certain reliefs. Early application is permitted, but not before an entity applies IFRS 15.

Impact

Due to the fact that the bank does not have leases hence no impact is expected on the Bank.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

In May 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17, a comprehensive new accounting standard for insurance contracts covering recognition 
and measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once effective, IFRS 17 will replace IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts. In September 
2017, the Board established a Transition Resource Group (TRG) for IFRS 17 that will be tasked with analyzing implementation- 
related questions on IFRS 17. The TRG met in February, May and September 2018.

IFRS 17 applies to all types of insurance contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance and re- insurance), regardless of the type 
of entities that issue them, as well as to certain guarantees and financial instruments with discretionary participation features. 
A few scope exceptions will apply.

Key requirements

The overall objective of IFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model for insurance contracts that is more useful and consistent 
for insurers.

In contrast to the requirements in IFRS 4, which are largely based on grandfathering previous local accounting policies, IFRS 
17 provides a comprehensive model for insurance contracts, covering all relevant accounting aspects. The core of IFRS 17 is 
the general model, supplemented by:

A specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation features (the variable fee approach)

A simplified approach (the premium allocation approach) mainly for short-duration contracts

The main features of the new accounting model for insurance contracts are as follows:

The measurement of the present value of future cash flows, incorporating an explicit risk adjustment, remeasured every 
reporting period (the fulfilment cash flows)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Continued)

A Contractual Service Margin (CSM) that is equal and opposite to any day one gain in the fulfilment cash flows of a group 
of contracts, representing the unearned profit of the insurance contracts to be recognised in profit or loss over the service 
period (i.e., coverage period)

Certain changes in the expected present value of future cash flows are adjusted against the CSM and thereby recognised in 
profit or loss over the remaining contractual service period

The effect of changes in discount rates will be reported in either profit or loss or other comprehensive income, determined 
by an accounting policy choice

The presentation of insurance revenue and insurance service expenses in the statement of comprehensive income based on 
the concept of services provided during the period

Amounts that the policyholder will always receive, regardless of whether an insured event happens (non-distinct investment 
components) are not presented in the income statement, but are recognised directly on the balance sheet

Insurance services results (earned revenue less incurred claims) are presented separately from the insurance finance income 
or expense

Extensive disclosures to provide information on the recognised amounts from insurance contracts and the nature and extent 
of risks arising from these contracts

Transition

IFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods starting on or after 1 January 2021, with comparative figures required. Early application 
is permitted, provided the entity also applies IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 on or before the date it first applies IFRS 17.

The Board decided on a retrospective approach for estimating the CSM on the transition date. However, if full retrospective 
application, as defined by IAS 8 for a group of insurance contracts, is impracticable, an entity is required to choose one of 
the following two alternatives:

Modified retrospective approach – based on reasonable and supportable information available without undue cost and effort 
to the entity, certain modifications are applied to the extent full retrospective application is not possible, but still with the 
objective to achieve the closest possible outcome to retrospective application

Fair value approach – the CSM is determined as the positive difference between the fair value determined in accordance 
with IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement and the fulfilment cash flows (any negative difference would be recognised in retained 
earnings at the transition date)

Both the modified retrospective approach and the fair value approach provide transitional reliefs for determining the grouping 
of contracts. If an entity cannot obtain reasonable and supportable information necessary to apply the modified retrospective 
approach, it is required to apply the fair value approach.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Continued)

In November 2018, the IASB tentatively decided to amend the effective date of IFRS 17 to reporting periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2022. The Board is also considering amending the standard to address the concerns and implementation 
challenges raised by various stakeholders.

Impact

The Bank intends to apply the standard when it becomes effective. 

Definition of a Business - Amendments to IFRS 3

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. 

Key requirements

The IASB issued amendments to the definition of a business in IFRS 3 Business Combinations to help entities determine 
whether an acquired set of activities and assets is a business or not. They clarify the minimum requirements for a business, 
remove the assessment of whether market participants are capable of replacing any missing elements, add guidance to help 
entities assess whether an acquired process is substantive, narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs, and introduce 
an optional fair value concentration test. New illustrative examples were provided along with the amendments.

Minimum requirements to be a business

The amendments clarify that to be considered a business, an integrated set of activities and assets must include, at a 
minimum, an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create output. They also 
clarify that a business can exist without including all of the inputs and processes needed to create outputs. That is, the inputs 
and processes applied to those inputs must have ‘the ability to contribute to the creation of outputs’ rather than ‘the ability 
to create outputs’.

Market participants’ ability to replace missing elements

Prior to the amendments, IFRS 3 stated that a business need not include all of the inputs or processes that the seller used in 
operating that business, ’if market participants are capable of acquiring the business and continuing to produce outputs, for 
example, by integrating the business with their own inputs and processes’. The reference to such integration is now deleted 
from IFRS 3 and the assessment must be based on what has been acquired in its current state and condition.

Assessing whether an acquired process is substantive

The amendments specify that if a set of activities and assets does not have outputs at the acquisition date, an acquired 
process must be considered substantive only if: (a) it is critical to the ability to develop or convert acquired inputs into 
outputs; and (b) the inputs acquired include both an organised workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience 
to perform that process, and other inputs that the organised workforce could develop or convert into outputs. In contrast, if 
a set of activities and assets has outputs at that date, an acquired process must be considered substantive if: (a) it is critical 
to the ability to continue producing outputs and the acquired inputs include an organised workforce with the necessary skills, 
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Continued)

knowledge, or experience to perform that process; or (b) it significantly contributes to the ability to continue producing 
outputs and either is considered unique or scarce, or cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort or delay in the ability 
to continue producing outputs.

Narrowed definition of outputs

The amendments narrowed the definition of outputs to focus on goods or services provided to customers, investment 
income (such as dividends or interest) or other income from ordinary activities. The definition of a business in Appendix A of 
IFRS 3 was amended accordingly.

Definition of a Business - Amendments to IFRS 3

Optional concentration test

The amendments introduced an optional fair value concentration test to permit a simplified assessment of whether an 
acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. Entities may elect to apply the concentration test on a transaction-by-
transaction basis. The test is met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single 
identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. If the test is met, the set of activities and assets is determined not to 
be a business and no further assessment is needed. If the test is not met, or if an entity elects not to apply the test, a detailed 
assessment must be performed applying the normal requirements in IFRS 3.

Transition

The amendments must be applied to transactions that are either business combinations or asset acquisitions for which 
the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2020. 
Consequently, entities do not have to revisit such transactions that occurred in prior periods. Earlier application is permitted 
and must be disclosed.

Impact

The Bank intends to apply the standard when it becomes effective.

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation - Amendments to IFRS 9

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

Key requirements

Under IFRS 9, a debt instrument can be measured at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, 
provided that the contractual cash flows are ‘solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding’ 
(the SPPI criterion) and the instrument is held within the appropriate business model for that classification. The amendments 
to IFRS 9 clarify that a financial asset passes the SPPI criterion regardless of the event or circumstance that causes the 
early termination of the contract and irrespective of which party pays or receives reasonable compensation for the early 
termination of the contract.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Continued)

The basis for conclusions to the amendments clarified that the early termination can result from a contractual term or from an 
event outside the control of the parties to the contract, such as a change in law or regulation leading to the early termination 
of the contract.

Transition

The amendments must be applied retrospectively; earlier application is permitted. The amendment provides specific 
transition provisions if it is only applied in 2019 rather than in 2018 with the rest of IFRS 9.

Impact

The Bank has applied this standard as at the reporting date and has no significant impact.

Definition of Material - Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Key requirements

In October 2018, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors to align the definition of ‘material’ across the standards and to clarify certain 
aspects of the definition. The new definition states that, ’Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could 
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the 
basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity.’

The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of information, or both. An entity will need 
to assess whether the information, either individually or in combination with other information, is material in the context of 
the financial statements. Obscuring information

The amendments explain that information is obscured if it is communicated in a way that would have a similar effect as 
omitting or misstating the information. Material information may, for instance, be obscured if information regarding a material 
item, transaction or other event is scattered throughout the financial statements, or disclosed using a language that is vague 
or unclear. Material information can also be obscured if dissimilar items, transactions or other events are inappropriately 
aggregated, or conversely, if similar items are inappropriately disaggregated.

New threshold

The amendments replaced the threshold ‘could influence’, which suggests that any potential influence of users must be 
considered, with ‘could reasonably be expected to influence’ in the definition of ‘material’. In the amended definition, 
therefore, it is clarified that the materiality assessment will need to take into account only reasonably expected influence on 
economic decisions of primary users.

Primary users of the financial statements

The current definition refers to ‘users’ but does not specify their characteristics, which can be interpreted to imply that 
an entity is required to consider all possible users of the financial statements when deciding what information to disclose. 
Consequently, the IASB decided to refer to primary users in the new definition to help respond to concerns that the term 
‘users’ may be interpreted too widely.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Continued)

Other amendments

The definition of material in the Conceptual Framework and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Making Materiality Judgements were 
amended to align with the revised definition of material in IAS 1 and IAS 8.

Transition

The amendments must be applied prospectively. Early application is permitted and must be disclosed.

Impact

The Bank intends to apply the standard when it becomes effective.

Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures - Amendments to IAS 28 

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

Key requirements

The amendments clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 Financial Instruments to long-term interests in an associate or joint 
venture to which the equity method is not applied but that, in substance, form part of the net investment in the associate or 
joint venture (long-term interests). This clarification is relevant because it implies that the expected credit loss model in IFRS 
9 applies to such long-term interests.

The Board also clarified that, in applying IFRS 9, an entity does not take account of any losses of the associate or joint venture, 
or any impairment losses on the net investment, recognised as adjustments to the net investment in the associate or joint 
venture that arise from applying IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures.

Transition

Entities must apply the amendments retrospectively, with certain exceptions. Early application of the amendments is 
permitted and must be disclosed.

Impact

The Bank intends to apply the standard when it becomes effective.

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture - Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28

Effective from 1 January 2019, with earlier application permitted.

In December 2015, the IASB decided to defer the effective date of the amendments until such time as it has finalised any 
amendments that result from its research project on the equity method. Early application of the amendments is still permitted.

Key requirements

The amendments address the conflict between IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures in dealing with the loss of control of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture.
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Transition

The amendments must be applied prospectively. Early application is permitted and must be disclosed.

Impact

The Bank intends to apply the standard when it becomes effective.

IFRIC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

In June 2017, the IASB issued IFRIC Interpretation 23 which clarifies application of the recognition and measurement 
requirements in IAS 12 Income Taxes when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments.

The interpretation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve uncertainty that affects the 
application of IAS 12. The interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of IAS 12, nor does it specifically 
include requirements relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments.

Key requirements

The interpretation specifically addresses the following:

 Ҍ Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately

 Ҍ The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities

 Ҍ How an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates

 Ҍ How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances

An entity has to determine whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or together with one or more other 
uncertain tax treatments. The approach that better predicts the resolution of the uncertainty should be followed.

Effective date and transition

The interpretation is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, but certain transition reliefs 
are available.

Impact

The Bank is exempt to income tax and so will be no impact.

4. Interest Income 2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

Loans and advances 20,792,137 20,211,709
Placements with banks 1,284,389 924,317
Staff benefit fair value adjustment for year 107,987 -
Interest on held to maturity investments 17,649 -

22,202,162 21,136,026
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5. Interest expense on borrowings 2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

Interest expense on borrowings 12,673,412 11,673,787
Interest expense is accrued and paid on different medium- and long-
term lines of credit secured by the bank from its various lending 
partners.

 6. Fee and Commissions income

(a) Fees and commissions income 2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

Credit related fees and commissions 421,964 322,160

(b) Fees and commissions income

Commission on borrowings and other charges (206,138) (351,141)
Net fee and commission income 215,826 (28,981)

7. Net Foreign exchange losses 2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

Forex commission income 2,874 522
Translation gainss 259,041 27,684
Translation losses (3,673,556) (2,844,804)
Net foreign exchange losses (3,411,641) (2,816,598)

Forex commissions are earned from international transfers made on behalf of the bank’s customers. Translation gains and 
losses are accounted for when balances of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are converted into the 
reporting currency (Frw) using rates at the reporting date.

8. Other Operating income 2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

Advisory and Management fees 107,487 116,239
Write back of liabilities  472,122 442,402
Dividends  287,244 98,850
Rent income  78,435 78,656
Gains on sale of fixed assets - 7,911
Gain on sale of Investment properties (a) 80,000 294,450
Grant Income  22,347 47,997
Other income (b)  95,219 117,151

1,142,854 1,203,656

8. Other Operating income (Continued)

(a). During the year, repossessed properties from Belvedere Property were sold and there was a gain realized on the 
properties of Frw 80,0000,000.

(b). Other Income during the year 2019 mainly relates to the write back of provision previously made on outstanding staff 
leave days
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9. Net Impairment charge on loans and advances 2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

Provision in the year (3,493,970) (3,829,970)
Amounts written off  (12,051,488) (1,181,630)
Recoveries on amounts previously provided for 3,219,156 -
Recoveries on amounts previously written off  9,956,552 1,586,245

(2,369,750) (3,425,355)

Balance sheet credit loss 2019 Stage 1
Frw' 000

 Stage 2 
Frw' 000

Stage 3
Frw' 000

TOTAL
Frw' 000

Balances with National Bank of Rwanda 126,850 - - 126,850
Balances and placements with other banks  61 - - 61
Loans and advances to customers 2,107,515 838,716 1,140,284 4,086,515
Other receivables  (241,758) - - (241,758)

TOTAL IMPAIRMENT LOSS 1,992,668 838,716 1,140,284 3,971,668

2018 Stage 1  Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 4 

Loans and advances to customers 1,025,497 1,618,200 10,134,849 12,778,546

10. (i) Share of profit/(loss) in Associate 2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

Business Development Fund 86,868 (130,518)
Rwanda Enterprise Investment Company  – (12,559)
Tapioca Starch Processing Company (21,269) -
Kinazi Cassava Plant – Tasco  14,041 -
Eastern Province Investment Company - (67,865)
Share of profit/(loss) of in associate 79,640 (210,942)

10. (ii) Rightback/(Impairment) of investment in associates

Great Lakes Cement -- (675,870)
Kinazi Cassava Plant 1,407,391 -
Kinazi Cassava Plant – Tasco - (82,803)
Rightback/Impairment Loss on investment in associate 1,407,391 (758,673)

Due to the nature of these investments, which in substance quality as equity investments despite contractually having a sizeable shareholding 
that qualifies them as investments, the bank has therefore determined fair value for these investments as opposed to using the share of profit/
loss. The fair valuation of the investments in associates determined on the “net asset basis” was carried out and the gains or losses reported 
represent differences between the opening and closing investments’ values. This applied to all the investments. In addition, the investment in 
Kinazi Cassava Plant which had previously been fully impaired was reassessed leading to a reversal of part of the previous impairment losses.

11. Net Fair Value Gain/ (Loss) on Derivative Instruments
Fair value (loss) /gains from currency swaps (Note 19) 4,313 (149,608)

12. (i) Employee benefits expense
2019

Frw' 000
 2018 

Frw' 000

Salaries and wages  3,766,386 3,254,757
Retirement benefit costs   152,049 157,631
Medical fees  226,617 220,499
Other staff costs  271,040 343,462
Staff benefit fair value adjustment for year 258,499 -

4,674,591 3,976,349
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12. (ii) Other operating expense 2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

Travel and accommodation  85,859 84,841
Training Fees   97,996 98,594
Consultancy fees  235,145 183,407
IT expenses 671,734 451,440
Advertising and publicity  96,955 45,097
Repairs and maintenance   102,427 111,968
Land and District Taxes  1,247 49,712
Communication 86,963 77,481
Legal fees 113,337 98,283
Subscription to professional bodies 98,684 85,349
Security Fees 67,928 68,410
Directors expenses 108,698 110,542
Office stationery and utilities 35,153 23,637
Staff welfare 49,685 32,270
Audit fees 33,539 59,793
Insurance 9,274 14,808
Cleaning Expenses 34,769 34,317
Reception expenses 36,133 23,989
Donation and grants 74,708 43,027
Write off Other liabilities (a) 60,269 -
Write off of property and equipment - 202,138
Other administrative expenses 2,054 2,537

2,102,557 1,901,640

(a). The above write off relates to long outstanding RIPPS transactions after confirmation received from different Banks and a decision 
taken at the Rwanda Banker’s association level.

12. (iii) Impairment of other assets 2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

ECL on balances with National Bank of Rwanda  62 -
ECL on amounts due from other banks   126,851 -
ECL on other assets  (121,132) -

Impairment of other assets (5,781) -

A review of the other assets was carried out during the year. This revealed that no allowance needed to be recognized against 
reported r assets/receivables of the bank and hence no impairment was made during the year.

13. Taxation

The Development Bank of Rwanda is exempt from Income Tax as per the Income Tax Law, Article 39 Paragraph 7 on exemption 
from corporate income tax.

14. Transfer to SME Guarantee Fund
In accordance with a 2010 directive from the Government of Rwanda, the Bank couldn’t transfers any money due to the 
current loss made by the bank to the SME that is managed by an associate Guarantee Fund, Business Development Fund 
Limited (BDF) and the Technical Assistance Fund that is managed by the bank. The allocation is split equally between these 
two funds.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

The amounts allocated to the Technical Assistance Fund are utilized by the Bank to support small and micro enterprises 
(SMEs) capacity building. The amounts allocated to the SME Guarantee Fund is payable to BDF Limited, which uses it to 
provide financial guarantees to SMEs to support lending to that sector.

15. Cash and Cash Equivalents

(a) Balances with National Bank of Rwanda 2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

Treasury Bills  – -
Balances with the National Bank of Rwanda 14,563,801 4,505,365
Less: ECL on balances  – -

14,563,801 4,505,365

Balances with National Bank of Rwanda are classified as current assets and are non- interest earning.
Cash reserve requirement

Development Bank of Rwanda is not required to maintain the minimum cash reserve as it is not a deposit taking bank.  

(b) Balances with National Bank of Rwanda

Balances with local banks 32,452,443 25,513,895
Balances with overseas banks 3,141,550 4,352,591

Less: ECL on balances   (126,851) -
35,467,142 29,866,486

(C) Statement of cash flows

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than 90 days maturity from the 
date of acquisition including cash and balances with banks, treasury bills and other eligible bills.

Cash and balances with National Bank of Rwanda (Note 15 (a) 14,563,801 4,505,365
Amounts due from other banks (Note 15 (b) 35,467,142 29,866,486

50,030,943 34,371,851

102 ANNUAL REPORT   |   2019



16. Held to maturity investments 2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

Treasury bonds 970,877 -
Interests accrued on treasury bonds  17,649 -
Less: ECL on balances (62) -
Total 988,464 -

Maturities 2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

Maturing between 0–3 months - -
Maturing between 3–12 months  988,464 -
Maturing between 1–5 years (62) -
Maturing between 5–10 years (62) -
Total 988,464 -

Treasury bills and bonds are debt securities issued by the Government of the Republic of Rwanda. The bills and bonds are 
categorized as held to maturity and carried at amortized cost. The weighted average effective interest rates on treasury 
bonds and bills as at 31 December 2019, was 5% (31 December 2018:Nil).

17.  Loans and Advances 2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

Agriculture loans 17,858,812 17,887,020
Export loans 43,540,66 7 61,392,249
Energy loans 22,489,392 6,978,204
Education loans 8,834,905 10,298,086
Housing loans 5,883,951 5,711,939
SP & Infrastructure loans 68,679,489 75,355,266
Gross loans 167,287,216 177,622,764

Suspended interest (2,756,093) (7,185,047)
Expected credit losses (ECL) (4,086,515) (12,765,719)
Staff benefit fair value adjustment for year (3,118,390) -
Net loans and advances 157,326,218 157,671,998

The following table shows movement in expected credit losses against loans and advances by stages:

As at 31 December
Frw' 000

 Movement in 
the period 

Frw' 000

As at December 
Frw' 000

Stage 1(Note 30) 1,012,670 1,094,845 2,107,515
Stage 2(Note 30) 1,618,200 (779,484) 838,716
Stage 3(Note 30) 10,134,849 (8,994,565) 1,140,284

TOTAL IMPAIRMENT LOSS 12,765,719 (8,679,204) 4,086,515

The reconciliation for changes in positions of ECL against loans and advances is as follows:

2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

At start of the year 12,765,719 7,554,459
IFRS 9 transition adjustment (Retained earnings) - 5,486,021
Additional provisions (Note 9) 3,493,970 3,829,970
Provisions written back (Note 9) (3,219,156) -
Reversed provisions against written off loans (8,966,845) (4,091,904)
Write back Provisions of off-balance sheet exposures 12,827 (12,827)

Gross loans 4,086,515 12,765,719

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

103ANNUAL REPORT   |   2019



 
vi)  Equity investments

The Bank has advanced financing in the form of equity in exceptional cases where the project is assessed to have a 
significant impact on the community and its development but where the equity participation is necessary for improving 
the capital structure of the company or where the sponsors are unable to raise additional equity to enable the borrower 
to operate on a commercially sound footing. Usually these are companies, which have substantial development impact 
but whose cash flows cannot support continuous repayments for long term loans. These are reported as investments in 
associates, Equity investments at fair value through OCI and redeemable convertible preference shares as per the bank’s 
accounting policies.

The equity investment in unquoted entities is recorded at cost on initial recognition and subsequently on net asset 
basis less impairment since there is no active market for these investments. In the absence of the most reliable basis of 
determining fair value, net asset less impairment is deemed the most reasonable basis of measurement. The bank will 
continue to hold onto the equity investment and will dispose when appropriate opportunity arises to dispose at a gain.

18. (a) Investments in associates

As of 31 December, 2019 Investment at cost
Frw' 000

 Cumulative 
Gains/(losses) 

Frw' 000

Carrying Value 
Frw' 000

Business Development Fund 297,843 5,761,020 6,058,863
Kinazi Cassava Plant 4,782,150 (3,360,719) 1,421,431
Rwanda Enterprise Investment Company 528,021 (528,021) -
Eastern Province Investment Company 4,604,005 425,787 5,029,792
Great Lakes Cement Company 685,352 (685,352) -
Tapioca Starch Processing Company 70,115 (70,115) -

10,967,486 1,542,600 12,510,086

The most recent available financial information of the investments (as at 31 December 2018) is summarized below.

Investments in 
associates

Current 
assets

Non-current 
assets

Current 
liabilities

Non-
current

liabilities

Revenue Profit or
loss from 

continuing 
operations

Other 
comprehensive 

income

Total 
comprehensive 

income

Names of the 
company

Frw'000 Frw'000 Frw'000 Frw'000 Frw'000 Frw'000 Frw'000 Frw'000

Business 
Development 
Fund

2,169,105 27,940,914 5,191,670 11,454,208 3,760,856 98,338 - 98,338

Kinazi Cassava 
Plant

1,762,253 6,742,466 769,691 1,273,978 1,448,376 31,910 - 31,910

Eastern Province 
Investment 
Company

19,768,753 9,484,300 11,620,370 0 797 425,787 - 425,787

As of 31 December, 2018 Investment at cost
Frw' 000

 Cumulative 
Gains/(losses) 

Frw' 000

Carrying Value 
Frw' 000

Business Development Fund 297,843 5,674,152 5,971,995
Kinazi Cassava Plant 4,782,150 (4,782,150) -
Rwanda Enterprise Investment Company 528,021 (528,021) -
Eastern Province Investment Company 2,685,652 (67,865) 2,617,787
Great Lakes Cement Company 685,352 (685,352) -
Tapioca Starch Processing Company 82,803 (82,803) -

9,061,821 (472,039) 8,589,782
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The following table shows movement in investment at cost during the period:

2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

As at 1 January 2019 9,061,821 8,463,048
Purchase of new shares** 2,424,892 598,773
Reclassifications from cost to fair value change* (519,227) -
As at 31 December 2019 10,967,486 9,061,821

**The new investment relates to acquisition of additional shares in Eastern Province Investment Company (EPIC) for Frw 2.4 
billion

*Reclassifications relate to an amount of Frw 494 million that was previously presented as investment at cost while this was 
an increase in the share value of EPIC. This is now presented under cumulative gains/(losses). Other reclassifications relate 
to adjustments made from TASCO and now treated as advances made on behalf the other Shareholder.

The following table shows movement in Cumulative gains/(losses) of Associates during the period:

2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

Business Development Fund 86,868 (130,518)
Rwanda Enterprise Investment Company - (12,559)
Eastern Province Investment Company - (67,865)
Tapioca Starch Processing Company (21,269) -
Kinazi Cassava Plant 14,041 (67,865)

79,640 (210,942)

The following table provides the nature of business and percentage shareholding of the bank in each of the associates across the years:

Associate companies Nature of
business

 Percentage  
Shareholding 2019

Percentage  
Shareholding 2018

Business Development Fund Guarantee Fund 45% 45%
Rwanda Enterprise Investment Company Investment advisory 38% 38%
Eastern Province Investment Company Hotel 25% 25%
Great Lakes Cement Company Cement production 24% 24%
Kinazi Cassava Plant Cassava Processing 44% 44%

b) Equity investments at fair value through OCI

As of 31 December, 2019 Investment at cost
Frw' 000

 Cumulative 
Change in Fair 

Value 
Frw' 000

Disposal
Frw' 000

Carrying Value 
Frw' 000

Magerwa Limited 37,425 461,192 - 498,617
Multi-Sectoral Investment Group 375,000 35,000 (410,000) -
Minimex Limited 275,000 15,868 - 290,868
Kigali City Park Limited 113,787 608,838 - 722,625
Rwanda Investment Group Limited 600,000 214,674 - 814,674
Hostel 2020 Limited 465,000 82,157 - 547,157
Prime Economic Zones Limited 1,098,320 1,087,417 - 2,185,737
Bank of Kigali Limited 502,925 563,276 - 1,066,201
Rwanda Stock Exchange 8,000 5,839 - 13,839
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Current 
assets

Non-
current 

assets

Current 
liabilities

Non-
current 

liabilities

Revenue Profit or 
loss from 

continuing 
operations

Other 
compre-
hensive 
income

Total 
compreh-

ensive 
income

Financial 
year

Names of 
the 
company

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 
000

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Magerwa 
Limited

4,650,267 4,947,746 1,426,682 177,479 6,044,902 285,602 - 285,602 31-Mar-19

Minimex 
Limited

772,519 5,609,392 2,037,074 2,017,892 5,334,019 (284,057) 1,701,501 1,417,444 31-Dec-18

Rwanda 
Investment 
Group 
Limited

3,192,290 18,050,301 331,369 2,166,921 2,048,141 773,201 9,648 782,849 31-Dec-18

Hostel 
2020 
Limited

2,761,445 5,867,441 288,081 - - (55,400) - (55,400) 31-Dec-18

Prime 
Economic 
Zones 
Limited

6,877,678 119,982,950 577,009 100,909,478 6,928,115 3,829,222 - 3,829,222 31-Dec-18

New 
Forest 
Company 
Limited

2,548,64 6 53,515,150 486,901 31,623,519 3,170,933 1,540,835 - 1,540,835 30-Jun-19

Rwanda 
Farmers 
Coffee 
Company 
Limited

133,787 1,222,138 68,522 186,938 402,134 342,438 - 342,438 31-Dec-18

Sopyrwa 5,698,874 30,290,672 2,857,459 1,448,010 4,356,752 173,514 - 173,514 31-Dec-18

As of 31 December, 2019 (continued) Investment at cost
Frw' 000

 Cumulative 
Change in Fair 

Value 
Frw' 000

Disposal
Frw' 000

Carrying Value 
Frw' 000

New Forest Company Limited 489,889 1,573,998 - 2,063,887
Rwanda Farmers Coffee Company Limited 530,309 (252,414) - 277,895
Trust Industries Limited 2,800,000 (2,800,000) - -
Rugarama Park Estate 1,903,596 - - 1,903,596
Crystal Telecom Limited 2,836,785 (945,595) - 1,891,190
Sopyrwa 499,999 674,880 - 1,174,879
Ziniya Project 424,673 - - 424,673
Kivu Marina 2,725,000 - - 2,725,000
Ndera Housing Project 147,221 - - 147,221

Banque de Développement des Etats de 
Grands Lacs 6,280 111,739 - 118,019

15,839,209 1,436,869 (410,000) 16,866,078

c) Equity investments at fair value through OCI
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As of 31 December 2018 Investment at cost
Frw' 000

 Cumulative 
Change in Fair Value 

Frw' 000

Carrying Value 
Frw' 000

Magerwa Limited 37,425 487,181 524,606
Multi-Sectoral Investment Group 375,000 45,345 420,345
Minimex Limited 275,000 (179,022) 95,978
Kigali City Park Limited 113,787 608,838 722,625
Rwanda Investment Group Limited 600,000 155,475 755,475
Hostel 2020 Limited 465,000 81,691 546,691
Prime Economic Zones Limited 1,098,320 722,415 1,820,735
Bank of Kigali Limited 502,925 615,580 1,118,505
Rwanda Stock Exchange 8,000 4,061 12,061
New Forest Company Limited 489,889 770,955 1,260,844
Rwanda Farmers Coffee Company Limited 530,309 (340,427) 189,882
Trust Industries Limited 2,800,000 (2,800,000) -
Rugarama Park Estate 1,903,596 - 1,903,596
Crystal Telecom Limited 2,836,785 (1,404,885) 1,431,900
Sopyrwa 499,999 668,447 1,168,446
Ziniya Project 424,673 - 424,673
Kivu Marina 2,275,000 - 2,275,000
Banque de Développement des Etats de Grands Lacs 6,279 (6,279) -

15,241,987 (570,625) 14,671,362

The following table shows movement in investment at cost during the period:

2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

As at 1 January 2019 15,241,987 9,061,821
Purchase of new shares 597,222 2,424,892
Disposal of shares* - -
Reclassifications - (519,227)
As at 31 December 2019 15,839,209 10,967,486

The new investment relates to acquisition of additional shares in KIVU Marina Bay Hotel.

*The disposal of shares happened during the period and is presented in a separate column (see position of 31 December 2019) 
to better provide a reconciliation of the investments at cost that existed at the start of the year.

The following table shows movement in cumulative change in fair value during the period ended:

2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

As at 1 January 2019 (570,627) 822,797
(Increase in fair values) Note 18 2,007,496 (1,393,421)

As at 31 December 2019 1,436,881 (570,624)

Equity investments at Fair Value through OCI (Continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

107ANNUAL REPORT   |   2019



18. Equity investments (Continued)

(b) Equity investments at fair value through OCI (Continued)

The equity investments are less than 20% of shareholding. Only Bank of Kigali and Crystal Telecom Limited are listed. 
The equity investments are measured at Fair value and in some instances the cost approximates the fair value. Dividends 
received have been recognized in other operating incomes as Dividends.

The following table provides a movement schedule in balances of Equity investments at fair value through OCI:

At fair value 
through OCI 2019

Frw' 000

 Available for sale
2018 

Frw' 000
At start of the year 14,671,362 15,270,159
Additions 187,220 500,000
Transfer from receivables - 323,596
Disposal - (35,250)
Unrealised Fair Value Loss 2,007,496 (1,387,143)

At end of the year 16,866,078 14,671,362
Listed 2,957,391 2,550,406
Unlisted 13,908,687 12,120,956

As at 31 December 2019 16,866,078 14,671,362

d) Fair Value estimation

FRS 13 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are 
observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources; unobservable 
inputs reflect the Bank's market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:

Fair value estimation was based on Valuation of shares for Bank of Kigali, Chrystal Telecom (CTL) as at end December 2019 
and for other equity investment the fair value was based on their 2018 financial performances

 Ҍ Level 1 – Fair value is determined using unadjusted quoted prices in an active market for identical assets and liabilities. 
Types of financial assets include: actively traded government and other agency securities, listed derivative instruments 
and listed equities. Types of financial liabilities include listed derivative instruments;

 Ҍ Level 2 – Fair value is determined using valuation models with directly or indirectly market observable inputs. Types of 
financial assets include: corporate and other government bonds and loans, and over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives. 
Types of financial liabilities include over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives;

 Ҍ Level 3 – Fair value is determined using Valuation models using significant non- market observable inputs. Types of 
financial assets include: highly structured OTC derivatives with unobservable parameters and corporate bonds in 
illiquid markets. Types of financial liabilities include highly structured OTC derivatives with unobservable parameters.
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18. Equity investments (Continued)

(d) Fair Value estimation (continued)

The following table presents the Company's financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value:
 
As at 31 December 2019:

Financial Assets Level 1
Frw' 000

 Level 2 
Frw' 000

Level 3
Frw' 000

Level 4 
Frw' 000

Investments in Associates (Note 18 (a) - - 12,510,086 12,510,086
Equity investments at fair value through OCI
(Note 18 (b))

2,957,391 - 13,908,687 16,866,078

Redeemable preference shares (Note 18 (c)) - - - -
Derivative instruments (Note 19) - 1,781,245 - 1,781,245
Total 2,957,391 1,781,245 26,418,773 31,157,409

As at 31 December 2018:

Financial Assets Level 1
Frw' 000

 Level 2 
Frw' 000

Level 3
Frw' 000

Level 4 
Frw' 000

Investments in Associates (Note 18 (a) - - 8,589,782 8,589,782
Equity investments at fair value through OCI
(Note 18 (b))

2,550,406 - 12,120,956 14,671,362

Redeemable preference shares (Note 18 (c)) - - - -
Derivative instruments (Note 19) - 1,536,315 - 1,536,315
Total 2,550,406 1,536,315 20,710,738 24,797,459

vii) Derivative Financial Instruments)

Derivatives are financial instruments that derive their value in response to changes in interest rates, financial instrument 
prices, commodity prices, foreign exchange rates, credit risk and indices.

The bank entered into an eight-year swap transaction with the National Bank of Rwanda that took effect on 22 December 
2015. In the SWAP transaction, the bank paid to National Bank of Rwanda US$ 7,500,000 which was swapped with Frw 
5,589,188,700. The Bank will receive interest of 2% on the US$7,500,000 investment and will pay interest of 8% to the 
National Bank of Rwanda on the Swapped local currency amount.

On 15 February 2016, the bank entered into a second eight year swap transaction with the National Bank of Rwanda. In this 
SWAP transaction, the bank paid to National Bank of Rwanda US$ 7,500,000 which was swapped with Frw 5,692,615,380. 
The Bank will receive interest of 2% on the US$ 7,500,000 investment and will pay interest of 8% to the National Bank of 
Rwanda on the Swapped local currency amount.

On 8 December 2016, the bank entered into a third ten year swap transaction with the National Bank of Rwanda. In the 
swap transaction, the bank paid to National Bank of Rwanda US$ 5,000,000 which was swapped with Frw 4,088,931,055. 
The Bank will receive interest of 2% on the US$5,000,000 investment and will pay interest of 8% to the National Bank of 
Rwanda on the Swapped local currency amount.
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18. Equity investments (Continued)

On 20th May 2019, the bank entered into a fourth three years swap transaction with the National Bank of Rwanda. In the 
swap transaction, the bank paid to National Bank of Rwanda US$ 3,000,000 which was swapped with Frw 2,680,114,305. 
The Bank will receive interest of 2% on the US$3,000,000 investment and will pay interest of 8% to the National Bank of 
Rwanda on the Swapped local currency amount.

In line with IFRS9 financial instruments (Swap) are carried at fair value. As at 31 December 2019, the fair value of the 
derivative financial instrument (swap) was a net asset of Frw 1,781,245 (2018: net asset of Frw 1,536,315). The bank’s 
exposure under derivative instruments is monitored as part of the overall management of its market risk.

19.  Derivative Financial Instruments 
The outstanding principal receipts and payments for the existing swap contracts and their respective fair values of the 
derivative asset or liability are as follows:

As at 31 December 2019:

Currency Swap Outstand ing USD 
principal receipts

Frw' 000

Outstand ing 
FRW principal 

payments 
Frw' 000

Fair Value of 
Asset

Frw' 000

Fair Value of 
Liability 

Frw' 000

Contract of 22.12.2015 3,956,825 3,213,868 742,957 -
Contract of 15.02.2016 3,956,825 3,273,340 683,486 -
Contract of 08.12.2016 3,467,023 3,103,593 363,430 -
Contract of 20.05.2019 2,802,002 2,810,629 - 8,627

Total 14,182,675 12,401,430 1,789,872 8,627

As at 31 December 2018:

Currency Swap Outstand ing USD 
principal receipts

Frw' 000

Outstand ing 
FRW principal 

payments 
Frw' 000

Fair Value of 
Asset

Frw' 000

Fair Value of 
Liability 

Frw' 000

Contract of 22.12.2015 4,713,586 4,020,921 692,665 -
Contract of 15.02.2016 4,713,586 4,095,327 618,259 -
Contract of 08.12.2016 3,744,533 3,519,142 225,391 -

Total 13,171,705 11,635,390 1,536,315 -

The following table provides a reconciliation of the change in the value of the net derivative financial instrument between 01 
January and 31 December:

2019
Frw' 000

2018 
Frw' 000

Balance of Net Derivative Asset/(Liability) as at 1 January 1,536,315 1,214,611
Receipts during the year under swaps contracts (2,648,335) (2,579,457)
Payments during the year under swaps contracts 2,888,952 3,050,769
Fair Value gain /(loss) under swaps contracts 4,313 (149,608)

Balance of Net Derivative Asset/(Liability) as at 31 December 1,781,245 1,536,315
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20. Other Assets

2019
Frw' 000

2018 
Frw' 000

Receivables from East African Exchange (EAX)* 2,000,000 2,000,000
Rwanda Agri-Business Industries assets (RABI) 1,024,051 1,024,051
Amounts due from Business Development Fund (BDF) 69,671 725,286
Interest receivable on Redeemable preference Shares 626,682 626,682
Amount due from Education 1,066,011 192,339
Receivables from the sale of Luthon Hotel - 500,000
Due from the Government of Rwanda and other taxes 70,242 146,495
Amounts due from RUGARAMA PARK ESTATES 64,731 62,694
Amounts advanced to Kinazi Cassava Plant Limited 32,626 -
Amount due from BRD Insurance Brokerage LTD 20,608 20,608
Staff benefit prepayment fair value adjustment for year 2,967,878 -
Other receivables 335,000 564,354
Prepayments 763,312 886,700
Amounts due from Minecofin – Africa Smart Investments - 600,000
Receivable from Agaciro Development Fund (9,698) -

Balance of Net Derivative Asset/(Liability) as at 31 December 9,031,114 7,349,209

Less: Expected credit losses (ECL)

At 1 January 2,280,726 2,583,417
ECL increase during the year - -
ECL written back during the year (241,758) (302,691)

2,038,968 2,280,726

Net other assets 6,992,146 5,068,483

*MINECOFIN provided a grant of Frw 2 billion (Note 26) to be advanced to EAX as a revolving working capital. The Bank through working 
with EAX, Its loan client, was tasked with recovering and re-advancing this revolving working capital from/to EAX.

The Balances are stated net of any assessed and recognized impairment provision.

21. (a) Non-Current Assets held for sale

2019
Frw' 000

2018 
Frw' 000

As at 1 January - -
Assets purchased 250,000 -

As at 31 December 250,000 -

Non-current asset held for sale represents assets previously held by the Bank as security on defaulted loans which the Bank 
acquired during the recovery process in line with article 21 of the Mortgage Law No 10/2009. The properties are in the 
process of being disposed in the open market. The Bank acquired through auction process Dayenu Hotel at an amount of 
Frw 250,000,000.
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21. (b) Investment properties

2019
Frw' 000

2018 
Frw' 000

At Start of year 21,015 1,037,015
Additions - -
Disposals - (1,016,000)
Less: decline in value - -

21,015 21,015

There is no disposals during the year and Frw 21,015 was relate to properties repossessed from CASSAVA COMPANY. The 
valuation of the investment property was based on adjusted sales comparison approach. The directors have determined 
these inputs based on the size and condition of the investment property.

The reported values for investment properties are all level 3 in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. There were no level 
1 or level 2 assets.

22. Intangible assets

Cost

Software

2019
Frw' 000 
Software 
Works in 
Progress

Total Software

 2018
Frw' 000 
Software 
Works in 
Progress

Total

At 1 January 1,200,549 115,564 1,316,113 568,498 686,400 1,254,898
Additions - 124,496 124,496 30,329 310,556 340,885
Write off * - - - - (198,650) (198,650)
Transfer to Software - - - 800,372 (800,372) -
Transfer from Work in Progress
to IT equipment

- - - - (81,020) (81,020)

At 31 December 1,200,549 240,060 1,440,609 1,200,549 115,564 1,316,113

Amortization

At 1 January (451,310) - (451,310) (462,368) - (462,368)
Charge for 2019 (171,487) - (171,487) (163,117) - (163,117)
Write off - - - 174,175 - 174,175
At 31 December (622,797) - (622,797) (451,310) - (451,310)

Net Book Value at 31 December 577,752 240,060 817,812 749,239 115,564 864,803

Intangible assets relate to computer software. The additions during the year relate to the expenditure made for the acquisition 
of the new core banking system and its peripherals.

The addition under Work In Progress relate to ERP oracle module under implementation during the year.
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Land and 
buildings 

IT 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Furniture 
& fittings

Works in 
progress Total

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000
Cost / valuation

As at 1 January 2019 13,142,565 600,618 220,103 565,000 503,649 15,031,935
Additions - 105,811 - 300 194,990 301,101
Disposal - - - - - -
Reclassifications - - - - (10,564) (10,564)

As at 31 December 2019 13,142,565 706,429 220,103 565,300 688,075 15,322,472

Depreciation
As at 1 January 2019 (124,407) (521,337) (204,176) (440,942) - (1,290,862)
Charge for the year (248,138) (117,004) (15,927) (28,344) - (409,413)
Write off - - - - - -
Removal of depreciation on Revalued 
Asset

- - - - - -

As at 31 December 2019 (372,545) (638,341) (220,103) (469,286) - (1,700,275)

Net Book Value as at 31 December 2019 12,770,020 68,088 - 96,014 688,075 13,622,197

Work in Progress relates to technical design for construction of a new building and partitioning for news offices

Land and 
buildings 

IT 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Furniture 
& fittings

Works in 
progress Total

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000
Cost / valuation

As at 1 January 2018 9,058,891 760,336 244,467 1,167,215 542,553 11,773,462
Additions - 20,797 - - - 20,797
Disposal (77,877) - - - - (77,877)
Revaluation 4,669,491 - - - - 4,669,491
Adjustments 539,665 - - (539,665) - -
Transfer from Software Work in progress - 81,020 - - - 81,020
Transfer from Work in Progress to Other 
assets*

- - - - (17,142) (17,142)

Transfer from Work in Progress - 21,762 - - (21,762) -
Write off - (283,297) (24,364) (62,550) - (370,211)
Removal of depreciation on Revalued 
Asset

(1,047,605) - - - - (1,047,605)

As at 31 December 2018 13,142,565 706,429 220,103 565,300 688,075 15,031,935

Depreciation
As at 1 January 2018 (924,393) (479,540) (178,590) (448,294) - (2,030,817)
Charge for the year (247,619) (185,828) (30,924) (35,827) - (500,198)
Write off - 144,031 5,338 43,179 - 192,548
Removal of depreciation on Revalued 
Asset

1,047,605 - - - - 1,047,605

As at 31 December 2018 (124,407) (521,337) (204,176) (440,942) - (1,290,862)

Net Book Value as at 31 December 2018 13,018,158 79,281 15,927 124,058 503,649 13,741,073

23.  Property and Equipment
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24. Other payables

2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

Advances from customers 1,394,896 1,359,685
Deferred service commissions 640,749 843,022
Deferred EGF interest income 155,326 208,229
Payments in transit 141,281 3,533
Statutory deductions payable 168,576 145,620
Other taxes payable 33,991 22,873
Amounts due to local creditors 49,037 49,037
Accrued expenses 192,085 152,407
Other payables 132,597 1,499,374
Provisions for off-balance sheet exposures - 12,827
Kreditanstalt Fur Wiederaufbau (KFW) 2,092,492 2,092,492
Amounts due to Business Development Fund Ltd 1,044,577 1,707,125
Amounts due to Banque Populaire Du Rwanda 3,214 36,205
At end of the year 6,048,821 8,101,429
Dividends payable 11,017 11,017

6,059,838 8,112,446

25. Borrowings

2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

Afrexim Bank 11,572,677 14,313,106
Shelter Afrique 7,295,144 8,463,022
East African Development Bank 13,221,268 16,511,994
European Investment Bank 19,303,982 4,958,162
African Development Bank (AFDB) 21,931,744 22,033,773
MINECOFIN – Tea growing 1,050,000 1,050,000
BADEA 14,531,367 14,640,694
BDEGL 13,671,616 9,980,762
GASHORA GIRLS INITIATIVE 295,214 264,210
Kreditanstalt Fur Wiederaufbau (KFW) – Borrowing 3,778,480 3,683,540
Trade and Development Bank (TDB) 2,327,892 3,068,162
Kenya Commercial Bank, Kenya 7,300,029 8,835,025
Rwanda Social Security Board (RSSB) 52,381,365 47,755,372
MINECOFIN (Rwanda Housing Finance Project) 6,906,864 -

175,567,542 155,557,822
Broken down as follows:

Current 38,582,021 38,372,008
Non – Current 136,985,521 117,185,814

175,567,542 155,557,822

The Bank has made all borrowings’ repayments that fell due during the year ended and the Bank has not given any security 
for the borrowings.
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25. Borrowings (Continued)

Lender Purpose Terms Maturity Date Currency 
Afrexim Bank Financing acceptable 

sub- borrowers engaged 
in trade and related 
activities in Rwanda

USD 10m – Aggregate of the six-month 
LIBOR, plus a margin of 5.05%
USD 10m – Aggregate of the six-month 
LIBOR, plus a margin of 5.05%

31 November 2021
31 October 2024

USD

Shelter Afrique Line of credit to finance 
construction of housing 
units in Rwanda

USD 7.6m – Aggregate of the six-month 
LIBOR plus a margin of 6.2%;
USD 10m – Aggregate of the six-month 
LIBOR plus a margin of 5.5%.

31 December 2022
30 June 2025

USD

East African 
Development 
Bank

Line of credit facility to 
finance eligible projects

USD 5m for 8 years , at an interest rate of 
Aggregate of the six-month LIBOR, plus a 
margin of 5.2%;
USD 10M for 8 years at an interest rate of 
7.255%;
USD 15M for 8 years at an interest rate of 
6.755%

01 June 2021 01 
December 2023
25 March 2024

USD

European 
Investment Bank

Line of credit facility to 
finance up to 50% of 
eligible projects

USD 9.3m at – Aggregate of the six-month 
LIBOR, plus a margin of 1.36%
USD 16.5m at – Aggregate of the six-month 
LIBOR, plus a margin of 1.903%

28 February 2023
31st August 2029

USD

African 
Development 
Bank (AFDB)

Line of credit facility to 
finance eligible projects 
primarily, SMEs

USD 8m – Aggregate of the six-month 
LIBOR, plus a margin of 4.67%
USD 20m – Aggregate of the six-month 
LIBOR, plus a margin of 4.67%

01February 2023
01 August 2027

USD

BADEA To finance SMEs and MFIs USD 15m – Aggregate of the six-month 
LIBOR, plus a margin of 5.0%;
USD 3.5m – 2%

1 May 2026 10 July 
2029

USD

BDEGL To finance SMEs and MFIs USD 5m at 7.0% 
USD 5m at 7.0% 
USD 8.6m at 5.0%

31 December 2022
01 November 2027
01 November 2023

USD

Rwanda Social 
Security Board 
(RSSB)

Term deposits to finance 
eligible projects

FRW 58,840m – at an effective interest rate 
of 10.47%

1 July 2032 FRW

Ministry of 
Finance and 
Economic 
Planning-Tea 
growing

Financing five tea 
growing projects

FRW 1,050m – At 0% 31 December 2024 FRW

Gashora Girls 
Initiative

Financing of higher 
education for Rwandan 
girls

USD 240,000 at 8% 11 October 2027 USD

Kreditanstalt Fur 
Wiederaufbau 
(KFW)

Promoting growth and 
export oriented small 
and medium enterprises 
(SMEs) in Rwanda

FRW 3,650,400,000 at 3.076% 2027–2028 FRW

Eastern and 
Southern African 
Trade and 
Development 
Bank (TDB)

Line of credit facility to 
finance eligible projects

USD 5m – Aggregate of the three-month 
LIBOR, plus a margin of 6.5%

30 June 2023 USD

Kenya 
Commercial Bank

To enable Rwanda 
Development Bank to 
finance Bugesera Airport 
project.

USD 10m – Aggregate of the one-year 
LIBOR, plus a margin of 3%

April and June 2019 USD
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25.1 Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Year Ended 31 December 2019:
1 January 

2019 Additions Repayments

Foreign 
Exchange 

Movement
Accrued 
Interest

31 December 
2019

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000
Borrowings 155,557,822 38,582,021 (32,081,728) 836,015 12,673,412 175,567,542
Special funds 6,495,710 2,067,036 (6,462) 23 - 8,556,307
Grants 2,713,835 47,513 (198,564) 437 - 2,563,221

As at 31 December 2019 164,767,367 40,605,570 (32,286,754) 836,475 12,673,412 186,687,070

26. Special funds

2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

Microfinance Funds – Belgium Cooperation 1,371,483 1,371,483
Business plan competition fund/PSF 123,776 123,776
KFW line of credit Investment fund 630,828 666,958
Rural Investment Facility 486,472 492,934
FIFAPI ROPARWA fund 892,581 892,581
MINAGRI-Belgium cooperation fund 262,084 262,084
MINAGRI/KWAMP Fund 439 418
SME technical assistance fund 423,468 414,015
Other special funds  2,775,604 1,212,620
FONERWA 788,200 788,200
KFW/Kreditanstalt Fur Wiederaufbau 306,539 270,409
Business Plan Competition II 232 232
NAEB Export Guarantee Fund* 461,259 -
Government of Rwanda public fund 33,342 -

8,556,307 6,495,710

The above balances are all non – current.

* NAEB Export Guarantee Fund is a guarantee fund put in place to facilitate the Rwandan horticulture exporters to have access 
to finance by increasing outputs in this sector.

Fund Details

Government of Rwanda Public fund Granted by the government through the Ministry of Finance and Economic 
Planning to facilitate financing of export, microfinance and mortgage related 
projects

Microfinance Funds – Belgium Cooperation Granted by Belgium Cooperation for technical assistance and capacity 
building of microfinance institutions

Business plan competition fund/PSF Fund from Private Sector Federation for technical assistance to startup 
projects

KFW line of credit Investment fund Fund from KFW used to promote training, technical assistance, financing. 
Forms part of the guarantee to SMEs

Rural Investment Facility Granted by the government through the Poverty Reduction Strategy Grant 
to finance agro related industries and other related projects

Education promotion fund Granted by the government through the Ministry of Education
on the implementation of the Education Promotion Fund
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26. Special funds (Continued)
FIFAPI ROPARWA fund Granted by ROPARWA ( Le Reseau des Organisations

Paysannes du Rwanda) for strengthening the capacity of farmers’ 
organizations

MINAGRI-PDCRE fund Fund through the government of Rwanda from the International Fund for 
Agricultural Development yto maximize and diversify the revenues of the 
poorer growers of cash crops, thus promoting commercial transformation 
activities and financially viable market

MINAGRI Fertilizer fund Fund from the government via the Ministry of Agriculture and Animal 
ResourcesFinance purchase of fertilizer by farmers in Rwanda

MINAGRI-Belgium cooperation fund Fund from Belgium cooperation via the Ministry of Agriculture and Animal 
Resources for financing microfinance sector

MINAGRI/KWAMP Fund Kirehe Community Based Watershed Management Project (KWAMP) is a 
fund from the Ministry of Agriculture and Animal Resources for building 
watersheds in Kirehe District, using funds from the International Fund for 
Agricultural Development (IFAD)

FONERWA Fund Financing to finance private sector projects in Clean Technology 
environmental sustainability, & Climate Resilient and green investments

KFW/Kreditanstalt Fur Wiederaufbau Fund for promoting growth and export oriented small and Medium 
Enterprises in Rwanda

World Bank Technical Assistance Fund Fund to assist BRD in Scaling up Renewable Energy Program under the 
Strategic Climate Fund

Other Special Funds Other special Funds relate to Fund FAD I, FED I, BEI II, BPC II of Frw 56m 
(2017 : Frw 56m) and Export Growth Funds from MINECOFIN of Frw 
1,156,517m (2017 : Frw 271,690m)

NAEB Funds to facilitate the Rwandan horticulture exporters to have access to 
finance by increasing outputs for only horticulture exports.

27. Grants

2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

Belgium Co- operation microfinance 209,875 209,875
UNDP grant for MFIs 107,545 107,545
Fapa Grant 9,257 8,820
PASP Grant 38,880 116,773
PRICE Grant 24,240 24,240
RAB Grant 9,011 50,126
BDEGL II Capacity Building Grant 22,706 30,154
World Bank Technical Assitance Fund 84,667 164,223
Minecofin – East African Exchange 2,002,079 2,002,079
Rwanda Housing Finance technical assistance 54,961 -

2,563,221 2,713,835

Grant Details

The Belgium Co- operation Microfinance The Belgium cooperation grant is used for technical assistance and capacity 
building to microfinance institutions or for the Bank’s operating expenses 
related to microfinance support

UNDP Grant The UNDP Grant is a refinancing facility for capacity building of MFIs under 
the Building Inclusive Financial Sector in Rwanda
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27. Grants (Continued)
FAPA Grant The purpose of this grant is to finance certain expenditures required for 

provision of technical assistance for capacity building that will contribute to 
strengthening BRD’s capacity and enabling it to contribute more efficiently 
and effectively to the economic development of Rwanda

PASP Grant The PASP grant, Post-harvest and Agribusiness support project, primary 
objective is to increase smallholder and rural labourer incomes (including 
women, youth and vulnerable groups) from CIP crops and dairy businesses 
by supporting aggregation of production for markets, transformation, and 
value-addition to enable smallholders to capture a higher share of the value. 
The project’s primary focus is the facilitation of inclusive business activities 
that can thrive on increased agricultural production from CIP crops and dairy 
development

Price Grant The purpose of this grant is to raise smallholder farmer’s incomes through 
greater sustainable by increasing the volume and quality of crop production, 
improve marketing and more effective famer organisations

RAB Grant In partnership with the PASP project, this grant was provided for the climate 
resilient processing plant project

MINECOFIN – EAX MINECOFIN provided a grant of Frw 2 billion to be advanced to EAX as 
a revolving working capital. The Bank through working with EAX, Its loan 
client, was tasked with recovering (Note 19) and re-advancing this revolving 
working capital from/to EAX

Rwanda Housing technical assistance The purpose of the grant is to provide technical assistance to Rwanda 
housing projects 

28.  Share Capital and Share Premium

(a) Share Capital Number 
of shares

Par value Total 
Frw' 000

As at 1 January 2019 39,100,308 1,000 39,100,308
Issued shares 3,561,377 1,000 3,561,377

As at 31 December 2019 42,661,685 1,000 42,661,685

As at 1 January 2018 7,258,230 1,000 7,258,230
Issued shares 31,842,077 1,000 31,842,077
Prorata issue of bought back shares 550,701 1,000 550,701

As at 31 December 2018 39,100,308 1,000 39,100,308

Authorized share capital

On September 19, 2016 an extra ordinary meeting of the shareholders of the bank approved for the increase of share capital of 
the bank from Frw 7.8billion to Frw 57.8 billion. This increase has been approved by the General Assembly of the Shareholders 
and the majority shareholders have indicated their respective commitments and when that is planned to be paid up. The two 
main shareholders, Government of Rwanda (GoR) and Rwanda Social Security Board (RSSB) injected additional share capital 
during the year ended 31 December 2018. GoR injected Frw 4,257,592,150 while RSSB injected Frw 15 billion during the period 
out of which Frw 5 billion was in form of cash and Frw 10 billion was converted from borrowings owed to RSSB by the Bank. 
Additionally, special funds worth Frw 12billion were converted to Share capital from Government of Rwanda.in addition to 
that in 25 December 2019 GoR injected Frw 3,561,377,325 as a new plan to support the bank for the next 7 fiscal years starting 
from the fiscal year 2019/2020.

The authorized share capital registered with Rwanda development Board is 57,808,931 shares at Rwf 1,000 each.
All shareholders have the same voting rights during annual and general meetings which is equal to the number of paid up 
shares held by the member.
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28.  Share Capital and Share Premium (Continued)

(b) Share Premium
IShare Premium 11,665,569 11,665,569

The share premium arose on the purchase of shares by one of the minority shareholders and, Government of Rwanda debt 
to CSR from the export promotion fund, Rwanda Social Security Board Debt outstanding by BRD and on the share swap with 

Magerwa.

29. Other reserves

2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

Revaluation reserves 10,911,748 10,911,747
Legal reserves 1,088,127 1,088,127
Ordinary reserves 232,561 232,561
Fair value reserve* 4,201,869 (1,408,151)
Supplementary capital reserve 11,510,321 11,510,322

27,944,626 22,334,606

Movements in other reserves are shown on the statement of changes in equity.

The revaluation surplus represents the surplus on the revaluation of buildings and freehold land and is non-distributable.

In accordance with Article 9 of law No 15/91 of April 1991 related to modification of law of August 5, 1967 creating BRD, legal 

reserves are mandatory and computed by deducting 5% of net profit after off-setting of previous losses until reserves amount 

to 10% of share capital. The reserve is not distributable. No new reserves have been transferred during the year 2018 and year 

2019 as the legal reserves are above the 10% of the share capital as at 31 December 2018 and as at 31 December 2019.

Ordinary reserves are voluntary reserves made by the Bank’s shareholders. The percentage of transfer to be made is deter-

mined by the board of directors.

Supplementary capital reserve relates to a Government of Rwanda subordinated debt that was converted into equity follow-

ing a Government of Rwanda decision in 2010. The reserve is not distributable.

*Fair value reserves represent fair value gains on Equity investments at fair value through OCI and are not distributable. fair val-

ue was base on Valuation of Bank of Kigali, Crystal Telecom (CTL) Shares September 2019 and others , the fair value was base 

on valuation of 2018 financial statements.

Fair value gain/(loss) on equity investments at FVOCI

2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

Bank of Kigali (BoK) (52,304) (88,516)
Crystal Telecom (CTL) 459,289 (351,221)
Multi-sector investment group (MIG) (10,341) (192,164)
Minimex 194,890 (47,589)

Prime Economic Zone 365,002 227,526
Rwanda Farmers Coffee Company (RFCC) 88,013 33,285
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29. Other reserves (Continued)

Rwanda Stock Exchange (RSE)

1,779 (4,851)

New Forest Company (NFC) 803,042 (931,702)
Magerwa Limited (25,990) 6,117
Rwanda Investment Group Limited 59,200 (28,177)
Hostel 2020 Limited (Edge Hostels) 465 -
Sopyrwa 6,433 (9,851)
BDEGL 118,018 -

2,007,496 (1,387,143)

30.  Financial Risk Management
       
(A) Introduction and overview

The Bank has exposure to the following risks as a result of its operations and from its use of financial instruments:

● Credit risk;

● Liquidity risk; and

● Market risk

This note presents information about the Bank’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Bank’s objectives, policies and 

processes for measuring and managing risk and the Bank’s management of capital.

Risk management framework
The Bank’s board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Bank’s risk management 
framework. The board has established the Risk Committee, Credit Risk Committee and the Risk Management Division which 
are responsible for developing and monitoring the risk management policies in their specified areas. The Board Risk Com-
mittee has both executive and non- executive members and reports regularly to the Board of Directors on their activities.

The Bank’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Bank, to set appropriate 
risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed 
regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered. The Bank through its procedures aims to 
develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The estimation of credit exposure is complex and requires the use of models, as the value of a product varies with changes 
in market variables, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of assets entails 
further estimations as to the likelihood of defaults occurring, of the associated loss ratios and of default correlations between 
counterparties.

The Bank’s Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Bank’s risk management policies and proce-
dures, and for reviewing the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Bank. The Board 
Audit Committee is assisted in these functions by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of 
risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

The Bank also seeks to raise its interest margins by obtaining above-average margins, net of allowances, through lending to 
commercial and retail borrowers with a good credit standing. The Bank also enters into financial guarantee contracts which 
are commitments in the form of letters of credit that it discloses as off-balance sheet items.

B) Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any of the Bank’s customers, clients or market counterparties fail to 
fulfil their contractual obligations to the Bank. Credit risk arises mainly from commercial and loans and advances and loan 
commitments arising from such lending activities, but can also arise from credit enhancement provided, such as financial 
guarantees, letters of credit and acceptances.
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30.  Financial Risk Management (Continued)

The Bank is also exposed to other credit risks arising from investments in debt securities and other exposures arising from its 
trading activities (‘trading exposures’), including settlement balances with market counterparties.

Credit risk is the single largest risk for the Bank’s business; management therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit 
risk. The credit risk management and control are centralized in a credit risk management team, which reports to the Board of 
Directors through the Chief Executive Officer and head of each business unit regularly.

Impairment assessment (Policy applicable from 1 January 2018).

i. Credit risk measurement

(a) Loans and advances (Including commitments and guarantees)
The estimation of credit exposure is complex and requires the use of models, as the value of a product varies with changes 
in market variables, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of assets entails 
further estimations as to the likelihood of defaults occurring, of the associated loss ratios and of default correlations between 
counterparties.

The Bank measures credit risk using Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss Given Default (LGD). This 
is similar to the approach used for the purposes of measuring Expected Credit Loss (ECL) under IFRS 9. Refer to note 30 (B) 
(ii) for more details.

Credit risk grading
The Bank uses the National Bank of Rwanda (BNR) credit risk gradings to reflect its assessment of the probability of default 
of individual counterparties. The facilities are rated as either performing, watch, substandard, doubtful or loss, based on the 
number of days overdue. The classification criteria are as follows:

Performing
These are credit facilities which are up to date in payments. Where there are no fixed payments, these are facilities that are 
operating within their approval limits and are unexpired.

Watch
These are credit facilities where principal or interest is due and unpaid for 30 days to 89 days, or for facilities with no fixed 
payments, the approval limit has been exceeded by 30 days to 89 days, or the credit line has expired for more than 30 days 
to 89 days.

Substandard
Bank’s exposure.
These are loan balances due for 90 days but less than 180 days. They are also those credit facilities that display well-defined 
credit weaknesses that jeopardize the liquidation of the debt such as inadequate cash flow to service the debt, undercap-
italized or insufficient working capital, absence of adequate financial information or security documentation and irregular 
payment of principal or interest.

Doubtful
These are loan balances that are more than 180 days but less than 365 days overdue. They are also those credit facilities 
which, in addition to the weaknesses existing in substandard credits, have deteriorated to the extent that full repayment is 
unlikely or that realizable security values will be insufficient to cover the Loss
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30.  Financial Risk Management (Continued)

These are loans that are more than 365 days overdue. These are also those credit facilities that are considered uncollectable 
or which may have some recovery value, but it is not considered practicable nor desirable to defer write off. They are also 
accounts classified as “Doubtful” with little or no improvement over the period it has been classified as such.

The credit grades are calibrated such that the risk of default increases exponentially at each higher risk grade. Once a facility 
is classified as substandard, the probability of default reaches 100%.

ii.Expected credit loss measurement
IFRS 9 outlines a 'three-stage' model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition as summarized 
below:

 Ҍ A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in 'Stage 1' and has its credit risk 

continuously monitored by the Bank;

 Ҍ If a significant increase in credit risk ('SICR') since initial recognition is identified, the financial instrument is moved to 

'Stage 2' but is not yet deemed to be credit impaired. Please refer to note 30 (B) (ii) (a) for a description of how the Bank 

determines when a significant increase in credit risk has occurred;

 Ҍ If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to 'Stage 3'. Please refer to note 30 (B) 

(ii) (b) for a description of how the Bank defines credit-impaired and default;

 Ҍ Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected credit 

losses that result from default events possible within the next 12 months. Instruments in Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL 

measured based on expected credit losses on a lifetime basis. Please refer to note 30 (B) (ii) (c) for a description of inputs, 

assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring the ECL;

 Ҍ A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should consider forward-looking information. 

Note 30 (B) (ii) (d) includes an explanation of how the Bank has incorporated this in its ECL models;

 Ҍ Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets are those financial assets that are credit-impaired on initial 

recognition. Their ECL is always measured on a lifetime basis (Stage 3);

The following diagram summarizes the impairment requirements under IFRS 9 (other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets):

Change in credit quality since initial recognition

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

(Initial recognition) (Significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition)

Credit-impaired assets

12-month expected credit losses Lifetime expected credit losses Lifetime expected credit losses

The key judgements and assumptions adopted by the Bank in addressing the requirements of the standard are discussed 

below:
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30.  Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(a) Significant Increase in Credit risk (SICR)
The Bank continuously monitors all assets subject to ECLs. In order to determine whether an instrument or a portfolio of in-
struments is subject to 12mECL or LTECL, the Bank assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition. The Bank considers a financial instrument to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk when one 
or more of the following quantitative or qualitative criteria have been met:

 Ҍ For the Bank loan assets, if the borrower meets one or more of the following criteria:

 Ҍ In short-term forbearance

 Ҍ Significant adverse changes in business, financial and/or economic conditions in which the

 Ҍ borrower operates;

 Ҍ Actual or expected significant adverse change in operating results of the borrower;

 Ҍ Significant change in collateral value (secured facilities only) which is expected to increase risk of default;

 Ҍ Early signs of cashflow/liquidity problems such as delay in servicing of trade creditors/loans.

The assessment of SICR incorporates forward-looking information (refer to note 30 (B) (ii) (d) for further information) and is 
performed on a quarterly basis at each contract level for all loan instruments held by the Bank. The criteria used to identify 
SICR are monitored and reviewed periodically for appropriateness by management.

Backstop
A backstop is applied, and the financial instrument considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk if the 
borrower is more than 30 days past due on its contractual payments.

The Bank has not used the low credit risk exemption for any financial instruments in the period ended 31 December 2019.

(b) Definition of Default and credit impaired assets
The Bank defines a financial instrument as in default, which is fully aligned with the definition of credit- impaired, when it 

meets one or more of the following criteria:

Qualitative criteria:
The borrower meets unlikeliness to pay criteria, which indicates the borrower is in significant financial difficulty. These are 

instances where: The borrower is in long-term forbearance;

 Ҍ The borrower is deceased;

 Ҍ The borrower is insolvent;

 Ҍ The borrower is in breach of financial covenant(s);

 Ҍ Concessions have been made by the lender relating to the borrower's financial difficulty;

 Ҍ It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy.

The criteria above have been applied to all financial instruments held by the Bank and are consistent with the definition of 
default used for internal credit risk management purposes. The default definition has been applied consistently to model 
the Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss given Default (LGD) throughout the Bank's expected loss 
calculations.
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30.  Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c) Measuring ECL — Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques
The Expected Credit Loss (ECL) is measured on either a 12-month (12M) or Lifetime basis depending on whether a significant 
increase in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition or whether an asset is considered to be credit-impaired. Expected 
credit losses are the discounted product of the Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD), and Loss Given Default 
(LGD), defined as follows:

 Ҍ The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation (as per "Definition of default and cred-

it-impaired" above), either over the next 12 months (12M PD), or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the obligation;

 Ҍ EAD is based on the amounts the Bank expects to be owed at the time of default, over the next 12 months (12M EAD) or 

over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime EAD);

 Ҍ Loss Given Default (LGD) represents the Bank's expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted exposure. LGD varies by 

type of counterparty, type and seniority of claim and availability of collateral or other credit support. LGD is expressed 

as a percentage loss per unit of exposure at the time of default (EAD). LGD is calculated on a 12-month or lifetime basis, 

where 12-month LGD is the percentage of loss expected to be made if the default occurs in the next 12 months and 

Lifetime LGD is the percentage of loss expected to be made if the default occurs over the remaining expected lifetime 

of the loan.

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD and EAD for each future month and for each individual exposure or collec-
tive segment. These three components are multiplied together and adjusted for the likelihood of survival (i.e. the exposure 
has not prepaid or defaulted in an earlier month). This effectively calculates an ECL for each future month, which is then 
discounted back to the reporting date and summed. The discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the original effective 
interest rate or an approximation thereof.

ii. Expected credit loss measurement (Continued)
The Lifetime PD is developed by applying a maturity profile to the current 12M PD. The maturity profile looks at how defaults 
develop on a portfolio from the point of initial recognition throughout the lifetime of the loans. The maturity profile is based 
on historical observed data and is assumed to be the same across all assets within a portfolio and credit grade band. This 
is supported by historical analysis. The 12-month and lifetime EADs are determined based on the expected payment profile:

 Ҍ For amortizing products and bullet repayment loans, this is based on the contractual repayments owed by the borrower 
over a 12month or lifetime basis. This will also be adjusted for any expected overpayments made by a borrower. Early 
repayment/refinance assumptions are also incorporated into the calculation.

The 12-month and lifetime LGDs are determined based on the factors which impact therecoveries made post default. These 
vary by product type:

 Ҍ For secured products, this is primarily based on collateral type and projected collateral values,

 Ҍ historical discounts to market/book values due to forced sales, time to repossession and recovery costs observed;

 Ҍ The Loss Given Write off (LGW) has been assumed to be 100% for the unsecured portfolio.

To consider macroeconomic factors, a downside LGD was estimated. This is the LGD that would occur in case there was an 
economic downturn. This is because during a downturn, recovery cash flows will most likely be less than would be the case 
under normal circumstances.

For this model, the formula used to estimate the downside LGD is the US Federal Reserve Formula. That is: Downside LGD= 
(0.92 x LGD) + 0.08
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30.  Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

The Bank will continue to capture data on the recovery cash flows experienced during economic downturns and compare 
this to the recovery cash flows received during normal economic periods. This will enable a more accurate estimate of the 
downside LGD.

(d) Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models
The preferred approach to determine macroeconomic assumptions is to develop regression models that develop correla-
tions between various macroeconomic indicators and the PDs, LGDs and EADs. In case a bank cannot come up with a credi-

ble economic model, then IFRS 9 allows the bank to apply management judgment.

The Bank estimates the effect macroeconomic factors would have on the bank’s loan portfolio as follows:

PD – A macroeconomic overlay was applied to the PD determined for each Point in Time thus adjusting it to reflect forward 
looking information. The size of the overlay was influenced by the economic scenario. For the applied ECL model, 3 different 
economic scenarios were applied. These economic scenarios are:

i. Base scenario – This incorporates aggressive assumptions that are expected to result in the most ideal probability of 

default outcome;

ii. Optimistic scenario - This is incorporating prudent assumptions that are expected to result in a lower probability of 

default outcome;

iii. Pessimistic scenario - This is incorporating basic assumptions that are expected to result in a higher probability of 

default outcome.

 Ҍ LGD – A downside LGD estimate was estimated by applying the Fed formula as shown in section 30 (B) (ii) (c) Measuring 

ECL — Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques;

 Ҍ EAD – the EAD used in the model does not take into account any forward-looking information in respect of prepayment 

and refinancing rates but rather assumes a contractual rundown of the facilities. This is due to the characteristics of the 

bank’s loan assets that provide less and limited data to reasonably estimate those rates;

 Ҍ ECL – Three economic scenarios were run and a probability weighted ECL was then determined by applying weights to 

each of these scenarios. The weights reflected management’s view of the likelihood of each of the 3 economic scenarios 

occurring.

Other forward-looking considerations not otherwise incorporated within the above scenarios, such as the impact of any 
regulatory, legislative or political changes, have also been considered, but are not deemed to have a material impact and 
therefore no adjustment has been made to the ECL for such factors. This is reviewed and monitored for appropriateness on 
a quarterly basis.

Sensitivity Analysis

The most significant assumptions affecting the ECL allowance are as follows:

(i) Collateral haircuts, and

(ii) Time to realization of collaterals
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30.  Financial Risk Management (Continued)

Set out below are the changes to the ECL as at 31 December 2019 that would result from reasonably possible changes in these 
parameters from the actual assumptions used in the Bank's economic variable assumptions (for example, the impact on ECL 
of increasing the estimated recovery period by 1 year mainly on commercial and residential properties in each of the base, 
optimistic and pessimistic scenarios):

Time to realization: The directors have assumed a time to realization of two years for commercial and residential properties. If 
the time to realization is increased to three years, the estimated credit loss would increase by Frw 2,950 million.

Sensitivity Analysis
Collateral haircuts: The directors have assumed collateral haircuts of 50% for commercial and 30% for residential properties. 
If the haircuts are increased by 1,000 basis points, the expected credit loss would increase by Frw 4,465 million.

iii. Credit Risk Exposure

(a) Maximum exposure to credit risk — Financial assets subject to ECL
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, 
leading to a financial loss. The Bank is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily loans and advances) and 
from its financing activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions and other 
financial instruments.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date to measure expected credit losses. The maximum exposure to 
credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets as disclosed below.

The following table contain an analysis of the credit risk exposure of financial instruments for which an ECL allowance is rec-
ognized. The gross carrying amount of financial assets below represents the Bank's maximum exposure to credit risk on these 
assets.

ECL Staging
Stage  1 

2019
Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

2018

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000
Normal 130,587,438 655,245 - 131,242,683 69,378,568
Watch 8,208,523 12,155,346 1,565,647 21,929,517 68,413,031
Default 2,189,555 1,307,159 10,618,303 14,115,017 39,831,165
Gross 140,985,516 14,117,750 12,183,950 167,287,216 177,622,764

Less:
ECL allowance (2,107,515) (838,716) (1,140,284) (4,086,515) (12,765,719)

Interests in suspense - (308,440) (2,447,653) (2,756,093) (7,185,047)

Staff Benefit fair value 
adjustment

(3,118,390) - - (3,118,390) -

Carrying amount 135,759,611 12,970,594 8,596,013 157,326,218 157,671,998

(b) Maximum exposure to credit risk — Financial assets not subject to ECL
The maximum credit risk exposure from financial assets not subject to ECL impairment (i.e. at FVTPL and FVTOCI) are as 
follows:
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30.  Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

Fair value gain/(loss) on equity investments at FVOCI

2019
Frw' 000

 2018 
Frw' 000

Equity investments at FVTOCI 16,866,078 14,671,362
Derivative financial instruments 1,781,245 1,536,315

18,647,323 16,207,677

(c) Collateral and other credit enhancements
The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The Bank seeks to use collateral, where possible, 
to mitigate its risks on financials assets. The most common of these is accepting collateral for granted loans and advances. 
The Bank has internal policies on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation.

(B) Credit Risk (Continued)

iii. Credit Risk Exposure (Continued)
The Bank prepares a valuation of the collateral obtained as part of the loan origination process. The fair value is general 
assessed at inceptions and is reviewed periodically. To the extent possible, the Bank uses active market data for valuing 
financial assets. However, some collateral, for example, cash or securities relating to margining requirements, is valued 
daily. Collateral, unless repossessed, is not recorded on the Bank’s statement of financial position. However, the fair value of 
collateral affects the calculation of ECLs.

The principal collateral types for loans and advances are:

 Ҍ Mortgages over residential and commercial properties; Charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and 

accounts receivable;

 Ҍ Commitments and letters of undertaking from the Government of Rwanda and othercorporations; and

 Ҍ Local and foreign credit guarantees

Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are generally secured.

The Bank’s accounting policy for collateral assigned to it through its lending arrangements under IFRS 9.

(c) Collateral and other credit enhancements
The Bank closely monitors collateral held for financial assets considered to be credit-impaired, as it becomes more likely that 
the Bank will take possession of collateral to mitigate potential credit losses. Financial assets that are credit-impaired and 

related collateral held to mitigate potential losses as at 31 December 2019 are shown below:

2019 Gross amount ECL Allowance Interests in 
suspense

Carrying 
Amount

Discounted 
Fair Value of 

collaterals
Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Stage 1 140,985,516 (2,107,515) - 138,878,001 345,653,154
Stage 2 14,117,750 (838,716) - 13,279,034 41,279,584
Stage 3 12,183,950 (1,140,284) (2,756,093) 8,287,573 27,307,986

Gross 167,287,216 (4,086,515) (2,756,093) 160,444,608 414,240,724
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30.  Financial Risk Management (Continued)

2018 Gross amount ECL Allowance Interests in 
suspense

Carrying 
Amount

Discounted 
Fair Value of 

collaterals
Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Stage 1 122,165,313 (1,012,670) - 121,152,643 132,479,589

Stage 2 17,394,561 (1,618,200) - 15,776,361 16,752,765

Stage 3 38,062,890 (10,134,849) (7,185,047) 20,742,994 23,548,366

177,622,764 (12,765,719) (7,185,047) 157,671,998 172,780,720

(B) Credit Risk (Contiued)

ECL allowance reconcilation Stage I
12 - Month ECL

Stage II
Lifetime ECL

Stage III
Lifetime ECL

Total

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Balance as at 1 January 2019 1,012,670 1,618,200 10,134,849 12,765,719

Stage transfer

Stage 1 to stage 2 - (399,826) - (399,826)

Stage 1 to stage 3 - - (14,085) (14,085)

Stage 2 to stage 3 (413,700) (1,195,268) (46,129) (1,655,097)

Stage 2 to stage 1 3,499 - - 3,499

Stage 3 to stage 1 27,410 - - 27,410

Stage 3 to stage 2 - 12,700 - 12,700

Allowance on new Loan and Advance 1,359,482 814,853 34,575 2,208,910

Charge during the Period (with no 
stage movement)

118,154 (11,943) (2,081) 104,130

Write off during the Period - - (8,966,845) (8,966,845)

Total charge to P&L 1,094,845 (779,484) (8,994,565) 8,679,204

Balance as at 31 December 2019 2,107,515 838,716 1,140,284 4,086,515

iv. Loss Allowance

The loss allowance recognised in the period is impacted by a variety of factors, as described below:

 Ҍ Transfers between Stage 1 and Stages 2 or 3 due to financial instruments experiencing significant increases (or decreases) 

of credit risk or becoming credit-impaired in the period, and the consequent "step up" (or "step down") between 

12-month and Lifetime ECL;

 Ҍ Additional allowances for new financial instruments recognised during the period, as well asreleases for financial 

instruments de-recognised in the period;

 Ҍ Impact on the measurement of ECL due to changes in PDs, EADs and LGDs in the period, arising from regular refreshing 

of inputs to models;

 Ҍ Impacts on the measurement of ECL due to changes made to models and assumptions;

 Ҍ Financial assets derecognised during the period and write-offs of allowances related to assets that were written off 

during the period.
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30.  Financial Risk Management (Continued)

v. Write – off Policy
The Bank writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical recovery efforts and has concluded 
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include:

 Ҍ Ceasing enforcement activity; and

 Ҍ Where the Bank's recovery method is foreclosing on collateral and the value of the collateral is such that there is no 

reasonable expectation of recovering in full.

The Bank may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity and subsequently seek to recover amounts 
it is legally owed in full, but which have been partially written off due to no reasonable expectation of full recovery.

vi. Restructuring of financial assets
The Bank sometimes restructures terms of loans provided to customers due to commercial renegotiations, or for distressed 
loans, with a view to maximizing recovery. Such restructuring activities include extended payment term arrangements 
and payment holidays. Restructuring policies and practices are based on indicators or criteria which, in the judgement of 
management, indicate that payment will most likely continue. These policies are kept under continuous review.

The risk of default of such assets after restructuring is assessed at the reporting date and compared with the risk under the 
original terms at initial recognition, when the restructuring is not substantial and so does not result in derecognition of the 
original asset. The Bank monitors the subsequent performance of restructured assets. The Bank may determine that the credit 
risk has significantly improved after restructuring, so that the assets are moved from Stage 3 or Stage 2 (Lifetime ECL) to Stage 
1 (12-month ECL).

vii. Concentration of credit risk
The Bank’s concentrations of risk are managed by priority sectors which are Agriculture, Export, Energy, Education, Housing 
and Infrastructure. The Bank intervenes in key sectors of the economy and its loan portfolio as at 31 December was distributed 
among different economic sectors as follows:

2019 
Frw’ 000

% 2018
Frw’ 000

%

Agriculture 17,858,812 11% 17,887,020 10%

Export 43,540,667 25% 61,392,249 35%

Energy 22,489,392 13% 6,978,204 4%

Education 8,834,905 5% 10,298,086 6%

Housing 5,883,951 4% 5,711,939 3%

SP & Infrastructure 68,679,489 41% 75,355,266 42%

Gross loans 167,287,216 100% 177,622,764 100%

(D) Liquidity Risk
The Bank is set up a Development Bank and mainly objective is to obtain funds to lend to priority sectors in the economy. 
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Liquidity risk arises because of the possibility that 
the Bank might be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due as a result of mismatches in the timing of the 
cash flows under both normal and stress circumstances. Such scenarios could occur when funding needed for illiquid asset 
positions is not available to the Bank on acceptable terms. To limit this risk, management has arranged for diversified funding 
sources mainly from Development Financial Institutions and adopted a policy of managing assets with liquidity in mind and 
monitoring future cash flows and liquidity daily.
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(C) Liquidity Risk (Continued)

Analysis of financial assets and liabilities by remaining contractual maturities

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the undiscounted cash flows of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities as 
at 31 December 2019:

Matured
Up to 6 
Months

6 - 12
Months 1 - 3 Years 3 - 5 Years 5 - 7 Years Over 7 Years Total

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000
Financial 
Assets
Balances with 
banks

50,030,943 - - - - - - 50,030,943

Loans and 
advances

99,091,543 16,974,074 17,642,881 58,140,419 47,955,097 67,126,994 50,422,123 (5,486,021)

Equity 
investments

- - - - - - 29,376,164 29,376,164

Other assets 
receivable

- 1,605,684 2,418,587 - - - - 4,024,271

Total 
undiscounted 
financial 
assets (A)

149,122,486 18,579,758 20,061,468 58,140,419 47,955,097 67,126,994 79,798,287 440,784,508

Financial 
Liabilities
Borrowings - 16,620,891 9,612,761 34,167,929 21,946,574 10,284,762 114,999,061 207,631,978
Special funds - - - - - - 8,556,307 8,556,307
Other 
payables

- 2,221,368 3,635,903 - - - - 5,857,271

Total 
undiscounted
financial 
Liabilities (B)

- 18,842,259 13,248,664 34,167,929 21,946,574 10,284,762 123,555,368 222,045,556

Net Liquidity
Surplus/(Gap) 
(A-B)

149,122,486 (262,501) 6,812,804 23,972,490 26,008,523 56,842,232 (43,757,081) 218,738,952

30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

The Bank has developed internal control processes and contingency plans for managing liquidity risk. This incorporates an 
assessment of expected cash flows and the availability of high-grade collateral which could be used to secure additional 
funding if required.

In accordance with the Bank’s policy, the liquidity position is assessed under a variety of scenarios, giving due consideration 
to stress factors relating to both the market in general and specifically to the Bank. Net liquid assets consist of cash, short–
term bank deposits and liquid debt securities available for immediate sale, less deposit for banks and other issued securities 
and borrowings due to mature within the next month.
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the undiscounted cash flows of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities as at 31 

December 2018:

Matured
Up to 6 
Months

6 - 12
Months 1 - 3 Years 3 - 5 Years 5 - 7 Years Over 7 Years Total

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000
Financial 
Assets
Balances with 
banks

34,371,851 - - - - - - 34,371,851

Loans and 
advances

2,808,307 5,684,589 5,712,206 27,752,041 31,730,545 39,533,089 211,812,150 325,032,927

Equity 
investments

- - - - - - 23,261,144 23,261,144

Other assets 
receivable

- 2,027,393 3,041,090 - - - - 5,068,483

Total 
undiscounted 
financial 
assets (A)

37,180,158 7,711,982 8,753,296 27,752,041 31,730,545 39,533,089 235,073,294 387,734,405

Financial 
Liabilities
Borrowings - 8,633,560 6,664,983 34,309,944 34,109,693 25,730,069 91,524,622 200,972,871
Special funds - - - - - - 6,690,087 6,690,087
Other 
payables

- 3,235,441 4,853,161 - - - - 8,088,602

Total 
undiscounted
financial 
Liabilities (B)

- 11,869,001 11,518,144 34,309,944 34,109,693 25,730,069 98,214,709 215,751,560

Net Liquidity
Surplus/(Gap) 
(A-B)

37,180,158 (4,157,019) (2,764,848) (6,557,903) (2,379,148) 13,803,020 136,858,585 171,982,845

(D)  Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market prices Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, which include currency exchange rates and interest rates 
other price risk, such as equity price risk, will affect the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument. Market risk 
arises from open positions in interest rates and foreign currencies, both of which are exposed to general and specific market 
movements and changes in the level of volatility. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market 
risk exposures within acceptable limits, while optimizing the return on risk. Overall responsibility for managing market risk rests 
with the Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO). The Treasury department is responsible for the development of detailed 
risk management policies (subject to review and approval by ALCO) and for the day to day implementation of those policies.

i. Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. The Bank manages its interest rate risk by having a balanced portfolio of fixed and variable rate loans 
and borrowings.

Interest margins may increase or decrease as a result of such changes in the event of upward or downward shift in interest 
rate structure.
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates.

The Bank manages its interest rate risk by having a balanced portfolio of fixed and variable rate loans and borrowings.
The following tables on the next pages summarize the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorized 
by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates as at 31 December:

i. Interest rate risk (Continued)
The table below summarizes the interest rate risk of the Bank as at 31 December 2019:

Matured
Up to 6 
Months

6 - 12
Months 1 - 3 Years 3 - 5 Years 5 - 7 Years Over 7 Years

Non-
interest 

bearing/
others*

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000
Financial 
Assets
Cash and 
Balances with 
National Bank 
of Rwanda

14,563,801 - - - - - - 14,563,801

Amount due 
from other 
Banks*

35,467,142 - - - - - - 35,467,142

Loans and 
advances

160,444,608 4,870,020 577,591 6,866,412 15,180,263 29,700,475 95,071,907 8,177,940

Investment 
in Equity & 
Associates

29,376,164 - - - - - - 29,376,164

Other Assets 4,024,271 - - - - - - 4,024,271

Total Financial 
Assets 243,875,986 4,870,020 577,591 6,866,412 15,180,263 29,700,475 95,071,907 91,609,318

Financial 
Liabilities
Borrowings 175,567,542 16,620,891 9,612,761 34,167,929 21,946,574 10,284,762 81,884,625 1,050,000
Special funds 8,556,307 - - - - - - 8,556,306
Other 
Liabilities

5,857,271 - - - - - - 5,857,271

Total Financial 
Liabilities

189,981,120 16,620,891 9,612,761 34,167,929 21,946,574 10,284,762 81,884,625 15,463,578

Interest 
sensitivity 
Gap at 31 
December 
2018

(53,894,866) (11,750,871) (9,035,170) (27,301,517) (6,766,311) 19,415,713 21,361,153 (76,145,740)

*Amounts due from banks includes interest-rewarding current accounts and so remain current accounts with no predetermined maturities.
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

i. Interest rate risk (Continued)

The table below summarizes the interest rate risk of the Bank as at 31 December 2018:

Carrying 
Amount

Up to 6 
Months

6 - 12
Months 1 - 3 Years 3 - 5 Years 5 - 7 Years Over 7 

Years
Non- interest 

bearing 
others*

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000
Financial 
Assets
Cash and 
Balances with 
National Bank 
of Rwanda

4,505,365 - - - - - - 4,505,365

Amount due 
from other 
Banks*

29,866,486 - - - - - - 29,866,486

Loans and 
advances

157,671,998 4,785,862 567,610 6,747,755 14,917,936 29,187,227 97,730,433 3,735,176

Investment 
in Equity and 
Associates

23,261,144 - - - - - - 23,261,144

Other Assets 5,068,483 - - - - - - 5,068,483

Total 
undiscounted 
financial 
assets (A)

220,373,476 4,785,862 567,610 6,747,755 14,917,936 29,187,227 97,730,432 66,436,654

Financial 
Liabilities
Borrowings 155,557,822 38,174,092 15,927,550 5,178,202 - 7,158,604 85,067,286 4,052,088
Special funds 6,690,087 - - - - - - 6,690,087
Other 
Liabilities

8,088,602 - - - - - - 8,088,602

Total Financial 
Liabilities

170,336,511 38,174,092 15,927,550 5,178,202 - 7,158,604 85,067,286 18,830,777

Interest 
sensitivity 
Gap at 31 
December 
2018

50,036,965 (33,388,230) (15,359,940) 1,569,553 14,917,936 22,028,623 12,663,146 47,605,877

* Amounts due from banks includes interest-rewarding current accounts and so remain current accounts with no predetermined maturities.

The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing liabilities as they mature, 
are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Bank and its exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange rates.
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(D) Market Risk (Continued)

i. Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity Analysis

At 31 December 2019, if the interest rate had decreased/increased by 100 basis points with all other variables held constant, 
pre-tax profit/loss for the year would have been Frw 61,593 million (2018: Frw 699 million) higher/lower, mainly as a result of 
the borrowings held at variable interest rates.

ii. Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The 
Bank does not actively engage in dealing and trading operations in currencies and so the Bank’s exposure to currency risk 
mainly involves the risk on the currency swap, foreign exchange losses or gains arising on the retranslation of monetary 
assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items denominated in foreign currency.

The table below summarizes the Bank’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at 31 December. Included in the table 
are the Bank’s financial instruments, categorized by currency:

As at 31 December 2019

Financial Assets
USD

Frw’ 000
EUR

Frw’ 000
GBP

Frw’ 000 TOTAL
Balances with banks 14,582,867 7,303,715 15,226 21,901,808

Derivative 13,083,765 - - 13,083,765

Loans and Advances 24,681,681 - - 24,681,681

Other Assets 2,271,135 - - 2,271,135

Total Financial Assets (A) 54,619,448 7,303,715 15,226 61,938,389

Financial Liabilities
Borrowings 118,846,055 - - 118,846,055

Special Funds - 461,698 - 461,698

Other payables - 2,161,734 - 2,069,846

Total Financial Liabilities (B) 118,846,055 2,623,432 - 121,469,487

Net On -Balance sheet Position (A-B) (64,226,607) 4,680,283 15,226 (59,53 1,098)
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30.  Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(D) Market Risk (Continued)

ii. Currency risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2018

Financial Assets
USD

Frw’ 000
EUR

Frw’ 000
GBP

Frw’ 000 TOTAL
Balances with banks 18,304,335 409,189 17,345 18,730,869

Derivative 13,171,705 - - 13,171,705

Loans and Advances 9,130,968 - - 9,130,968

Other Assets 2,116,901 - - 2,116,901

Total Financial Assets (A) 42,723,909 409,189 17,345 43,150,443

Financial Liabilities
Borrowings 102,804,701 - - 102,804,701

Special Funds - 404,346 - 404,346

Other payables 8,354 2,061,492 - 2,069,846

Total Financial Liabilities (B) 102,813,055 2,465,838 - 105,278,893

Net On -Balance sheet Position (A-B) (60,089,146) 2,056,648 17,345 (62,128,450)

Foreign Currency Swaps

The Bank enters into foreign currency swaps with other financial institutions for risk management purposes. This strategy 
stems from the fact that the bank, mainly, raises funding in foreign currency while the lending, in large sums, is made in the 
local currency (Frw).

Swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange streams of payments over time based on specified 
notional amounts, in relation to movements in a specified underlying index such as an interest rate, foreign currency rate 
or equity index. In a currency swap, the Bank pays a specified amount in one currency and receives a specified amount in 
another currency.

Currency swaps – initial amounts are recorded off – balance sheet at initial exchange of cash flows. These contracts are 
subsequently measured at fair value observing contractual fixed interest rates applicable on periodical exchanges of cash 
flows and the central bank’s ruling middle rate. The movements recorded in the year are reported in Note 18.
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

iii. Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity Analysis

At 31 December, if the Rwandese Franc had weakened/strengthened by (-)/+ 10% against the following foreign currencies, 
with all other variables held constant, the effect on pre-tax profit/loss would have been as follows:

Currency
% Change

in rate
Effect on 

Pre-Tax profit
Frw’ 000

% Change 
in rate

Effect on Pre-tax 
profit 2018 

Frw’ 000
USD (-)/+10% (-)/+6,422,661 (-)/+10% (-)/+ 7,326,085

EUR (-)/+10% (-)/+83,002 (-)/+10% (-)/+ 205,665

GBP (-)/+10% (-)/+15,23 (-)/+10% +/(-) 1,735

iv. Equity price risk
The Bank is exposed to equity price risk as a result of its investment in the shares of Bank of Kigali (BoK) Limited and shares in 
Crystal Telecom CTL) listed at the Rwanda Stock Exchange (RSE). At 31 December, a 10% movement in RSE share price index 
would have led to a decrease/increase in other comprehensive income (OCI)/Equity as follows:

Equity
% Change in 

RSE stock index
Effect on OCI/ 

Equity 2019
Frw’ 000

% Change in 
RSE stock index

Effect on OCI/ 
Equity 2018

Frw’ 000
BoK (-)/+10% (-)/+106,620 (-)/+10% (-)/+ 111,851

CTL (-)/+10% (-)/+189,119 (-)/+10% (-)/+ 143,190

(D) Fair Value Measurement
IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are observable 
or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the 
Bank's market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:

Level 1 – Fair value is determined using unadjusted quoted prices in an active market for identical assets and liabilities. Types 
of financial assets include: actively traded government and other agency securities, listed derivative instruments and listed 
equities. Types of financial liabilities include listed derivative instruments;

Level 2 – Fair value is determined using valuation models with directly or indirectly market observable inputs. Types of 
financial assets include: corporate and other government bonds and loans, and over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives. Types of 
financial liabilities include over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives;

Level 3 – Fair value is determined using Valuation models using significant non- market observable inputs. Types of financial 
assets include: highly structured OTC derivatives with unobservable parameters and corporate bonds in illiquid markets. 
Types of financial liabilities include highly structured OTC derivatives with unobservable parameters.

This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Bank considers relevant and observable market 
prices in its valuations where possible.
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(F) Fair Value of Financial Instruments (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019
Level 1

Frw’ 000
Level 2

Frw’ 000
Level 3

Frw’ 000
TOTAL

Frw’ 000
Property and Equipment 13,622,197 - - 13,622,197

Investments in Equity and Associates 2,957,391 - 26,418,773 29,376,164

Derivative financial instrument
through Profit or Loss

- 1,781,245 - 1,781,245

Total Financial Assets 16,579,588 1,781,245 26,418,773 44,779,606

As at 31 December 2018 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Property and Equipment 13,741,073 - - 13,741,073

Investments in Equity and Associates 2,550,406 - 20,710,738 23,261,144

Derivative financial instrument
through Profit or Loss

- 1,536,315 - 1,536,315

Total Financial Assets 16,291,479 1,536,315 20,710,738 38,538,532

Reconciliation of Level 3 Items:

Equity Investments 31-Dec-19 
Frw’ 000

31-Dec-19
Frw’ 000

At 1 January 2019 20,710,738 21,240,641

Additional investment (Note 18(a) and (b)) 6,657,930 1,422,368

Investments exited (Note 18(b)) - (35,250)

Fair value gain/(Loss) & share of loss of Associates 2,007,496 (1,917,021)

At 31 December 2019 29,376,164 20,710,738

At 31 December 2018 20,710,738 21,240,641

The management assessed the fair values of cash and short-term deposits, other assets, other payables, approximate their 
carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of equity investments were estimated using equity dividend yields. Equity dividend yields represent the future 
dividends and are usually expressed in annualised percentage terms. They are usually unobservable for less liquid instruments 
with little with historical data.

Quantitative analysis of significant unobservable inputs

Interest rate/equity price volatility:
Volatility measures the expected future variability of a market price. It is generally quoted as a percentage; a higher number 
represents a more volatile instrument, for which larger swings in price (or interest rate) are expected. Volatility varies per 
instrument and in time and therefore, it is not viable to make reliable and meaningful general statements about volatility levels.
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(F) Fair Value of Financial Instruments (Continued)

Discount margin/spreads:

Discount margin/spreads represent the discount rates used when calculating the present value of future cash flows. In 
discounted cash flow models such spreads are added to the benchmark rate when discounting the future expected cash 
flows. Hence, these spreads reduce the net present value of an asset or increase the value of a liability. They generally reflect 
the premium an investor expects to achieve over the benchmark interest rate to compensate for the higher risk driven by the 
uncertainty of the cash flows caused by the credit quality of the asset. They can be implied from market prices and are usually 
unobservable for illiquid or complex instruments.

Equity dividend yields:

Equity dividend yields represent the expected future dividends and are usually expressed in annualised percentage terms. 
They are usually unobservable for less liquid instruments with little historical data.

The table below shows the classification of Equity investments measured at fair value and cost. Valuation hierarchy set out 
below.

Valuation hierarchy 31 December 2019
Level 1

Frw’ 000
Level 2

Frw’ 000
Level 3

Frw’ 000
TOTAL

Frw’ 000
Financial assets-Equity investment FVOCI

Listed 2,957,391 - 2,957,391 2,957,391

Unlisted - 13,908,687 13,908,687 13,908,687

Investments in Associates

Listed - 12,510,086 - 12,510,086

Unlisted - - - -

Total Financial assets 2,957,391 26,418,773 16,866,078 29,376,164

Valuation hierarchy 31 December 2018

Level 1
Frw’ 000

Level 2
Frw’ 000

Level 3
Frw’ 000

TOTAL
Frw’ 000

Financial assets-Available for sale

Listed 2,550,406 - 2,550,406 2,550,406

Unlisted - 12,120,956 12,120,956 12,120,956

Investments in Associates

Listed - - - -

Unlisted - 8,589,782 8,589,782 8,589,782

Total Financial assets 2,550,406 20,710,738 23,261,144 23,261,144
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(G) Capital Management

The Bank’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept that the ‘equity’ on the face of the statement of 

financial position, are:

 Ҍ To comply with the capital requirements set under the Central Bank’s Regulation;

 Ҍ To safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue

 Ҍ to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

 Ҍ To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

The Bank’s regulator National Bank of Rwanda (BNR) sets and monitors capital requirements for the Bank as a whole.

In implementing current capital requirements, BNR, requires the Bank to maintain a prescribed ratio of total capital to total 

risk-weighted assets.

Tier 1 capital consists of shareholders’ equity comprising paid up share capital (issued and fully paid-up common share and 

irredeemable, non-cumulative preference shares), share premium, prior year retained profits, net current after tax profit to 

date (only 50%), general reserves less goodwill and other intangible assets, current years losses (if any), investments in 

unconsolidated financial subsidiaries, prohibited loans to insiders and deficiencies in provisions for losses. Tier 2 capital 

includes the Bank’s recognized revaluation reserve on fixed assets, and the subordinated debt not to exceed 50% of the 

Bank’s core capital subjected to discount factors. Tier 2 capital is limited to 100% of Tier 1 capital.

The table below summarizes the composition of the regulatory capital. The bank is supposed to comply, at all times, with a 

regulatory floor of 12.5% (Tier 1 Capital ratio) and 15% (Total Capital ratio):

Core Capital (Tier 1) 31-Dec-19 
Frw’ 000

31-Dec-18
Frw’ 000

Share capital 42,661,685 39,100,308

Share premium 11,665,569 11,665,569

Prior year retained profits/(losses) (13,046,138) (6,178,048)

Other reserves 5,522,557 (87,462)

Intangible assets (817,812) (864,803)

Current year profit/Loss (766,446) (3,265,566)

Other permitted adjustments 2,622,176 3,933,264

Core Capital 47,841,591 44,303,262

Supplementary Capital (Tier 2)
Revaluation reserve 2,727,937 2,727,937

Quasi capital – Supplementary equity capital < or = 100% of core capital 11,510,322 11,510,322

Other permitted adjustments 2,946,232 2,516,710

17,184,491 16,754,969
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30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(G) Capital Management

Total Capital (A) 65,026,082 61,085,231

Credit Risk Weighted assets 205,279,336 218,481,154

Operational Risk weighted assets 36,156,893 28,786,272

Market risk weighted assets 100,354,072 93,316,192

Total Risk Weighted assets (B) 341,790,301 340,583,618

Capital Adequacy: Tier 1 Capital Ratio 14.00% 13.01%

Capital Adequacy: Total Capital Ratio 19.03% 17.93%

The regulator, through implementation of BASEL II/III, issued a new law addressing capital requirements in 2018. The key 

change was addition of both market and operational risks in total risk weighted assets of the bank.

31. Commitments and contingencies

Off balance sheet items and contingencies

The Bank conducts business involving lending, performance bonds and indemnities. The following are the commitments and 

contingencies outstanding as at year-end.

Total Capital (A) Note 2019 
Frw’ 000

2018
Frw’ 000

Letters of credit (a) - 193,447

Un-disbursed loan commitments (b) 21,434,236 28,933,135

21,434,236 29,126,582

(a) Letters of credit

Letters of credit commit the Bank to make payments to suppliers of equipment to approved projects, on presentation of 

shipping documents.

(b) Un-disbursed loan commitments

Commitments to lend are agreements to lend to a customer in future subject to certain conditions. Such commitments are 

normally made for a fixed period.

(c) Litigations

The Bank is a litigant in several cases which arise from normal day to day banking activities. The directors and management 

believe the bank has strong grounds for success and are confident that they should get rulings in their favor in matters before 

court. In cases where the Bank may not be successful, directors and management are confident that such cases would not 

significantly impact the bank’s operations either individually or in aggregate. Management has also carried out an assessment 

of all the cases outstanding as at 31 December 2019 and did not find any that warranted a provision. This position is supported 

by independent professional legal advice.
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32. Related parties

The ultimate controlling party of the group is the Government of Rwanda, which owns 51% of the Bank's shares. 45% of 

the remaining shares are held by various government agencies and the rest of the shares are held widely. There are other 

companies which are related to the Group through common shareholdings or common directorships.

A number of banking and other transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. These 

include operation of current accounts, placement of deposits, foreign currency transactions and loans to Directors and other 

key management personnel of the Bank. Related-party transactions during the year, outstanding balances at the year-end, 

and relating expense and income recognised during the year are as follows:

(a) Loans and advances to related parties

2019 
Frw’ 000

2018
Frw’ 000

Loans and advances to senior managers 460,042 778,788

Loans and advances to companies owned by BRD shareholders 50,357,474 14,246,355

Core Capital 50,817,516 15,025,143

Loans and advances to senior managers were issued at interest rates ranging between 0% and 5% and are repaid as stipulated 

in the HR manual were all performing as at 31 December 2019 and as at 31 December 2018. The repayment is done through set 

off of salaries on a monthly basis. In line with IFRS 9, a provision of Frw 345,310 was made against the loans to senior managers 

during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Loans and advances to companies owned by BRD shareholders were issued at normal rates of the bank applicable to other 

non-related clients. These loans were all performing as at 31 December 2019 and as at 31 December 2018 and hence no 

provision was required, however, these are subjected to impairment assessment as other loans to non-related clients. In 

line with IFRS 9, a provision of Frw 1,013,490,781 was made against the Loans and advances to companies owned by BRD 

shareholders during the year ended 31 December 2019.

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties
2019 

Frw’ 000
2018

Frw’ 000
Kinazi Cassava Plant 32,626 -

Business Development Fund 69,671 666,504

Rugarama Park Estates ltd 64,731 62,694

BRD Education Fund 1,066,012 192,339

Core Capital 1,233,040 921,537

The transactions with Business Development Fund relates to guarantees provided in relation to loans and advances. The 
outstanding balances with Kinazi Cassava Plant Ltd arise mainly from amounts advanced to the entity. The outstanding 
balances with Rugarama Park Estates relate to mainly operational expenses of Rugarama Park met by BRD. The outstanding 
balances of BRD education relate to Management fees, operating expenses and salaries of Education Fund staff receivable 
from the Ministry of Education as per the Memorandum of understanding. The receivables are unsecured in nature and bear 
no interest and are short term.
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32. Related Parties (Continued)

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

The transactions with related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions. 

Outstanding balances at the year-end are unsecured and interest free and settlement occurs in cash. There have been no 

guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables.

 There were no commitments with related party as at year end.

(c) Key management compensation and directors’ remuneration
2019 

Frw’ 000
2018

Frw’ 000
Salaries and other employee benefits 816,889 945,911

Contributions to retirement schemes 122,534 64,633

939,423 1,010,544

Directors' remuneration

Fees and other expenses 108,697 110,542

33. Post period end events

If the Bank receives information after the reporting period but prior to the date of authorization for issue, all conditions that 

existed at the end of the reporting period, the Bank will assess if the information affects the amount that it recognizes in the 

financial statements. The Bank will adjust the amounts recognized in its financial statements to reflect any adjusting events 

after the reporting period and update the disclosures that relate to those conditions in the light of new information. For non-

adjusting events after the reporting period, the Bank will not change the amounts recognized in its consolidated financial 

statements but will disclose the nature of the non-adjusting event and an estimate of its financial effect, or a statement that 

such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.

Except as disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, there are no events after the reporting date that require disclosure 

in or adjustments to the financial statements as at the date of this report.

34.  Reorganization: Staff voluntary exits and redundancies

The Bank has approved its new strategic plan for 2018 – 2024 in year 2018. In February 2019, the Bank started the reorganization 

of its functions and later on, a review and reassessment of the competency framework required to deliver on the new 

strategic plan. In light of this, there were are expected staff exits through the schemes approved by the Board of Directors in 

September 2019 which are voluntary separations in accordance with approved jobs.

All the separation took place before the year end and all were through a voluntary scheme. All the payments were made 

before the year end.
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35. Subsequent event

The emergence and spread of the coronavirus in early 2020 have affected business and economic activity in China and 

elsewhere in the world. Banks should consider the accounting implications of these developments. This in brief addresses 

the accounting implications of the coronavirus for December 2019 year end in the context of IAS 10, Events after the reporting 

period. In our view, the development and spread of the virus subsequent to 31 December 2019 is a non-adjusting event.

IAS 10 defines an adjusting event as an event that provides evidence of conditions that existed at the reporting date. A non-

adjusting event indicates conditions that arose after the reporting date. The situation at 31 December 2019 was that a limited 

number of cases of an unknown virus had been reported to the World Health Organization. There was no explicit evidence of 

human-to-human transmission at that date. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

143ANNUAL REPORT   |   2019



Other Disclosures

Quantitative Disclosures

I. CAPITAL STRENGTH 2019 2018

1. Core capital (Tier 1) Frw' 000 47,841,591 44,303,262
2. Supplementary capital (Tier 2) Frw' 000 17,184,491 16,754,969
3. Total Capital Frw' 000 65,026,082 61,058,231
4. Total risk weighted assets Frw' 000 341,790,301 340,583,618
5. Core capital/total risk weighted assets (Tier 1 Ratio) % 14.04% 13.01%
6. Tier 2/total risk weighted assets (Tier 2 ratio) % 5.02% 4.92%
7. Total capital/total risk weighted assets (Total Capital 

ratio)
% 19.03% 17.93%

8. Leverage ratio % 2.64% 2.57%

II. CREDIT RISK
1. total gross credit risk exposures: after accounting offsets 

and without taking into account credit risk mitigation;
Frw' 000 167,287,216 177,622,764

2. average gross credit exposures, broken down by major 
types of credit exposure:
a). loans, commitments and other non-derivative 

off-balance sheet exposures;
Frw' 000 21,434,236 29,126,582

35. Subsequent event (Continued)

Quantitative Disclosures
2019 2018

b) debt securities; Frw' 000 - -
c) OTC derivatives Frw' 000 14,182,675 11,635,390

3. Regional or geographic distribution of exposures, broken 
down in significant areas by major types of credit expo-
sure;

Frw' 000

a). City of Kigali Frw' 000 98,799,256 114,593,668
b). Northern Province Frw' 000 1,676,119 3,577,697
c). Eastern Province Frw' 000 18,201,452 16,860,697
d). Western Province; Frw' 000 20,752,629 6,712,769
e). Southern Province. Frw' 000 21,058,122 15,927,167

4. Regional or geographic distribution of exposures, broken 
down in significant areas by major types of credit expo-
sure;

Frw' 000

a). Government; Frw' 000 45,578,853 11,226,609
b). Financial; Frw' 000 7,298,952 3,554,215
c). Manufacturing; Frw' 000 4,722,886 3,295,536
d). Infrastructure and construction; Frw' 000 72,716,378 78,738,409
e). Services and commerce. Frw' 000 10,835,439 13,866,084
f). Others Frw' 000 19,335,071 46,991,145
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5. Off-balance sheet items Frw' 000 21,434,236 29,126,582

6. Non-performing loans indicators

a). Non-performing loans (NPL) Frw' 000 14,186,145 39,865,544
b).  NPL ratio % 7.52% 19.34%

7. Related parties Frw' 000 - -
a). Loans to directors, shareholders and subsidiaries Frw' 000 50,357,474 46,556,440
b). Loan to employees Frw' 000 3,072,665 4,072,830

III. LIQUIDITY RISK
a). Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) % 705% 189%
b). Internal liquidity coverage ratio (1 year ahead) % 86% 96%
c). Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) % 208% 181%

IV. OPERATIONAL RISK

Number and types of frauds and their corresponding amount - -

V. MARKET RISK

1. Interest rate risk Frw' 000 - -
2. Equity position risk Frw' 000 - -
3. Foreign exchange risk Frw' 000 8,028,326 7,465,295

35. Subsequent event (Continued)

VI. OPERATIONAL RISK
1. Credit exposures abroad Frw' 000 - -
2. Other assets held abroad Frw' 000 - -
3. Liabilities to abroad Frw' 000 - -

VII. MANAGEMENT AND BOARD COMPOSITION

1. Number of Board members 6 9
2. Number of independent directors 3 5
3. Number of non-independent directors 3 4
4. Number of female directors 1 2
5. Number of male directors 5 7
6. Number of Senior Managers 9 8
7. Number of females senior managers 5 3
8. Number of males senior managers 4 5
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